Cibliothera Cindesinia PHILATEL STOT ON

Aranford 1508

# HAND CATALOGUE

OF

# POSTAGE STAMPS

FOR THE

USE OF COLLECTORS.

BY

JOHN EDWARD GRAY, PH. D.

F.R.S. F.L.S. F.Z.S. &c.

OF THE BRITISH MUSEUM.

SECOND EDITION-Revised and Enlarged.

# LONDON:

ROBERT HARDWICKE, 192, PICCADILLY. 1863.

# CONTENTS.

	P	age		1	Page
115.	America, United States	δI	40.	French Empire	19
117.	, Confederate States	53	39.		19
27.	Antigua	14	44.	French West Indies	20
128.	Argentine Confederation	57	51.	Geneva (Canton)	22
129.	Argentine Republic	57	52.	Geneva (Town)	22
	Austria (Tyrol and Lich-		122.		55
	tenstein)	31	30.	Grenada	15
81.	Baden	35	1.	Great Britain	1
82.	Baden, Land Post	36	58.	Greece	24
28.	Bahamas	15	96.	Hamburg	46
29.	Bahamas Islands	15		Hanover	42
22.	Barbados	13	90.	Hanover (Town)	43
55.	Basle (Town)	23	46.	Holland	21
79.	Bavaria	34	4.	Hong Kong	5
45.	Belgium	20	2.	India	4
97.	Bergedorf	46	11.	Ionian Islands	8
118.	Brazils	53	43.	Isle Bourbon	20
94.	Bremen	45	64.	Italy, Sardinia	27
95.	Bremen (Town)	45	26.	Jamaica	14
34.	British Columbia	16	54.	Lausane (Town)	23
21.	British Guiana	12	112.	Liberia	50
86.	Brunswick	40	77.	Lichtenstein	31
87.	Brunswick (Town)	40	93.	Lubeck	45
130.	Buenos Ayres	57	48.	Luxemburg	21
32.	Canada	15	63.	Luzon, Philippines	27
33.	Canada Packet Postage	16	61.	Madrid	26
6.	Cape of Good Hope	7	10.	Malta (Town)	8
3.		4	5.	Mauritius	6
	Chili	54	92.	Mecklenburg	44
	Columbia	56	18.		11
117.	Confederate States of			Mexico	54
	America	53		Modena	31
	Copenhagen	47	75.	Modena (Duchy)	31
62.	Cuba and Porto Rico	27	110.	Moldavia	49
	Danubian Principalities	50	131.	Monte-Video	58
98,	Denmark	46	66.	Naples, before 1861	28
	Dutch Guiana	21	67.		
	Finland	49		vernment, 1860	28
41.	French Colonies	20	65.	Naples, since 1861	28

#### CONTENTS.

	1	Page	1	3	Page
7.	Natal	7	68.	Sicily, until 1861	29
50.	Neuchatel (Town)	22	9.	Sierra Leone	8
31.	Nevis	15		South Australia	10
	New Brunswick	17		South Germany (Thurn	
	New Caledonia	20	1	und Taxis)	36
	New Granada	56	60.	Spain	25
12.	New South Wales	8	70.	States of the Church	29
	New York	52	100.	St. Croix	47
	New Zealand	12		St. Helena	7
	Nicaragua	57	104.	Stockholm	48
84.	North Germany (Thurn		37.	St. John's, Newfoundland	17
	und Taxis)	37		St. Lucia	14
102.	Norway	47	106.		48
	Nova Scotia	16	100.	St. Thomas and St. Croix	47
88.	Oldenburg	41	24.	St. Vincent	14
126.	Paraguay	56	103.	Sweden	47
72.	Parma (Dukedom)	30	49.	Switzerland	21
74.	Parma, Provisional Go-		13.	Sydney	9
	vernment	31	83.	Thurn und Taxis	36
73.	Parma (Town)	31	23,	Trinidad	13
121.	Peru	54		Tuscany, until 1861	29
	Philippines	27	77.	Tyrol	31
	Poland	48	115.	United States of N.	
	Porto Rico	27		America	51
	Portugal	24		Van Diemen's Land	12
	Prince Edward's Island	18		Venezuela	56
	Prussia	38	78.	Venice and Lombardy,	
16.	Queensland	10		until 1859	33
71.	Romagne, Provisional			Victoria	10
	Government	30		Warsaw	49
	Russia	48		Western Australia	10
	Sandwich Islands	50	53.	Winterthur (Town)	23
114.	Sandwich Islands and		80.	Wurtemburg	34
	United States	50		Zurich (Canton)	23
	Saxony	43	57.	Zurich (Town)	23
101.	Schleswig Holstein	47			

# INTRODUCTION.

THE collecting of Postage Stamps is a fashion not confined to this country, or to a single class; for collections are frequently to be seen in the drawing-room of the luxurious, in the study of the

enlightened, and the locker of the schoolboy.

The fashion has been ridiculed, as all fashions will be; but if postage stamps are properly studied, collected, and arranged, there is no reason why they may not be quite as instructive and entertaining as the collection of birds, butterflies, shells, books, engravings,

coins, or other objects.

The use and charm of collecting any kind of object is to educate the mind and the eye to careful observation, accurate comparison, and just reasoning on the differences and likenesses which they present, and to interest the collector in the design or art shown in their creation or manufacture, and the history of the country which produces or uses the objects collected. stamps afford good objects for all these branches of study, as they are sufficiently different to present broad outlines for their classification; and yet some of the variations are so slight that they require minute examination and comparison to prevent them from being overlooked; and the fact of obtaining stamps from so many countries suggests to ask what were the circumstances that induced their adoption, the history of the countries which issue them, and the understanding wby some countries have considered it necessary, in so few years as have passed since they first came into use, to make so many changes in the form or design of the stamp used, while other countries, like Holland, have never made the slightest change.

The changes referred to all mark some historical event of importance; such as the accession of a new king, a change in the form of government, or the absorption of a smaller state into some larger one, a change in the currency, or some other revolution. Hence a collection of postage stamps may be considered, like a collection of coins, an epitome of the history of Europe and America for the last quarter of a century; and at the same time, as they exhibit much variation in design and in execution, as a collection of works of art on a small scale, showing the style of art of the countries that issue them; while the size of the collection, and the manner in which they are arranged and kept, will show the industry, judgment, neatness, and taste of the collector, who should always

bear in mind that every accessory that is showy and bright takes away from the appearance and interest of the stamps themselves.

The full use of the stamps in teaching geography and history can only be obtained when they are arranged in systematic and chronological order. This has unfortunately not been seen by many compilers of catalogues and collectors, who place their stamps of the different countries alphabetically, thus separating the stamps of neighbouring countries of the same royal house, of the same language, or kind of money, into different parts of their collection. Many of these compilers and collectors have not been consistent with themselves, and arranged their collections partly geographically and partly alphabetically: this is even less instructive and more difficult to consult, as it is not easy to recollect how the stamps follow each other.

I began to collect postage stamps shortly after the system was established and before it had become a rage, as I took a great interest in their use and extension; as I believe I was the first who proposed, in 1834, the system of a small uniform rate of postage to be prepaid by stamps, having satisfied my own mind that the great cost of the Post Office was not the reception, carriage, and delivery of the letters, but the complicated system of accounts that the old system required; and having learned from the best writers on political economy that the collection of money by stamps was the most certain and economical. It was, in fact, the mere application of the system used with regard to newspapers to letters in general.

I found, after considerable trouble, that there was little, or, indeed, I may say no chance of getting attention to the plans suggested, without I could devote the whole of my time and energy to the agitation and development of it, which was not consistent with my position in the British Museum,—an institution to which I had

from a youth devoted my energies.

Fortunately Mr. (now Sir) Rowland Hill, who had leisure at his command by the dissolution of the South Australian Company, in 1837, published several pamphlets on a similar plan, and with the assistance of Mr. G. Moffatt, Mr. Henry Cole, Mr. Dillon, and sundry merchants and members of Parliament, whom they succeeded in interesting in the question, they carried the measure after very great exertion; and it has been a very great success, not only in a financial point of view, but also in what I considered a more important one, in spreading education and domestic intercourse among the people at large, and thereby increasing the happiness and well-being of the community.

Large as is the balance carried to the Revenue from the Post Office, the system proposed by me, and that propounded by Mr. Rowland Hill in his pamphlet, and which he and the other advocates of the change recommended before the Parliamentary

and other Committees, have never been completely carried out; consequently a large staff of clerks and other officials is still retained at the Post Office, at a large expense, to keep the complicated accounts that a few unpaid letters require, which, if the

system were fully carried out, would not be necessary.

I am aware that the prepayment of all letters by stamp is very difficult, if not impossible, to be carried out; but this is not necessary. There is no necessity for any account of unpaid letters to be kept, except in cases where the official suspects some unfair play; otherwise it might be left for the postmaster, through whose hands the unstamped letter last passes, to place the requisite stamps upon it, and to collect the cost of those stamps from the person to whom the letter is directed. This he is likely to do with care, as each postmaster is allowed a commission on all the stamps he sells; and to prevent, as much as possible, the sending of letters that would require this treatment, the system of paying double postage, or even a higher fine, should be enforced on all letters not paid for in stamps before they are despatched. It is said that the postmaster may lose, as many of the letters on which he has placed stamps may be refused. If so, they would be returned to the Dead-letter Office, and his stamps allowed for; but this will not be often requisite, as the Post Office can now enforce the payment against the sender if it be refused by the person to whom the letter is directed.

The postage prepaid by stamps has been adopted, as this list will prove, by many other countries, and has been extended into other branches of the Government and the law courts. It is also used in the electric telegraph companies, and in several errand and carrier

companies in Europe and America.

Oddly enough, some collectors place the stamps used by the Hamburg and American private carrier companies with their postage stamps. This catalogue is confined to stamps issued by government post-offices; for if those used by private establishments were

to be included, it would be difficult to define the limit.\*

While the subject was under discussion, an envelope was proposed surrounded by an engine-turned border, with the value and the weight it would carry marked in the corner; and during the discussion in Parliament various stamped covers were circulated by the advocates of the plan, to show the kind of envelope and stamp which they proposed should be used. They are now rare, and only to be seen in the albums of the wives and children of the members of the committee who preserved them.

In 1840, when the new system was established, two printed envelopes were issued bearing a design by Mulready, the Royal Academician, "with the hopes of spreading the taste for high art;"

<sup>\*</sup> See A. Trollope's "North America," vol. ii., p. 367.

but they called forth such an outburst of ridicule, and such a number of caricatures, that they were soon disused; and then the engraved profile of the Queen was adopted as an adhesive stamp for affixing on letters, and after some time an embossed profile of the Queen was issued, stamped on paper as an envelope.

When the first adhesive stamps were issued they were printed in black ink; but it was found difficult to properly obliterate them either with black or red ink, and they were afterwards issued printed in different coloured ink, so that they can all be obliterated

with the same black hand or machine stamp.

Some of the colonies commenced with manufacturing their own stamps, and used emblematic designs, as "Hope reclining," for the Cape of Good Hope; a "Swan," for Swan River; the "Queen on her Throne," for Victoria; but by degrees they have generally adopted a simple profile of the Queen, like the English; and the stamps now used in the colonies, and indeed in many parts of the world, are not only designed and engraved, but also printed or embossed, in England. Many of these are executed by Messrs. De la Rue & Co., of Bunhill Row, who call themselves, in the Directory, "Envelope Makers and Manufacturers of Government and Colonial Adhesive Stamps;" and Perkins, Bacon, & Co., in Fleet Street, "Bond and Bank Note Engravers." They are printed in these establishments under the supervision of an officer of the Inland Revenue department, or an inspector appointed by the Colonial governments.

The majority of foreign governments, as they have adopted the system, have also adopted the profile or portrait of their sovereign for the stamp. Other governments use the arms of the state or

sovereign for the purpose.

Some states, which began by merely using a number surrounded by a more or less complicated frame as a stamp, have gradually

adopted the royal portrait.

In England, the manner in which the stamps have been obliterated has undergone many changes; now they are obliterated by a block, which, by the form of the internal disk, and the number in it, marks the postal district in which it was originally stamped. Each Continental state obliterates in its own manner; several have undergone considerable change during the time the stamps have been in use. In France they not only obliterate with a hand-stamp, but the stamp used has acute prominences on it, so as to perforate the stamp when they obliterate it. The study of the means employed for this simple purpose affords an interesting object of contemplation.

In some of the outlying offices in India, Ceylon, &c., the stamp is obliterated by the sender with a pen and ink before the letter is

despatched.

In most countries the adhesive stamp and the envelope stamp are

different,—the one being printed from a surface, and the other embossed; this is even the case in Prussia, where the design of the two stamps are the same; but, lately, Austria has issued the same embossed design both as a denticulated adhesive stamp and as an envelope. In a few localities the envelopes are only stamped with

a simple hand-stamp.

In England the Stamp Office will place an embossed stamp on any paper that is sent to them for that purpose. So that the embossed stamps are circulated in very different forms and kinds of paper. They also permit embossed rings with the name of a firm, as Smith, Elder, & Co., and others, to be printed at the same time and in the same manner as the stamp; and stamps so circulated have been regarded as distinct kinds of stamps, when in fact they are only means of advertisement used by certain private firms.

The first English adhesive stamps were printed with black ink, and obliterated first with black and then with red ink. This was found inconvenient, and since then they have been printed with red

and blue inks, and obliterated with black.

Some few stamps, as the old 4 anna stamp of India, the "too late" and "registered" stamps of South Australia, the stamps of some of the Swiss Cantous, and some of the more modern embossed stamps of the United States, are printed in inks of two colours.

The Russian and Polish adhesive stamps are printed in three colours. They are the most beautiful stamps that have yet been

issued.

Some of the German States issued their first stamps printed in black ink on different coloured papers; but they have, one after another, given up the practice, and now issue the stamps printed with different coloured inks on white paper. Some of them, as Hanover, print the stamps with black ink, or, rarely, coloured ink, on white paper, and then cover the whole stamp with a coloured network.

The different German States seem to have changed the colour of the paper or the ink with which they printed the stamps at different times very capriciously, hence the same stamp occurs of very different colours. They are said to have adopted a uniform colour

for stamps of the same value, thus :-

4 pfennige, or 1 silbr. gr., or 1 kr. Green. 6 pfennige, or 1 silbr. gr. Orange. 1 silbr. gr., or 3 kr. Red, 2 silbr. gr., or 6 kr. Blue. 3 silbr. gr., or 9 kr. Brown.

The dies, before they are used, are often proved, by regulation of the Stamp Office, with a different coloured ink from that under which they are legally issued; some of these proofs have got into collections: they are called *essai* in the French catalogue; translated by some—*essays!* 

The Australian Colonies sometimes send out the same stamps of

different shades of colour.

For these reasons, I have not considered any change in the colour of the stamp as a different stamp; for it is certainly the same, whether it is on green or white paper, or printed in black, red, or

green ink.

Formerly, some of these stamps were printed from copper-plates; but now, almost all the stamps are printed from wooden or metal blocks; the metal blocks being all struck from a single die, and then placed in a frame containing a certain number of stamps; the blocks are inked with rollers like letter-press printing, which is far more economical, both in labour and time. The die of the embossed stamps is inked on the surface; hence it is the sunken part that is coloured, while the raised part is the original colour of the paper. This fact has not been sufficiently observed, for some stamps, which differed in this respect, have been regarded as belonging to the same type.

In England, the adhesive stamps are printed on paper with a peculiar water-mark, different in the various stamps; and the envelopes issued by the English Stamp Office are all printed on a peculiar paper. Formerly there were three lines of coloured silk inserted in the paper, so as to form a line across the stamp; and several foreign governments adopted the same plan. It has now been disused in England and Germany; but in the latter they print in small letters, the value of the envelope, in three lines, over the stamp, thus: Post couvert, Drei groschen; Ein groschen, Post

couvert.

In Russia, the envelopes are embossed on paper prepared for the purpose, with the Russian spread-eagle for a water-mark, with different patterns according to the value.

In England, the regulation is that the stamp should be placed on

the upper right-hand corner of the letter or envelope.

In Saxony, Hanover, Baden, Brunswick, and Austria the stamp was formerly placed on the left-hand side of the envelope; now, they are usually placed, as in England, on the upper right-hand corner. In some lists and collections these are considered different stamps.

In Russia, the stamps of the envelopes are placed on the flap of the envelope; and in the Brazils, the stamps are used as a seal; this causes them sometimes to be overlooked by the English Post Office.

Most of the English colonies have the name of country that issues them marked on the stamp. Several foreign countries have adopted the same plan, but, as they are often in a foreign tongue, it is necessary to translate the names into the English one used in this catalogue, thus:—

Bayern, Bavaria.

Braunschweig, Brunswick.

IONIKON KPATOΣ, Ionian Islands. Sachsen, Saxony.

EAA, Greece. Estensi, Modena.

Mejico, Mexico. Modenensi, Modena.

Neapolitana, Naples.

Nov. Camb. Aust., New South Wales. Warsjawska, Warsaw.

Norge, Norway.

Preussen, Prussia.
Parmensi, Parma.
Sachsen, Saxony.
S. P. B., St. Petersburg.
Sicilia, Sicily.
Sverige, Sweden.
Toscano, Tuscany.
U. S., United States.

The name of the coin marked on stamps is interesting, and may lead, in cases where the name is not marked on them, to the discovery of their origin.

Anna. - India.

Bai or Baj, or Bajocco and Bajocchi.—Rome and Romagna.

C. Ct., Cent. or Cents.—United States, Confederate States, Liberia, Sandwich Islands, British Guiana, Canada, New Brunswick, and Nova Scotia.

Centavos.—Chili, New Granada, Venezuela, Nicaragua, and Argentine Confederation.

Ct., Centimes (Cents). -France and her colonies, Belgium, Holland, Dutch Guiana, Luxembourg, Switzerland, Swiss Towns, St. Thomas, and St. Croix.

Ct., Centessime (Cents).—Italy, Parma, Modena, Lombardy and Venice,

Monte Video, and Tuscany.

Crazie.-Tuscany.

Cuartos.-Spain, Cuba, and Luzon.

Dinero.—Peru.

F. France, Franc.—Switzerland. Gr., Grana.—Naples and Sicily.

Groschen.-Oldenburg and Hanover.

Grote.-Bremen,

Guten Groschen .- Brunswick and Hanover.

Kopec .- Russia, Poland, and Finland.

Kr., Kreuzer. — Austria, Bavaria, Wurtemburg, Baden, and South Germany (Thurn und Taxis).

Lepton. - Greece.

Lira .- Italy.

Neu Groschen .- Saxony.

Ore.—Sweden and Stockholm.

Para.—Moldavia and Danubian Principalities.

Peseta .- Peru.

Peso .- Peru and Buenos Ayres.

Penny and Pence.-England and British Colonies.

Pfennig, Pfennige.—Brunswick, Saxony, Prussia, and Hanover.

Rapp., Rappen.—Switzerland.

Reale.-Spain, Mexico, Venezuela, and Buenos Ayres.

Real Plata .- Cuba and Porto Rico.

Reis. - Portugal and Brazil.

Shilling. - Great Britain and British Colonies.

Sch., Schillinge.—Mecklenburg, Lubeck, Hamburg, and Schleswig Holstein.

Silb. Gr., Silbergroschen.—Luxembourg, North Germany (Thurn und Taxis), Brunswick, Oldenburg, and Bremen.

Sk., Skilling.—Denmark, Norway, and Sweden.

Soldi.-Lombardy and Venice.

Scudo.-Rome.

Thaler .- Oldenburg and Hanover.

Tornesi.-Naples.

The following table of the words, arms, or emblems that are on different stamps may also be useful in cases where the name of the place is not marked.

Those which are ornamented a Portrait of the Sovereign are marked

thus:--

Certdo.—Spain.
Correo interior.—Spain, Philippines.
Correos.—Portugal.
Correos.—Spain, Cuba, Philippines.
Franco-Marke.—Bremen.
Freimarke.—Prussia.
Frimarke.—Sweden, Denmark, Norway.
K. G. L. Post F. R. M.—Denmark.
K. K. Post-Stempel.—Austria, Venice.
Posto bollo.—Italy, Naples.
Postage.—Great-Britain and Colonies.
Postes.—France, Belgium, Luxemburg.
Post-Marke.—Lübeck, Hamburg, Bergedorf.
Post Zegel.—Holland and Dutch Guiana.
S. H. Post.—Schleswig-Holstein.

Stadtpost amt.—Bremen.

Others are marked with emblens or arms, as:—

Bear.—Madrid.
Bull-head.—Moldavia, Danubian Principalities.
Cornucopia.—Peru.
Cross, in 5-sided shield.—Switzerland.
—, in oblong shield.—Neuchatel.
—, in circular shield.—Lausanne, Winterthur.
Crown in wreath.—Dutch Guiana.
Eagle, one-headed.—Modena.
—, double-headed.—Austria, Venice.
—, and post-horns.—Russia, Poland, St. Petersburg.
—, and bull-head.—Danubian Principalities.
—, without crown.—Schleswig-Holstein.

Golden Fleece Collar.—Spain.

Horse running.—Brunswick.

prancing.—Hanover.

Key.—Lübeck.

Keys crossed.—States of the Church. Mercury, profile of.—Austria, Greece.

Llama.-Peru.

Lion rampant.-Norway, Finland.

Lion couching.—Sweden.

Lion and Tower, in shield .- Spain.

Lions, three, with stag's horns.-Wurtemberg.

Post horn and Trefoil.-Hanover.

Post-horn under Eagle. - Russia, Poland.

Post-horn and Bull-head.—Moldavia and Danubian Principalities.

Sceptre and Sword.—Denmark,

Stag's horns, three, with Lions .- Wurtemberg.

Sword and Sceptre.—Denmark.

Tiara and Keys.—States of the Church.

Trefoil and Postharn,-Hanover town.

This list is confined to the postage stamps which are issued by the different governments.

I have therefore excluded the stamps issued by different private persons or companies who carry letters or parcels, or electric telegraph messages, and which have found it convenient to issue stamps. They are no more postage stamps than the stamps issued by the

Inland Revenue Office for fiscal purposes.

There will not be found in it the stamps issued by Hamer's Hamburg Boten, the Pacific Steam Navigation Company, or the different City expresses; or errand and carrier offices of the United States, which have often been regarded as postage stamps, and entered as such in the lists published by different persons. They would doubtless form an interesting collection by themselves, showing how convenient the collecting of revenue by stamps has been found.

The desire which some persons have to show stamps that are not in other collections has induced the dealers to produce pretended stamps, which have no real existence; as, for example, a French stamp with the portrait of the Republic, inscribed, Essai, 1858, which is after the "Empire" was established; or Turkish stamps, inscribed 6 Truze and 3 Mara, the Turkish Government not having as yet issued any stamps. Some collectors show Chinese stamps, which are only the impression of the seal of the mandarin who sent the letter. In the same manner, and for the same purpose, the colours of some stamps are artificially changed by soaking in water or some chemical fluid, or the stamps are covered over with a wash of colour, or the paper on which they are printed is stained. Some

of the stamps that were issued by the Provisional Government that followed the outbreak in Europe of 1848 have been withdrawn from circulation, and become rare, and therefore sell at a large price; this has induced some French dealers in them to have them imitated or forged. They are known from the real stamps, as they are lithograph, while the originals were block-printed.

The postage stamps are extensively used in this country as a species of paper money. To facilitate this use, the post-offices throughout this country have lately been directed to receive postage stamps, at a small discount, from any one that may present them in

a clean state and more than two united together.

During the terrible Civil conflict in the late "United States" they form almost the only currency of small value in circulation; and the Government issued them without being gummed for the purpose of their being so used, as it was found that the gummed stamps were apt to adhere together when carried and handled. They have lately is sued postage stamps printed on larger paper, with long directions, under the title of Postage Currency, for 5 and 10 cents. "Act approved, July 17, 1862."

After the English name of the country or place where the stamp is issued, follows the foreign name of the place, or title of the king, or other inscription that may be on the stamps of that locality. In the description of the individual stamps, the lettering which is on the stamps is printed in *italic*. The list is arranged geographically, commencing with those of Great Britain and her colonies, and each

country in succession, with its colonies or dependencies.

Now ready. New and Revised Edition. Second Thousand.

STAFFORD SMITH'S DESCRIPTIVE PRICE CATALOGUE of many hundred varieties of British, Colonial, and Foreign POSTAGE STAMPS. Illustrated with fac-simile engravings of rare stamps. Price 4d., post free 5d.

#### H. STAFFORD SMITH,

Foreign Stamp and Crest Depôt, Bath.

# HAND CATALOGUE

OF

# POSTAGE STAMPS.

#### I.-GREAT BRITAIN.

# A. Engraved Oblong Erect Adhesive Stamps.

- Profile of Queen, in oblong frame, with letters in the lower corners. One penny, black, red; twopence, blue.
- 2. Like I, with V. R. in upper corners. One penny, black.
- 3. Like 1, with a white line above and below. Twopence, blue.
- 4. Like 3, with letters in the four corners. Twopence, blue.
- 5. Profile, in triangle, with rounded sides. Threehalfpence, red.
- 6. Profile, in trifoliate frame, angles pale. Threepence, rose.
- 6\*. Like 6, with angles lined. Threepence, rose (trial stamp).
- 7. Profile, in circle, labels arched. Fourpence, rose.
- 8. Like 7, with small letters in the four corners. Fourpence, crimson.
- 9. Profile, in circle, labels straight. Sixpence, lilac.
- 10. Like 9, with the circle waved. Ninepence, stone.
- 11. Profile, in oval. One shilling, green.

### B. Embossed Stamps for Envelopes.

- 13. Profile, in oval embossed frame, value above. One penny, rose, chocolate.
- 14. Like 13, frame dated. One penny, rose.

- 15. Like 13, but value below. Twopence, blue.
- 15\* Like 15, but dated. Twopence, blue.
- 16. Profile, in embossed triangular frame. Threehalfpence, rose.
- 17. Profile, in embossed subtrifoliate frame. Threepence, red.
- Profile and inscription, in embossed circle. Fourpence, red.
- 19. Profile, in embossed octagonal frame, with curved and straight sides. Sixpence, chocolate.
- 20. Like 19, but dated. Sixpence, lilac.
- 21. Like 18, frame with straight sides. Tenpence, red-brown.
- 22. Like 21, but dated. Sixpence, red-brown.
- 23. Like 21, but pattern of frame rather different. One shilling, green.
- 24. Like 23, but dated. One shilling, green.

# C. Letterpress and Woodcut Envelope no longer used.

- 25. Designed by W. Mulready, R.A., with letterpress directions on sides. Postage One Penny, black ink; postage Twopence, blue ink.
- 25 Like 25, without directions, in rhombic frame for envelope. One Penny, black; twopence, blue.

# D. Stamps and Envelopes suggested, but not used.

- 26. Envelope, with engine-turned border. With V. R. and Crown, and not to exceed one ounce. One penny, in corners leaving a circular centre, buff. Folded in two forms.
- 27. Engine-turned pattern. Post-office cover, with oblong centre, V. R. and Crown, and London district post, to carry not exceeding six ounces. Two pence, green. Both suggested by Mr. Dickenson, 1837.
- 28. Embossed stamp for envelope. Profile of Queen in embossed white-lined oval frame, with flower below,

in a second frame, inscribed Postage One Penny,

- half oz., rose; postage Twopence, one oz., blue. 1838. 29. Engraved adhesive stamp. Number in oval, inscribed, Post-office, with a second oval frame, inscribed. One Penny, half oz., red and blue, or red and green ink. 1841.
- 29\* Embossed profile of Victoria, to left, enclosed in a double engine-turned embossed frame, with Paid in the upper part of the outer frame, rose.
- 29\*\* 1 ounce 1 D. on a small red circular disk, in oval black disk, surrounded by three close concentric engineturned frames, the middle one inscribed in pale letters, Post-office Permit above, and To carry matter not exceeding in weight below. All inclosed in a square engine-turned frame. Printed in black ink on white paper, with red unequal blotches across the oval frames.

### E. Newspaper Postage Stamps for Circulation in Great Britain.

- 30. Printed rose, shamrock, and thistle, on a folded mantle, with Dieu et mon Droit on a label below, with one on label in the upper, and penny in the lower, edge. Newspaper on right, and name of the paper, as Spectator or Athenœum, on the left side, red ink.
- 30\* Crown, with One Penny beneath, and wreath on each side, in oblong frame, with outer broader side frame inscribed. The Times Newspaper on sides, black ink.
- 30\*\* Like 3\*, but One half-penny and Supplement on right side, black.
- 30\*\*\* Crown, with rose, shamrock, and thistle, and wreath on each side, in half oblong transverse inscribed frame. With Times Newspaper above, and Threehalfpence below, black.

# F. Satirical Envelopes produced by, No. 25.

- 31. Fores's comic envelope. By J. Leech. No. 1. 1840.
- 32. Rejected designs for the postage envelope. No. 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6. 1840.
- 33. J. Leech's Paul Pry envelope. Engraved by W. J. Linton, with Sir James Graham as Britannia.

#### II.-INDIA.

# A. Engraved Adhesive Stamp, Old Series.

- Square blue profile of Queen, in red circle in octagon.
   4 annas, red.
- Oblong erect profile of Queen, in oblong frame. India, above. ½ anna, blue; 1 anna, red; 2 annas, green.

# B. Engraved Adhesive Stamp, New Series.

3. Profile of Queen, in oval inscribed frame, in oblong. East India Postage above. ½ anna, blue; 1 anna, brown; 2 annas, pink, orange; 4 annas, black; 8 annas, rose, on blue or white paper.

# C. Engraved Adhesive Newspaper Stamp.

4. Like 3, in oval, in eight-sided frame, inscribed East India Postage. Eight pies, lilac.

# D. Embossed Envelope Stamp.

5. Profile of Queen to left, in circular embossed frame, with *India Postage* above. Half anna, blue; one anna, chocolate.

#### III.-CEYLON.

# A. Engraved Adhesive Stamps, Oblong, Erect.

1. Profile of Queen, in oval disk, in oblong. Ceylon above. One penny, blue; twopence, green; fivepence, brown; sixpence, chocolate, violet, brown.

- 2. Like 1, with number (10) in four corners. Tenpence, orange red.
- 3. Like 1 and 2, with number (1) in upper corners. One shilling, lilac.
- 4. Like 1, in octagonal disk, in octagonal frame. Fourpence, red; eightpence, brown; ninepence, brown, carmine; one shilling and ninepence, brown; two shillings, blue.

# B. Engraved Adhesive Newspaper Stamp.

5. Profile of Queen, in circle, in oblong. Ceylon above. One halfpenny, lilac.

# C. Embossed Stamps for Envelopes.

- 6. Embossed profile of Queen, with embossed name in circular frame. Sixpence, chocolate; one shilling, yellow.
- 7. Like 6, but in oval smooth-edged frame. One penny, blue; twopence, green.
- 8. Like 7, but outer edges of frame sinuous. Fourpence, rose; fivepence, red-brown.
- 9. Like 8, but oval, in square frame. Ninepence, chocolate; one shilling and ninepence, green.
- 10. Like 7, but disk and frame eight-sided. Eightpence, dark brown.
- Like 10, but disk oblong, with straight sides and rounded ends. Two shillings, blue.

### IV.—HONG-KONG.

 Engraved profile of the Queen to left, in an oblong erect lined disk, with a white frame, with a square dark pattern at each angle, and inscribed—Hong-Kong in upper, value in lower, and some Chinese characters on the sides. Two cents, 8, 12, 18, 24, 48, 96 cents-1862.

#### V.-MAURITIUS.

# A. Engraved Adhesive Stamps.

- 1. Profile of Queen with diadem to left, in oblong frame, inscribed, in pale small letters—Postage in upper, and Post Paid, Mauritius, on sides, with a cross and a star at alternate angles, shading of disk in slanting lines only. One penny, red; twopence, blue.
- 2. Like 1, but the letters rather larger, the whole stamp better executed, shading in perpendicular lines only. *Twopence*, blue.
- 3. Like 2, but shading in slanting and perpendicular lines.

  One penny, yellow, red; twopence, blue.
- 3\* Like 3, but shading in perpendicular, slanting, and horizontal lines. Twopence, blue.
- Profile of Queen with crown to left, in oblong frame, with Mauritius on upper edge. One penny, red; twopence, blue.
- 5. Profile of Queen to left, in Greek patterned oblong erect frame. One penny, red; twopence, blue.
- 6. Britannia sitting, in oblong frame, with Mauritius on lower edge. Blue, red, violet, and green.
- 7. Like 6, with *Mauritius* on upper edges. Sixpence, blue, purple; one shilling, red, green, brown.
- 8. Profile of the Queen in circle, in oval in oblong frame.

  One penny, brown; twopence, blue; fourpence, rose;

  sixpence, green; ninepence, lilac; one shilling, pale
  brown.

#### C. Embossed Envelope Stamps.

- 9. Profile of Queen, in eight-sided disk, in circular frame, inscribed with *Mauritius*, *Postage* and *Sixpence*, in embossed letters, in upper and lower parts, and with a rose on each side, chocolate.
- 10. Profile of Queen in five-sided shield, in a broad frame,

with nine unequal sides, inscribed with *Mauritius* and *Postage*, in embossed letters and labels, and *Ninepence* on sides, in sunken letters, chocolate.

#### VI.—CAPE OF GOOD HOPE.

- 1. Block printed figure of Hope reclining, on uniform ground, in triangular inscribed frame. One penny, red; fourpence, blue; sixpence, lilac.
- 2. Like 1, but engraved, with lined ground. One penny, red; fourpence, blue; sixpence, lilac; one shilling, green, all on white bluish paper.

#### VII.-NATAL.

# A. Engraved Adhesive Stamps.

1. Engraved portrait of Queen in oval in oblong erect frame. One penny, red; threepence, blue; sixpence, lilac.

# B. Embossed Coloured Paper Stamps for Newspapers.

- 2. Embossed crown and Natal below, in oblong erect frame, with One in upper, penny in lower margin, buff paper; one penny, blue, pink, yellow paper.
- 3. Embossed crown and Natal above, and V. R. on each side, with value on oval disk below. Three-pence, reddish.
- 4. Like 3, with value, Sixpence, green, on surface of paper, without frame, green.
- 5. Like 3, with value, Ninepence, with laurel wreath on each side, blue.
- 6. Like 3, one shilling, drab.

# VIII.-ST. HELENA.

1. Engraved profile of Queen in circle, in oblong erect frame. Sixpence, blue.

#### IX.-SIERRA LEONE.

1. Engraved profile of Queen in octagon, in oblong erect inscribed frame, interrupted at the corners. Sixpence, lilac.

# X.-MALTA (Town).

1. Engraved profile of Queen in octagon, with wreath below, in oblong erect frame. One halfpenny, buff.

# XI.—IONIAN ISLANDS. (ΙΟΝΙΚΟΝ ΚΡΑΤΟΣ.)

1. Engraved profile of Queen in oval, inscribed garter, in oblong erect frame. Orange, blue, and red.

#### XII.—NEW SOUTH WALES.

# A. Badly Engraved Profile (Native) Adhesive Stamp.

1. Profile of Queen, with laurel, with Postage in white letters, an arched label above, in oblong frame. New South Wales and value in small dark letters, printed on coloured paper. One penny, red; twopence, blue; threepence, green.

1\* Like I, printed on white paper. One penny, red; two-

pence, blue; threepence, green.

There seems to be more than one edition of these stamps, differing a little in the size of the letters.

2. Like 1, but value in larger letters, printed on coloured paper. Sixpence, brown; eightpence, orange.

2\* Like 2, printed on white paper. Sixpence, brown; eightpence, orange.

3. Profile of Queen, with laurel, in red oval disk, with blue oval frame, inscribed New South Wales above; and Registered below.

# B. Well-Engraved Profile, Oblong Erect Adhesive Stamp.

- 4. Profile of Queen with diadem, in oblong, with Postage above, in inscribed oblong frame, value in white letters. One penny, red; twopence, blue.
- Like 4, with value in dark letter on white label. Threepence, green.
- 6. Like 4, but all inscription in dark letters, and Postage on left side. Twopence, blue.
- C. Well-Engraved Profile, Square Adhesive Stamp.
- 7. Profile with diadem in circle, surrounded with tridents, in six-sided frame. Sixpence, grey, lilac, or brown.
- 8. Like 7, in circle, with plain outer edge, in eight-sided frame. Eightpence, orange.
- 9. Like 8, but outer edge of circle with tridents grouped in threes by three arches. One shilling, red, blue.

# D. Engraved Circular Adhesive Stamp.

10. Profile of Queen with crown, with Gothic enrichment and letters. Five shillings, purplish. The most beautiful stamp.

#### XIII.—SYDNEY.

- 1. Figures and ship, with motto sic fortis et rudis crevit below, in circle inscribed Sigillum Nov. Camb. Aust., in oblong, erect, inscribed frame, single on sides, formed of close engine-turned cross lines; angles with horizontal lines; letters dark. Threepence, green-olive.
- 2. Like 1, frame of engine-turned oblique spiral lines, angles with perpendicular lines, letters white on a dark label. *Twopence*, green, dark or pale blue.

- 3. Like 1, frames double on sides, outer of oblique broad coloured bars, inner netted, letters white, augles sandy. One penny, red.
- 4. Like 3, angles with horizontal lines. One penny, red.
- Like 3, but stars at angles, larger, with larger open centres, frame of oblique narrow coloured bars, angles sandy. One penny, red.

#### XIV.-SOUTH AUSTRALIA.

- 1. Engraved profile of Queen in circle in oblong erect frame.

  One penny, green; twopence, red; sixpence, blue; one shilling, orange.
- 2. Like 1, in inscribed oval in oblong. Ninepence, lilac.

#### XV. WESTERN AUSTRALIA.

- Engraved swan in oblong transverse frame. One penny, rose, black; twopence, orange, blue, black; fourpence, red; sixpence, black, red, green.
- Like 1, but angle of frame truncated, octagonal. One penny, red, black; twopence, red; fourpence, blue; sixpence, bronze.
- 3. Like 1, but inscribed frame, oval. One shilling, pale brown.

### XVI.-QUEENSLAND.

- Engraved portrait of Queen in inscribed oval in oblong erect frame. One penny, red; twopence, blue; threepence, brown; sixpence, green; one shilling, black, purple.
- 2. Like 1, with angles of outer frame truncated. Registered, pale brown.

# XVII-VICTORIA.

- A. Older Engraved Adhesive, badly executed.
- 1. Engraved full-length of Queen on throne, with Victoria in arch above. One penny, green; sixpence, blue.

- 2. Engraved half-length on throne, in oblong. One penny, rose, cinnamon; twopence, pale brown; threepence, blue.
- 3. Engraved profile of Queen on blue disk, in white inscribed circle in shaded octagon. One shilling, blue.

# B. Modern Engraved Adhesive, well executed.

- 4. Engraved profile of Queen in oblong, Victoria on straight upper edge, with value in small white letters on the scroll at upper edge. Disk lined. Sixpence, black, brown, or red.
- 5. Like 4, disk uniform coloured. Two shillings, green.
- 6. Engraved profile in oblong, with two pale labels; framed and hand-stamped in another colour, Registered.

  One shilling, blue and rose.
- 7. Like 6, framed and hand-stamped in another colour, Too late. Sixpence, lilac and green.
- 8. Engraved profile of Queen, in oval inscribed frame, with flowers on side in oblong, emblems in angles.

  One penny, green; twopence, lilac, purple; fourpence, red, pink.
- Like 8, with a star on each side of oval only. One penny, green.
- 10. Like 9, with number of value on side of oval, letters large, dark. Sixpence, black.
- 11. Like 10, letters small, white, oval, more ornamented.

  Threepence, blue; fourpence, rose; sixpence, black, yellow.

# XVIII.-MELBOURNE (Town).

- 1. Engraved, a full length of Queen on throne. Two-pence, pale brown.
- 2. Like 1, steps higher, letters smaller. Twopence, pale brown.

# XIX.-VAN DIEMEN'S LAND, OR TASMANIA.

# A. Old Series Adhesive Stamps, inscribed Van Diemen's Land.

- 1. Small profile to right, in inscribed oval, in oblong erect frame, with the angles notched out. One penny, blue.
- 2. Like 1, in inscribed circle, in eight-sided frame. Fourpence, orange, brown.
- 3. Like 2, but profile to left. Tenpence, red.

# B. Modern Series, inscribed Van Diemen's Land.

- 4. Portrait in oval, in oblong frame, on white paper. One penny, red; twopence, green; fourpence, blue.
- 4\* Like 4, on slightly-coloured paper. One penny, red; twopence, green; fourpence, blue.

# C. Modern Series, inscribed Tasmania.

- 5. Portrait like 4, in eight-sided frame, with curved corners, white letters. Sixpence, lilac, purple.
- 6. Like 5, with frame of eight straight sides and dark letters. One shilling, red.

#### XX. NEW ZEALAND.

1. Engraved portrait of Queen in circle in oblong, on white paper. One penny, red; twopence, blue; sixpence, brown; one shilling, green.

2. Like 1, on blue or slightly-coloured paper. One penny, red; twopence, blue; sixpence, brown; one shilling, green.

#### XXI.-BRITISH GUIANA.

# A. Engraved Adhesive Stamps.

Sloop to right in centre shield, value above, motto, Patinus, &c., below, British Guiana on sides. 1 cent, red paper; 4 cents, blue paper.

- 2. Ship in oblong disk, part of motto, Petimus, &c., above and part below. British Guiana above and below, Postage and value on sides. 4 cents, red paper.
- 3. Ship to left, in oval frame, inscribed with the motto.

  Postage above, British Guiana on sides in short labels, and 1.8.5.3. in corners. One cent, red, black; four cents, blue, black.
- 4. Like 3, but ship to right, Guiana above. Postage on right side, and 1.8.6.0. in corners. One cent, red, brown; two cents, orange; four cents, blue.
- 5. Like 4, but VIII. cents, red; XII. cents, lilac; XXIV. cents, green.

# B. Letterpress Stamps for Newspapers.

- 6. Printed circle, with 8 cents, in the centre, and inscribed British Guiana, near the margin, on green paper (1850?).
- 7. A square frame of black balls, enclosing a square frame formed of lines, inscribed British Guiana. Postage two cents, with a plain square centre, on yellow paper (1862). Four cents, blue paper.

#### XXII.-BARBADOS.

- 1. Engraved, Britannia sitting in oblong frame, Barbados in lower edge. Red, green, blue, black, &c.
- Like 1, with Barbados on upper edge. Sixpence, red; one shilling, black.

#### XXIII.-TRINIDAD.

- 1. Engraved, Britannia sitting in oblong frame, *Trinidad* in lower edge. Red, green, blue, black, &c.
- 2. Like 1, Trinidad in upper edge. Fourpence, violet; sixpence, green; one shilling, black.

- 3. Like 1, but very coarsely executed on wood. Red, blue, grey, and black.
- 4. Like 3, but rather better executed, but not so good as 1. Red, blue, black, and grey.

#### XXIV.-ST. VINCENT.

1. Engraved profile of Queen, in oval, with truncated ends, in oblong frame. One penny, red; sixpence, green.

#### XXV.-ST. LUCIA.

1. Engraved profile of Queen, in inscribed oval frame, in oblong. Red (one penny); blue (fourpence); green (sixpence).

#### XXVI.-JAMAICA.

1. Engraved profile of Queen, with laurel in circle, in oblong; inscription in arched labels on circle. One penny, blue.

2. Like 1, inscription in curved marginal labels. Two-

pence, rose.

3. Like 1, inscription in straight marginal labels. Fourpence, orange.

4. Engraved profile of Queen, in inscribed hexagon frame, in oblong. Sixpence, lilac.

5. Engraved profile of Queen, in inscribed oval frame, in oblong. One shilling, brown.

### XXVII.—ANTIGUA.

1. Engraved profile of the Queen, crowned, to left, on an engine-turned disk, in an oblong erect frame, with Antigua and value in pale letters, on a dark label, on upper and lower margin. One penny, red; sixpence, green.

#### XXVIII.-BAHAMAS.

 Engraved portrait of Queen, in oval in oblong. Fourpence, rose; sixpence, blue or grey.

# XXIX.-BAHAMAS ISLANDS only.

1. Engraved small portrait of Queen, in small oval, with emblems on sides, and *Interinsular Postage* above. One penny, rose or crimson.

#### XXX.-GRENADA.

 Engraved portrait of Queen, in oval in oblong. One penny, green; sixpence, red.

# XXXI.-NEVIS,

- Engraved picture (three females) of Benevolence, in circle in oblong. Value on lower edge in pale letters. One penny, orange.
- 2. Like 1, value on edge of circle, in pale letters. Fourpence, rose.
- 3. Like 1, but letters dark. Sixpence, lilac, grey.
- 4. Like 1, but picture in oval frame, with pale letters.

  One shilling, green.

#### XXXII.--CANADA.

#### A. Engraved Adhesive Stamps.

- Profile of Queen, in inscribed oval in erect oblong. One halfpenny, rose.
- 2. Like 1, profile larger. One cent, rose.
- 3. Beaver with crown, and V.R. above, in inscribed oval in transverse oblong, 3 in corners. Threepence, red.
- 4. Like 3, two stars in frame, 5 in corners. Five cents, red.
- 5. Portrait of Prince Albert, in inscribed oval in erect oblong, 6 in corners. Sixpence, chocolate black.
- 6. Like 5, X in corners. Ten cents, chocolate black.

- Portrait of Jaq. Cartier, in inscribed oval, in erect oblong frame. 8d. stg. in upper, and 10 cy. in lower corners. Tenpence, blue.
- 8. Like 7. 8d. stg. in upper and 17 in lower corners. Seventeen cents, blue.
- 9. Portrait of Queen, in inscribed oval, 12 at corners. Twelvepence, black.

# B. Embossed Stamps for Envelopes.

10. Embossed profile of Queen, in inscribed embossed oval.

Three cents,—five cents, red; ten cents, brown.

#### XXXIII.-CANADA PACKET POSTAGE.

- 1. Engraved portrait of Queen, in inscribed oval, in erect oblong, with 12½ c. in corners. Sixpence sterling, green.
- 2. Like 1. 7½ cy., sixpence sterling, green.

# XXXIV.—BRITISH COLUMBIA AND VAN-COUVER'S ISLAND.

1. Engraved profile of Queen in oblong disk in four-sided frame, with *British Columbia* in two lines on upper, and *Vancouver's Island* on two lines on lower edges, *Postage* on one side, and *Twopence-halfpenny* on the other side, pink.

# XXXV.—NOVA SCOTIA.

# A. Old Series of Engraved Square Large Adhesive Stamps.

- 1. A crown, surrounded by four stars, each enclosing a flower, in lozenge-shape frame, with a number at corners. *Threepence*, blue; sixpence, green; one shilling, violet.
- 2. Portrait of Queen Victoria, in lozenge, with half a star on each side, in a square frame, inscribed Nova Scotia, in upper and lower edge, One Penny Postage, on sides, and number 1 at each angle; chocolate.

# B. New Series of Small Oblong Adhesive Stamps.

- 3. Profile of Queen, in circle, with scroll ornaments externally. One cent, black; five cents, blue.
- 4. Full-faced portrait of Queen, in oval, with floral and scroll ornament outside, and value in flexuous label. Eight and ½ cents, green; ten cents, red, scarlet.
- 5. Like 4. Value in a straight marginal label. Twelve and \( \frac{1}{2} \) cents, black.

#### XXXVI.-NEW BRUNSWICK.

# A. Old Series, Engraved Large Adhesive Stamp.

- Four stars, each enclosing a flower, surrounding a crown, in lozenge-shaped frame, with a number at corners. Threepence, red; sixpence, yellow; one shilling, violet.
  - B. Small Oblong Engraved Adhesive Stamps.
- 2. Locomotive, in inscribed oval, in transverse oblong, with 1 at corners. One cent, brown.
- 3. Like 2, with steam-ship and  $12\frac{1}{2}$  in corners. Twelve and half cents, blue.
- 4. Portrait of Queen, in inscribed oval, in erect oblong, with 5 at corners. Five cents, green.
- Like 4, but X at angles, and 10 at lower corners.
   Ten cents, red.
- 6. Portrait of Prince of Wales, in inscribed oval, in erect oblong, with 17 at corners. Seventeen cents, black.
- Portrait of Mr. Connel, in oval inscribed frame, with 5 in each angle, oblong. Five cents, chocolate (withdrawn).

# XXXVII.-ST. JOHN'S, NEWFOUNDLAND.

- A. Old Large-sized Engraved Adhesive Stamps.
- 1. Trefoil, with rose, shamrock, and thistle, in triangular

- inscribed frame, number (3) at corners. Threepence, green.
- 2. Four stars, each enclosing a flower, surrounding a crown, in square frame, with a number at corners.

  One penny, red-brown; fivepence, red-brown.

# B. New, Smaller Oblong Adhesive Stamps.

- 3. A nosegay of rose, shamrock, and thistle, in circle, in oval frame, inscribed St. John's, Newfoundland, above, and Postage in lower truncate edge, all inclosed in oblong frame, with number of value in each angle. Twopence, red or scarlet.
- 4. Like 3, numbers in upper angles only. One shilling, red or scarlet.
- 5. Like 3, with *Postage* in small letter, in an arched label in upper margin, and circular disk large. *Eightpence*, red.
- 6. Like 5, but disk considerably smaller. Postage in straight lobes in upper edge. Fourpence.
- 7. Like 3, but nosegay in oval disk, in oval frame. Sixpence, red.
- 8. Like 6, with *Postage* over small circular disk, *Sixpence halfpenny*; in arched labels above and below, *Sixpence halfpenny*, red or scarlet.

# XXXVIII.-PRINCE EDWARD'S ISLAND.

- 1. Coarsely engraved profile of the Queen, with diadem, in oblong inscribed frame. One penny, orange.
- 2. Like 1, with narrow label below, and profile in inscribed circle in oblong. Twopence, red.
- 3. Like 2, profile in inscribed oval, in oblong. Threepence, blue.
- 4. Like 2, profile in inscribed hexagonal, in oblong. Sixpence, green.
- 5. Like 2, profile in sinuous oblong inscribed frame, with

broad label beneath, in oblong. Ninepence currency equal to sixpence stg., lilac.

In several of the North American colonies and Chili, when they want only half the postage marked on the stamps, they cut them in half obliquely, and use only a half of each on the letter. Hence many are found so divided.

# XXXIX.-FRENCH Republic. Repub. Franc.

1. Engraved profile of Liberty, in circle, in oblong erect frame. 10c., chocolate; 15c., blue; 20c., black; 25c., blue; 40c., red, postes; 1 fr. crimson, postes.

2. Like 1, profile of Emperor. 10c., chocolate; 20c., blue,

postes.\*

# XL.—The FRENCH Empire. Empire Franc. et Algiers.

Engraved profile of Emperor, in circle, in oblong.
 1c., grey; 5c., light green; 10c., brown; 20c., light blue; 25c., blue; 40c., orange; 80c., rose (carmine), postes.
 1 fr., carmine, postes.

2. Printed number 10, in a square frame inscribed, chiffre postes taxe 10 centimes à percevoir, black (for

unpaid letters).

3. "Stamp common size, divided by perforations, head of Napoleon to left in circle in upper half inscribed Empire Française, coller cette partie supérieure, in oblong border; lower half inscribed, laisser flotter cette partie inférieure in truncated oval, and timbre poste. 20 cents, blue."

<sup>\*</sup> There is a stamp in many collections like this with essai 1858 on the upper margin, and no value below, printed in most of the colours of the other in use; but this appears to be a hoax, as the Empire was declared before 1858.

# XLI.—FRENCH Colonies. Colonies de l'Empire Française.

1. Engraved eagle, under crown, in inscribed circle in square frame. 1c., olive; 5c., green; 10c., brown; 20c., blue; 40c., vermillion; 80 c., rose, postes.

# XLII,-NEW CALEDONIA. Nouvelle Caledonie.

1. Engraved profile of the Emperor to left, in pale octagonal disk, in oblong erect inscribed frame. 10c. postes, grey.

#### XLIII.-ISLE BOURBON. Isle de la Reunion.

1. Engraved name, &c., 1862, on coloured paper. 10c., 20c., 30c., blue, green, postes.

### "XLIV.—FRENCH WEST INDIES. Antilles, Cayenne."

"1. Engraved profile of Emperor to left. 10c., orange; 20c., blue, postes."

I have never seen these stamps.

#### XLV.-BELGIUM. Postes.

- Engraved portrait of King, with epaulettes, value in straight line and white letters. Dix cent., brown; vingt cent., blue.
- 2. Like 1, portrait in oval, value on edge of oval in blue coloured letters. Un centime, green; dix cent., brown; vingt cent., blue; quarante cent., red.
- 3. Embossed profile of Leopold to the left, with crown of laurels, in oblong erect frame. 10c., grey. A trial stamp, 1862.

# XLVI.-HOLLAND. Post Zegel.

1. Engraved profile of King, in oval embellished frame, in oblong erect frame. 5c., green; 10c., red; 15c., orange.

# XLVII,-DUTCH GUIANA. Post Zegel.

 Engraved crown in wreath, with four diverging laurelleaves, with Post zegel in upper, and value in lower part of pale disk, in oblong frame, with 1.8.6.1. at corners. 10 c. lilac paper, rose, lavender.

# XLVIII.-LUXEMBURG. Luxembourg.

- Engraved profile of Duke, in oval embellished frame, in oblong, with number in upper corners. Dix centimes, black.
- 2. Like 1. Un silbergros, red-brown.
- 3. Arms (a lion) and crown, in oval embellished frame, with a number in circle at lower sides, in oblong erect frame. 10c., blue;  $12\frac{1}{2}c$ ., red; 25c., lilac; 30c., violet, red;  $37\frac{1}{2}c$ ., green; 40 centimes, vermillion.
- 4. Arms (a lion) and crown, in circle, with number in circle on each side, and two labels, all in oblong frame. 2 centimes, black; 4 centimes, yellow.

#### XLIX.-SWITZERLAND. Helvetis.

# A. Present Series for all Switzerland.

- Engraved Switzerland, seated in oblong inscribed frame.
   grey; 5, pale brown; 10, blue, yellow; 15, red; 20, yellow; 40, green, rappen, or centimes, or centessimi.
- 2. Like 1, figures and letters embossed. 20, yellow; 40, green, rappen, or centimes, or centessimi; un franc, grey.
- 3. Like 1, the engraved figure, smaller in profile, with Helvetia in upper, franco in lower margin, and a number at corners. 2, grey; 3, black; 5, brown; 10, blue; 20, orange; 30, vermillion; 40, green; 60, yellow. 1 franc, carmine.

# XLI.—FRENCH Colonies. Colonies de l'Empire Française.

1. Engraved eagle, under crown, in inscribed circle in square frame. 1c., olive; 5c., green; 10c., brown; 20c., blue; 40c., vermillion; 80 c., rose, postes.

# XLII.—NEW CALEDONIA. Nouvelle Caledonie.

 Engraved profile of the Emperor to left, in pale octagonal disk, in oblong erect inscribed frame.
 10c. postes, grey.

# XLIII.-ISLE BOURBON. Isle de la Reunion.

1. Engraved name, &c., 1862, on coloured paper. 10c., 20c., 30c., blue, green, postes.

# "XLIV.—FRENCH WEST INDIES. Antilles, Cayenne."

\*1. Engraved profile of Emperor to left. 10c., orange; 20c., blue, postes."

I have never seen these stamps.

#### XLV.-BELGIUM. Postes.

- 1. Engraved portrait of King, with epaulettes, value in straight line and white letters. Dix cent., brown; wingt cent., blue.
- 2. Like 1, portrait in oval, value on edge of oval in blue coloured letters. Un centime, green; dix cent., brown; wingt cent., blue; quarante cent., red.
- 3. Emboured profile of Leopold to the left, with crown of laurels, in oblong erect frame. 10c., grey.

  A trial samp, 1862.

## XLVI.-HOLLAND. Post Zegel.

1. Engraved profile of King, in oval embellished frame, in oblong erect frame. 5c., green; 10c., red; 15c., orange.

## XLVII.—DUTCH GUIANA. Post Zegel.

 Engraved crown in wreath, with four diverging laurelleaves, with Post zegel in upper, and value in lower part of pale disk, in oblong frame, with 1.8.6.1. at corners. 10 c. lilac paper, rose, lavender.

#### XLVIII.-LUXEMBURG. Luxembourg.

- Engraved profile of Duke, in oval embellished frame, in oblong, with number in upper corners. Dix centimes, black.
- 2. Like 1. Un silbergros, red-brown.
- 3. Arms (a lion) and crown, in oval embellished frame, with a number in circle at lower sides, in oblong erect frame. 10c., blue; 12½c., red; 25c., lilac; 30c., violet, red; 37½c., green; 40 centimes, vermillion.
- 4. Arms (a lion) and crown, in circle, with number in circle on each side, and two labels, all in oblong frame. 2 centimes, black; 4 centimes, yellow.

#### XLIX.-SWITZERLAND. Helvetia.

### A. Present Series for all Switzerland.

- Engraved Switzerland, seated in oblong inscribed frame.
   grey; 5, pale brown; 10, blue, yellow; 15, red; 20, yellow; 40, green, rappen, or centimes, or centessimi.
- 2. Like 1, figures and letters embossed. 20, yellow; 40, green, rappen, or centimes, or centessimi; un franc, grey.
- 3. Like 1, the engraved figure, smaller in profile, with Helvetia in upper, franco in lower margin, and a number at corners. 2, grey; 3, black; 5, brown; 10, blue; 20, orange; 30, vermillion; 40, green; 60, yellow. 1 franc, carmine.

- B. Older Series, when Switzerland was divided in Rayons.
- Engraved white cross in red shield, with ornamented frame, and post-horn above, in oblong erect frame Rayons I. above, on white paper, 5 rp., blue.
- 4\* Like 4, black ink on blue paper, 5 rp. blue.
- 5. Like 4, with 5 cents, blue. For French cantons.
- 6. Like 4, but pattern of ground rather less dense, and Rayon II. above. 10 rp. Black ink on yellow paper.
- Like 8, with 10 cents, black or yellow. For French cantons.
- 8. Like 4, but shield only red lined, Rayon III. above. 15 rp. Red ink on white paper.
- 8\* Like 8, but figure 15 is smaller, red on white.
- 9. Like 8, but with 15 cents. Red ink on white paper. For French cantons.
- Like 4, shield red. Poste locale above. 2½ rp. Black ink on white paper.
- 11. Like 10, but with 21 cents, black or white.
- 12. Like 7, but Orts post above. 21 rp., black or white.

## L.-NEUCHATEL (Town).

 Engraved, white cross on oblong red shield, with scroll on side, Poste locale above, in oblong frame. 5 centimes. Black ink on white paper.

### LI.-GENEVA (Canton). Geneve.

- Engraved arms, half-eagle and key, with motto on label above, Port cantonal below, printed in black ink on green paper, 5 cents.
- 2. Like 1, printed in green ink on white paper, 5 cents.

#### LII.-GENEVA (Town).

1. Like former, but only two-thirds the size, Port locale below. 5c. Black ink on green paper.

2. Two of these stamps are united together by a label, above inscribed 10, Port Cantonal, Cents.; so they serve for both purposes.

#### LIII.-WINTERTHUR (Town).

 Engraved white cross on red circular disk, with post-horn below on red lined scroll, inscribed Orts post. Posts locale, in oblong transverse frame. 2½ R. in corners, black, red.

#### LIV.-LAUSANE (Town).

 Engraved white cross on red circular disk, with post-horn below, in richly ornamented scroll, with Poste locale on straight label above. 4 c., 5 c., black.

#### LV.-BASLE (Town). Basle.

 Embossed white dove, on a red shield, edged below with a band bearing Stadt post. Basel, in square frame. 2½ rp. in lower corners, black.

## LVI.—ZURICH (Canton).

- Engraved large number on diapered ground in oblong erect framed disk, with Cantonal taxe on lower edge, with pale perpendicular lines. 6, black.
- 1\* Like 1, with pale horizontal lines. 6, black.
- Engraved figure 6 in diapered oval disk, in oval frame, with scrolls at corners, inscribed Sechs rappen on left, and Cantonal taxe on right, and 1.8.4.3 at corners.

#### LVII.-ZURICH (Town).

- 1. Like No. 1. of LVI, with *Local taxe* on lower edge. Stamp with pale perpendicular lines. 4, black.
- 1\* Like 1, with pale horizontal lines. 4, black.

 Engraved figure 4 on diapered oval disk, in oval frame with scroll at corner, inscribed Vier Ruppen in left, and Local taxe on right side, and 1.8.4.3. in the scroll at corner of the frames.

The stamp forgers have issued a stamp like 1, with the date 1843 added in the corner, as this stamp.

### LVIII.-GREECE. EAA. TPAMM.

Engraved profile of Mercury, in circle in oblong. 1 Lept., brown; 2 lept., stone; 5 lept., green; 10 lept., red; 20 lept., blue; 40 lept., lilac; 80 lept., crimson.

Printed on tinted paper. The stamps of 1861 have the figure of value on the back, in ink of the colour of the stamp.

#### LIX.-PORTUGAL. Correio.

- Embossed profile of Queen Maria II. to left, in circle, in embossed eight-sided frame, correio above. 5 reis, brown.
- 2. Like 1, profile in oval in oblong sinuous frame. 25 reis.
- 3. Like 2, profile in oval in straight-sided octagon frame. 50 reis, green.
- 4. Like 1, profile in circular beaded frame, in oblong ornamented frame. 100 reis, lilac.
- 5. Embossed profile of King Pedro V. to right, in circle, correio above, like 1. 5 reis, brown.
- 6. Like 5, with frame, like 2. 25 reis, blue, rose.
- 7. Like 5, with frame 3. 50 reis, green.
- 8. Like 5, with frame like 4. 100 reis, lilac.
- 9. Embossed profile of King Louis to left, in circle, like 1, in embossed eight-sided frame. 5 reis, brown.
- 10. Like 9, in oval in oblong. 25 reis, rose.
- 11. Like 9, in oval in octagon. 50 reis, green.
- 12. Like 9, in circle, in oblong, with toothed corners. 100 reis, lilac.

#### LX.-SPAIN.

## A. Engraved Profile Isabella II., Adhesive Stamps.

- Profile of Queen to left, with diadem in oblong inscribed frame, letters white, with 1850 below. 6 cuartos, black.
- Profile of Queen to right, in oblong, with 1850 below, letters black, frame white. 12 cuartos, violet;
   6 reales, blue; 10 reales, green.

2\* Like 2, with white letter in black frame, and Certificado on right side, 5 reales, red.

3. Profile of Queen to right, with rows of pearls, in oval inscribed frame, in oblong, with 1851 below. 4 cuartos, seis cuartos, black; 12 cuartos, violet; 2 reales, red; 5 reales, red; 6 reales, blue; 10 reales, green.

Profile of Queen to left, with fillet, in circle in oblong, with straight upper and lower labels. 1852 below. franco above. 6 cs., red; 12 cuartos, violet; 5 reales, green; 6 reales, blue; 10 reales.

4\* Like 4, certdo above. 6 cs., red.

5. Profile of Queen to right, with diadem, in circle in oblong, with straight upper and lower labels. Correos 1853 above, franco below. 6 cuartos, red; 12 cuartos, violet; 2 reales, rose; 5 reales, green; 6 reales, blue.

5\* Like 5, certdo above. 6 cuartos, red.

- 6. Profile of Queen to left, with diadem, in circle, with waved label above, caduceus and anchor below, in oblong. 2 cuartos, green; 4 cuartos, red; 10 cuartos, brown; 12 cuartos, rose; ½ reale, 1 reale, blue; 2 reales, lilac.
- Profile of Queen to right, with laurels, in circle, in inscribed oblong frame, watermark of paper in curves.
   2 cuartos, green; 4 cuartos, lilac; 6 cuartos; 1 reale, blue; 2 reales, chocolate.

7\* Like 7, watermark of paper, oblique cross-lines.

- cuartos, green; 4 cuartos, lilac; 1 reale, blue; 2 reales, violet.
- 7\*\* Like 7, without watermark on paper. 2 cuartos, green; 4 cuartos, lilac; 1 reale, blue; 2 reales, violet.
- 8. Profile of Queen, with diadem to left, in oval inscribed frame, with Espana in upper part, castle and lions in oval at corners, in oblong frame, coloured paper. 2 cuartos, blue; 4 cuartos, red brown; 12 cuartos, blue; 19 cuartos, rose; 1 reale, chocolate; dos reales, green.

# B. Engraved Arms in Oblong Erect Adhesive Stamps.

- Arms in coloured oblong shield, with floral tendrils.
   Correos 1854 above and Franco below, in oblong frame. 6 Cs. red.
- 10. Arms in coloured oblong shield, like 9, with Corress 1854 above and Certdo below. 2 Rs., red; 5 Rs., green; 6 Rs., blue.
- 11. Arms in plain oblong shield, with Greek pattern, in angles, and without tendrils. Correos above, and Franco below. 2 cs., 4 cs., 6 cs.
- 11\*. Like 11, but Correos 1854 above, Franco below. 4 cs.
- 12. Arms in plain oblong shield, without pattern in corner, or tendrils. Correos, 1854 above. Medeo onza, yellow; una onza, red; 4 onzas, green; 1 libra, blue.
- 13. Arms in plain oval shield, with crown and collar of Golden Fleece and Correo official above, in oval plain disk, in oval frame. ½ onza; una onza, red; 4 onzas, green; una libra, grey for official papers.

#### LXI.-MADRID.

1. Engraved bear and tree in oval frame, with wreath and crown, with octagonal frame in oblong frame, with Correo interior above, Franco below. 1 cuarto, bronze; 2 cuartos, bronze; 3 cuartos, bronze.

## LXII.—CUBA, HAYTE, AND PORTO RICO.

Engraved profile of Queen, with laurels to right, in pearled circle in oblong. Correos above, like Spain 7.
 Paper with curved watermarks. ½ Rl. plata, F. blue;
 1 Rl. plata, F. green;
 2 Rl. plata, F.

2. Like 1, paper with oblique cross-line watermarks. ½ Rl. plata, F. blue; 1 Rl. plata, F. green; 2 Rl. plata, F.

3. Like 1, paper laid without watermarks. ½ Rl. plata, F. blue; 1 Rl. plata, F. green; 2 Rl. plata, F.

4. Like 1, with  $y \frac{1}{4}$  in black impressed on portrait. 2 Rs. plata. Cuarillo for insular use.

#### LXIII.—LUZON, PHILIPPINES.

1. Engraved profile of Queen to right, with laurel in pearled circle in oblong. Correos interior above (without value). Blue.

2. Like 1, with Franco and value below. 5 cs., red; 10 cuartos, rose.

Engraved profile of Queen to right, in oval. Franco
Porto in upper, and Correos, 1854 y 5 in lower
straight margin. Very badly engraved. 1 Real,
brown.

# LXIV. --- ITALY, SARDINIA. Franco Poste Bollo (Adhesive Stamps).

 Embossed profile of King, in embossed frame and inscription, on coloured paper. C. cinque, green; venti, blue; quaranta, pink.

2. Like 1, profile and disk white, frame coloured, all embossed. C. cinque, green; venti, blue; quaranta, red.

3. Embossed profile of King in printed frame, and white flat inscription, the central disk coloured. C. cinque, black; C. venti, blue; C. quarante, red.

4. Like 3, but central disk white, C. cinque, green; disci, brown; venti, blue; quaranta, red; octanta, yellow. Lire tre, bronze.

- 5. Embossed number in white oval disk, in coloured oblong flat printed frame, with wavy lined angles and coloured letters, Giornale stampe. Black ink. Centi uno, centi due, for newspapers. 1861.
- 6. Like 5, coloured inks. Centi due, yellow; Centi cinque, blue; Centi venti, green.

## LXV.—NAPLES since 1861, when united to Italy. Franco Poste Bollo.

 Like Italy 4, embossed profile of King in white disk, with flat printed oblong white frame, with lined angles, and the coloured letters. Mezzo Tornese, green; Un grano, black; due, blue; cinque, red; dieci, yellow; venti, lemon; cinquante grana, grey.

## LXVI.—NAPLES before 1861. Bollo della Posta Napoletana.

- 1. Engraved arms (horse, legs, and fleur-de-lis), in circle in square. Gra. ½. Red.
- 2. Engraved arms, like 1, in square frame. Gra. 1. Red.
- 3. Engraved arms, like 1, in hexagon in square. Gra. 2. Red.
- 4. Engraved arms, like 1, in oblong. Gra. 5. Red.
- Engraved arms, like 1, in octagon in erect oblong. Gra. 10. Red,
- Engraved arms, like 1, in lozenge in erect oblong. Gra. 20. Red.
- Engraved arms, like 1, in oval in oblong erect. Gra. 50. Red.

## LXVII.—NAPLES. Provisional Government, 1860. Bolla della Posta Napoletana.

- Engraved arms of Naples, in inscribed circle in square.
   T. ½. Blue.
- Engraved cross of Savoy, in inscribed circle in square,
   T. ½. Blue. (For newspapers.)

#### LXVIII.—SICILY until 1861. Bollo della Posta Sicilia.

- Engraved profile of the King, in inscribed oblong frame.
   Gr. ½, orange; Gr. 1, olive; Gr. 2, blue; Gr. 5, red;
   Gr. 10, deep blue; Gr. 20, blue-black; Gr. 50, red-brown. 1859.
- Like 1, but rather smaller size, frame of 2 lines. Gr. 10. Blue.

#### LXIX.—TUSCANY until 1861. Franco Bollo Postale Toscano.

- Woodcut, lion with crown and shield, in oblong inscribed frame. 1 quatrin, black; 1 soldo, yellow; 2 soldi, red; 1 crazia, red-brown; 2 crazie, blue; 4 crazis, green; 6 crazie, blue; 9 crazie, chocolate; 60 crazie, brown.
- Woodcut, arms (cross of Savoy), in shield in mantle with crown above, in oblong inscribed frame. 1 cent., violet; 5 cent., green; 10 cent., brown; 20 cent., blue; 40 cent., red; 80 cent., pink; 3 lire, yellow.

#### LXX.—STATES OF THE CHURCH. Franco Bollo Postale.

- Printed in black on coloured paper. Cross keys, surmounted by the tiara, in oval transverse inscribed frame. Baj. mezzo. Purple paper.
- Emblems like 1, in oval frame, truncated at ends.
   Baj. 1. Green paper.
- Emblems like 1, in oblong transverse frame. Baj. 2.
   Yellow green.
- 4. Emblems like 1, in oval frame, indented at ends. Bai. 3. Pale brown.
- Emblems like 1, in circular inscribed frame. Baj. 4.
   vellow.
- 6. Emblems like 1, in oblong erect frame. Baj. 5. Rose.

- 7. Emblems like 1, in octagonal transverse frame. Baj. 6. green.
- 8. Emblems like 1, in octagonal erect frame. Baj. 7. blue.
- Printed in black, on white paper. Cross keys and tiara, in octagonal square frame, with concave sides. Baj. 8. White.
- Printed in blue, on white paper. Cross keys and mitre, in sinuous, oval, transverse, florid, oblong transverse frame. Baj. 50. Blue.
- Printed in red, on white paper. Cross keys and tiara, in polygonal transverse sinuated frame. Scudo 1. Red.

## LXXI.—ROMAGNE. Provisional Government, 1859. Disused, 1860.

Type printed, number in inscribed oblong erect frame.
 Franco Bollo Postale Romagne. On coloured paper.
 <sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> Bai., pale yellow; 1 Bai., grey; 2 Bai., yellow;
 3 Bai., green; 4 Bai., red; 5 Bai., blue; 6 Bai., green; 8 Bai., rose; 20 Bai., pale blue.

### LXXII.—PARMA. Dukedom. Duc de Parma Paic. Ecc. Disused, 1861.

- Engraved fleur-de-lis, in oval, in shield, bearing a crown, with laurels on sides, in oblong frame. In coloured ink, on white paper. 15 cent., pink; 25 cent., brown; 40 cent., blue.
- 2. Engraved fleur-de-lis, in circle, bearing a crown, in oblong erect frame. Stati Parm. above. Coloured ink on white paper. Centes., 5, yellow; centes., 15, rose; centes., 25, red, brown.
- 3. Like 2, with black ink on coloured paper. Centes., 5, yellow; centes., 10, pale red; centes., 15, rose; centes., 25, purple; centes., 40, blue.

### LXXIII.—PARMA (Town). Stati Parmensi. Abolished, 1861.

1. Type printed, number in octagonal frame, with concave sides. Black ink, on coloured paper. *Centesimi*, 6, bright red; *centesimi*, 9, blue.

## LXXIV.—PARMA. Stati Parmensi. Provisional Government, 1859. Abolished, 1860.

 Type printed, number in octagonal frame, with concave sides. Coloured ink, on white paper. Centesimi, 5, green; centesimi, 10, brown; centesimi, 20, blue; centesimi, 40, red; centesimi, 80, yellow.

## LXXV.-MODENA Duchy. Poste Estensi.

- Engraved eagle and crown between laurels, in oblong erect inscribed frame. Poste Estensi, above. Black ink on coloured paper. Cent. 5, green; cent. 10 rose, brown; cent. 15, violet, yellow; cent. 25, yellow; cent. 40, blue.
- 1.\* Like 1, black ink, on white paper. Lira 1.
- 2. Like 1, but with B. G. before value. Cent 9, purple.
- Engraved eagle in a circle inscribed—Tassa gazetta, in square frame. Cent. 10, black. (For newspapers abroad.)

## LXXVI.—MODENA. Provisional Government, 1859. Provincie Modonensi. Suppressed in 1860.

Engraved, arms of Savoy (a cross), with crown, collar, and laurels, in oblong erect inscribed frame.
 Coloured ink on white paper. Cent. 5, green; cent. 15, chocolate; cent. 20, lilac; cent. 40, rose; cent. 80, orange.

## LXXVII.—AUSTRIA (TYROL AND LICHTEN-STEIN). K. K. Post. Stempel. A. Engraved Adhesive Stamps.

1. Arms, double-headed eagle crowned on shield, with

- laurel and oak on side, and a crown above, in oblong frame. 1 kreuzer, yellow; 2 kreuzer, black; 3 kreuzer, red; 6 kreuzer, brown; 9 kreuzer, blue.
- Arms, double-headed eagle crowned, in square inscribed frame. Kais. Kon. Zeitungs Stempel. 1 kreuzer, blue, black; 2 kreuzer, brown, green, red; 4 kreuzer, brown, red. (For home newspapers.)
- 3. Profile of Mercury, to left in square frame, inscribed—

  K. K. Zeitungs Stempel. Blue, yellow, and red.

  (For newspapers going abroad.)

#### B. Embossed Profile to left. Old Series.

- 4. Profile in circular embossed wreath, in oblong frame. 2 kr., yellow, orange.
- 5. Profile in printed circle, with wreath on lower side, in oblong frame, with ornamented corners. 5 kr., red.
- Profile in printed broad circular wreath, formed of leaves and shields, in oblong ornamented frame. 10 kr., brown.
- 7. Profile in printed circular frame, with scrolls on outer side, and number in upper angle, in oblong erect ornamented frame. 15 kr., blue.
- 8. Profile in oblong erect inscribed flat printed frame, with ornament in the inner angles, and post-horn in each corner. K. K. Zeitungs post Stempel (for newspapers), lilac.
- Profile in oval, in oblong erect inscribed printed frame, with number in each corner, and value on the four sides. 3 kr. Green, black.

## C. Embossed Profile to right. New Series.

10. Profile in oval, white lined printed flat frame, with number and value below. Dentated Adhesive Stamps. 2 kreuzer, yellow; 3 kreuzer, green; 5 kreuzer, red; 10 kreuzer, brown; 15 kreuzer, blue;

25 kreuzer, dark brown; 30 kreuzer, violet; 35 kreuzer, light brown.

10\*. Like 10. Envelopes. 2 kreuzer, yellow; 3 kreuzer, green; 5 kreuzer, red; 10 kreuzer, brown; 15 kreuzer, blue.

 Profile in oval, in broad white netted lined printed oblong erect sinuous edged frame, inscribed—K. K. Zeitungs post Stampel, blue, grey, lilac, for home newspapers.

Some catalogues have what they call complementary stamps, they are only blocks used to fill up the frame of dies.

## LXXVIII.—VENICE AND LOMBARDY until 1859. K. K. Post Stempel.

#### A. Engraved Flat Stamps, Old Series.

1. Arms, double-headed eagle crowned, in shield, with laurel and oak on side and crown above, in oblong frame. 5 centes, orange; 10 centes, black; 15 centes, red; 30 centes, brown; 45 centes, blue. (Like Austria 1.)

# B. Embossed Profile of Emperor to left. Old Series. Adhesive Stamps only.

- 2. Profile in circle. 2 soldi, yellow. (Like Austria 4.)
- 3. Profile, &c. 5 soldi, red. (Like Austria 5.)
- 4. Profile, &c. 10 soldi, brown. (Like Austria 6.)
- 5. Profile, &c. 15 soldi, blue. (Like Austria 7.)
- 6. Profile in oval, in oblong erect inscribed printed frame, with number in each angle. 3 soldi on each side, black, green. (Like Austria 9.)

# C. Embossed Profile to right. New Series, Adhesive and Envelope Stamps alike.

8. Profile in oval white lined inscribed printed frame, with number below. Dentated adhesive stamps. 3 soldi, green; 5 soldi, red; 10 soldi, brown; 15 soldi, blue; 20 soldi, orange; 25 soldi, brown; 30 soldi, violet; 35 soldi, pale brown.

9. Like 8, but envelopes. 3 soldi, green; 5 soldi, red; 10 soldi, brown; 15 soldi, blue; 20 soldi, orange; 25 soldi, dark brown; 30 soldi, violet; 35 soldi, pale brown. (Nearly like Austria 10.)

## LXXIX.-BAVARIA. Bayern.

- 1. Printed number on white lined black square disk, in square inscribed frame. Ein kreuzer, black.
- Printed, number on one-coloured disk, in circle, in square inscribed frame. Coloured ink on white paper. 1 ein, rose, yellow; 2 drei kreuzer, blue, rose; 6 sechs, brown, blue; 9 neun, green, stone; 12 zwolft, red, green; 18 achtzen, red, orange.
- 3. Like 2. Black ink on coloured paper for "Instruction stamps." 1, rose, yellow; 3, blue, rose; 6, brown, blue; 9, green, stone; 12, red, green; 18, yellow, red.
- 4. Printed number 3 in inscribed square frame, with 3 kreuzers on each side, Bayer Post-taxe above, Von Empfanger zahlbar below, blue, black.

## LXXX.-WURTEMBURG. Wurttemberg Freimark.

#### A. Engraved Adhesive Stamps.

- 1. Type printed, number in lozenge, in square inscribed frame, on coloured paper. 1 kreuzer, white; 3 kreuzer, yellow, blue; 6 kreuzer, green, blue; 9 kreuzer, rose; 18 kreuzer, lilac.
- 2. Block printed arms, in square inscribed frame. In coloured ink. 1 kreuzer, brown; 3 kreuzer, orange; 6 kreuzer, green; 9 kreuzer, rose; 18 kreuzer, blue.
- 3. Engraved, arms with crown and laurels, in oval inscribed in oblong erect frame, black. Commission fur Retourbriefe.

## B. Embossed Envelope Stamps.

4. A large embossed number in an oval frame, with embossed white lines, inscribed Württemberg above, in oblong erect eight-sided frame. 3 drei kreuzer, rose; 6 sechs kreuzer, blue; 9 nëun kreuzer, pale brown.

#### LXXXI.-BADEN. Baden.

## A. Type-printed Adhesive Stamps.

- Number in circle, in inscribed square frame, disk with interlaced horizontal equidistant lines.
   Buff, white paper.
- Like 1, disk with interlaced distant pairs of lines.
   Blue, yellow, green.
- Like 1, disk with interlaced close pairs of lines.
   Green, yellow.
- Like 1, disk with interlaced very close lines, in fours.
   Rose.

### B. Engraved Adhesive Stamp.

- 5. Arms with supporters in a shaded square disk in an inscribed frame. 1 kreuzer, black; 3 kreuzer, blue; 6 kreuzer, orange, blue; 9 kreuzer, rose.
- 5\*. Like 5, square disk white. 1 kreuzer, black; 3 kreuzer, rose; 6 kreuzer, blue; 9 kreuzer, stone; 18 kreuzer, green; 30 kreuzer, orange.

## C. Embossed Profile, Envelope Stamps.

- 6. Profile to right, in embossed oval white netted embossed frame, impressed number below, inscription to left of stamp. 3 kreuzer, blue.
- 7. Like 6, pattern of frame different. 6 kreuzer, yellow.
- 8. Like 6, pattern of frame different. 9 kreuzer, rose.
- 9. Like 6, pattern of frame different. 12 kreuzer, brown.
- 10. Like 6, pattern of frame different. 18 kreuzer, red.

- 11. Like 6, but inscription to right of stamp. 3 kreuzer,
- 12. Like 11. 6 kreuzer, blue.
- 13. Like 11. 9 kreuzer, stone.

#### LXXXII.-BADEN. Land-Post.

1. Type-printed large number, with Land-post above, Portomarke below, in a square frame, with a scroll on its inner edge. 1, 3, 12, all black, on yellow paper.

# LXXXIII.—SOUTH GERMANY (THURN und TAXIS). Value in Kreuzers.

#### A. Engraved Square Adhesive Stamps.

- A number on circular disk in an inscribed pale ring, with four post-horns; in square frame, with ornamented angles; central disk with rather irregular waved concentric circles, black ink. 1 kreuzer, on green paper.
- 1\* Like 1. 1 kreuzer, green, yellow ink.
- 2. Like 1, central disk with regular waved concentric circles, black ink. 3 kreuzer, blue paper.
- 2\*. Like 2. 3 kreuzer, blue, rose ink.
- Like 1, central disk with network, formed of double lines, having hexagonal cells, black ink. 6 kreuzer, red paper.
- 3\*. Like 3. 6 kreuzer, rose, blue ink.
- 4. Like 1, central disk with angularly bent concentric lines, black ink, 9 kreuzer, on yellow brown paper.
- 4. Like 4. 9 kreuzer, yellow, or brown ink.
- 5. A number on circular disk in an inscribed pale ring, with four folds, each with a post-horn. Central disk with pale and dark hexagons bearing a number. 15 kreuzer, lilac ink.
- 6. Like 5, central disk netted. 30 kreuzer, bright red ink.

## B. Embossed Stamp for Envelopes.

Embossed large number, in small oval inscribed frame, with white embossed lines and sunken letters in octagonal frame, with Thurn u. Taxis above. Inscription of envelope blue. 2 kreuzer, yellow; 3 kreuzer, rose; 6 kreuzer, blue; 9 kreuzer, stone.

7\*. Like 7, but inscription on right of stamp, the colour of the stamp. 2 kreuzer, yellow; 3 kreuzer, rose;

6 kreuzer, blue; 9 kreuzer, stone.

## C. Type printed Newspaper Stamp.

8. A number 1 in a post-horn, in a circular frame, inscribed Thurn und Taxis. Black ink on coloured paper.

# LXXXIV.-NORTH GERMANY (THURN und TAXIS). Value in Silver Groschen.

## A. Engraved Square Adhesive Stamps.

- A number of large size, in inscribed square frame, with a
  post-horn in polygon at each outer corner, and
  number in small shield at inner corners, central disk
  with concentric circular lines. 
   <sup>1</sup>/<sub>4</sub> silbergrosch, red paper.
- 1\* Like 1, in red ink, on white paper.
- 2. Like 1, central disk with numerous groups of curved lines. \(\frac{1}{3}\) silbergrosch, pink paper.

2\* Like 2, pink ink.

- 3. Like 1, central disk with lines forming lozenge-shaped spaces. ½ silbergrosch, green paper.
- 3\* Like 3, green or orange ink.
- 4. Like 1, central disk with concentric slightly waved lines.

  1 silbergresch, blue paper.
- 4. Like 4, in blue, rose ink.
- Like 1, central disk with interrupted concentric lines, forming curved radiating rays. 2 silbergrosch, rose paper.

- 5\*. Like 5, rose ink.
- 6. Like 1, central disk with close-curved spiral interrupted lines, forming lozenge-shaped meshes on each side.

  3 silbergrosch, yellow paper.
- 6\*. Like 6, brown, stone ink.
- 7. Block printed, large number in four inscribed square labels, with a shield bearing numbers, and a post-horn in a circle at each corner, all in a square frame, central square tesselated, bearing numbers. 5 silbergrosch, lilac ink.
- 8. Like 7, central square reticulated. 10 silbergrosch, orange ink.

#### B. Embossed Stamp for Envelopes.

- 9. Embossed number, large size, in oval inscribed frame, with white embossed lines and sunken letters. Inscription on right of stamp, lilac, Thurn u. Taxis above. ½ silbergr., orange; 1 silbergr., rose; 2 silbergr., blue.
- Like 9, inscription on right of stamp same colour as stamp. ½ silbergr., orange; 1 silbergr., rose; 2 silbergr., blue; 3 silbergr., stone.

## LXXXV.-PRUSSIA. Prussen, Freimarke.

#### A. Engraved Portrait, Adhesive Stamps.

 Engraved profile of King to right, in oblong erect inscribed frame, central ground cross lined, letters small. Coloured ink on white paper. 4 vier pfenninge, green; ½ sechs. pfennige, red.

 Like 1, black ink on coloured paper. 1 ein silbergr., lake; 2 zwei silbergr., drab, blue; 3 drei silbergr.,

yellow paper.

3. Like 1, central ground cross-lined, letters larger.
Coloured ink on white paper. 4 vier pfenninge,

green; ½ sechs pfennige, red; 1 ein silbergr., rose; 2 zwei silbergr., blue; 3 drei silbergr., orange.

4. Like 3, central ground uniform, letters large. Coloured ink on white paper. 1 ein silbergr., rose; 2 zwei silbergr., blue; 3 drei silbergr., orange.

## B. Large Embossed Profile of King to right. Envelopes.

- 5. Embossed profile of King to right, in broad oval embossed white-lined frame, number embossed below, with two threads across stamp. 1 ein, rose; 2 zwei, blue; 3 drei silbergroschen, yellow.
- 5\* Like 5, with lilac printed inscription on left upper corner of stamp. 1 ein, rose; 2 zwei, blue; 3 drei silbergroschen, yellow.
- 6. Like 5, in octagonal frame, with white embossed lines, with embossed number on upper edge, with thread across profile. 4 vier silbergroschen, brown.
- 7. Like 6, but pattern of frame different. 5 fünf silbergroschen, lilac.
- 8. Like 6, but pattern of frame different. 6 sechs silber-groschen, green.
- 9. Like 6, but number in lower margin, and pattern of frame different. 7 sieben silbergroschen, red.

# C. Small Embossed Eagle. Adhesive or Envelope Stamps, inscribed Preussen.

- 10. Engraved spread eagle in white printed frame, in inscribed oval, in octagonal frame, with a number on each corner of paper. Dentated adhesive stamps. 4 vier pfenninge, green; 6 sechs pfenninge, red.
- 11. Like 10, without external frame, with number on side of oval frame. Dentated adhesive stamps. 1 ein, rose; 2 zwei, blue; 3 drei silbergr., stone.
- 12. Like 11, but eagle and white lines of oval frame em-

bossed, eagle with an impressed line on the wings, a T.R. on body. Dentated adhesive stamps. 1 ein, rose; 2 zwei, blue; 3 drei silbergroschen, brown.

13. Like 12, post couvert, with black printed inscription on right upper side of stamp. 1 ein, rose; 2 zwei, blue; 3 drei silbergroschen, brown.

# LXXXVI.—BRUNSWICK. Braunschweig. A. Engraved Adhesive Stamps.

 Type printed crown, number of small size in oval all in square frame, in fours in a square frame. 
 <sup>1</sup>/<sub>4</sub> guttegr.,
 3 pfenninge Post-marke, brown paper.

2. Engraved crown and horse in lined oval shield, with two labels, and value on side, all in transverse oblong frame. Black ink, on coloured or white paper. 

† drei pfennig., brown; † vier silbr. pf., white; † sech. silbr. pf., yellow; 1 ein silbrgr., orange; 2 zwei silbrgr., dark blue; 3 drei silbrgr., pink, or stone coloured paper.

2\*. Like 2, printed in coloured ink, on white paper. 1 ein silbgr., rose; 2 zwei silbgr., blue; 3 drei silbgr., vermillion, rose.

## B. Embossed Stamps for Envelopes.

- Embossed crown and horse in large oval frame, with white embossed lines, and with embossed number below, and blue inscription on left side. 1 ein silbergroschen, yellow.
- 4. Like 3, but pattern of frame different. 2 zwei silbergroschen, blue.
- 5. Like 3, but pattern of frame different. 3 drei silbergroschen, red.

#### LXXXVII.-BRUNSWICK (Town).

1. Hand stamped in red-brown ink. St. P. Fr. in narrow circular frame.

 Hand-stamped post-horn and horse in oval frame, with Post shein above. 6 pfennige, for registered letters.

## LXXXVIII.-OLDENBURG. Oldenburg.

## A. Engraved Adhesive Stamps.

- Engraved crown and arms over large pale shield, with numbers inclosed, with labels in oblong erect frame.
   Black ink, on coloured paper. 4 schw., ½ silbergr., green; ½ thaler, blue; ½ thaler, rose; ½ thaler, yellow paper. 1852.
- 2. Engraved crown and arms in dark disk in oval frame, with number on side, and two labels in oblong erect frame. Coloured ink, on white paper. ½ groschen, orange; ½ groschen, yellow, light green; ½ groschen, brown, green.
- 3. Like 2, but crown and arms on white oval disk.

  Black ink, on coloured paper. 1 groschen, blue;
  2 groschen, rose; 3 groschen, yellow paper.
- 3.\* Like 3, coloured ink, on white paper. 1 groschen, blue; 2 groschen, rose; 3 groschen, yellow, brown.

## B. Embossed Adhesive Stamp or Envelopes.

- 4. Embossed crown and arms in oval frame, with embossed white lines, and a sunken number on side. Printed blue inscription, Post couvert, on left upper corner of stamp, 1861. ½ groschen, brown; 1 groschen, blue; 2 groschen, rose; 3 groschen, yellow.
- 4.\* Like 4, with blue printed inscription on right upper corner of stamp, 1862. ½ groschen, orange; 1 groschen, rose; 2 groschen, blue; 3 groschen, yellow.
- 5. Embossed small-sized crown and arms, in flat printed frame, with flat white lines, and a number on each side. Dentated adhesive stamps. ½ groschen, green; ½ groschen, orange; 1 groschen, rose; 2 groschen, blue; 3 groschen, brown.

## LXXXIX.-HANOVER. Hannover.

#### A. Engraved Adhesive Stamps.

 Crown and post-horn in oblong erect linear frame, with a dot at each corner. ½ groschen. Black ink, white paper.

2. Crown and number in oval frame, with label above, in oblong erect frame. Coloured ink, on plain white

paper. 3 pfennige, ein drittel silbergroschen.

2.\* Like 2, in coloured ink, on white paper, covered with coloured network. 3 pfennige, ein drittel silbergroschen.

 Crown, arms, and supporter, on top of large granulated sinuous edged shield, inclosing a number 1, with labels, in an oblong erect frame. Black ink, on coloured paper. 1 ein guttengr., grey, green paper.

3.\* Like 3, black ink, on white paper, covered with green coloured network. 1 ein guttengr., green ink.

4. Like 3, but shield uniform black. Black ink, on plain or coloured paper. thaler, ein S.G.R., crimson, rose; thaler, zwei S.G.R., blue, lilac; thaler, drei S.G.R., orange paper.

4.\* Like 4, with black ink, on coloured paper, with coloured network. 

1 thaler, ein S.G.R., lake;

1 thaler, wei S.G.R., blue;

1 thaler, drei S.G.R.,

orange, ink network.

5. Profile of King in circle, in oblong erect frame, in coloured ink on white paper. 1 groschen, rose; 2 groschen, blue; 3 groschen, brown, yellow; 10 groschen, green, above. Hanover below.

### B. Embossed Stamps for Envelopes.

6. Embossed profile of King in broad oval frame, with embossed white engine-turned pattern, a star on sides and embossed number below, line of green print on left upper angle of stamp. 1 ein groschen, green.

6.\* Like 6, with different pattern frame. 1 ein silbergro-

schen, rose.

- 7. Like 6, with different pattern in frame. 2 mei silber-groschen, blue.
- 8. Like 6, with different pattern in frame. 3 drei silber-groschen, yellow.
- 9. Like 6, but with sunken number in a raised circle on side of frame, line of green print at right upper angle of stamp. 1 ein groschen, red.
- 10. Like 9, but pattern of frame different. 2 zwei groschen, blue.
- 11. Like 9, but pattern of frame different. 3 drei groschen, yellow, brown.
- 12. Like 6, but line of print on left upper angle of stamp.

  1 ein groschen, red.
- 13. Like 12, but different pattern of frame. 2 zwei groschen,
- 14. Like 12, but frame different. 3 drei groschen, yellow.

#### XC.-HANOVER (Town).

- 1. Embossed horse, with embossed letters in circle. Bestellgeld—Frei. Green on yellow paper.
- 2. Embossed trefoil and post-horn, with embossed letters in circle. Bestellgeld—Frei. Green on yellow paper.

#### XCI.-SAXONY. Sachsen.

## A. Engraved Adhesive Stamps.

- Engraved large number (3) in square, with square frame, inscribed Drei on left, Sachsen in upper, Pfennigs on right, and Franco on lower edge, with ornaments on each corner; red ink.
- Arms in dark oval, with scroll and two labels, and number on each side, in oblong erect frame. 3 drei pfennige, green.
- Profile of King to right, in dark shaded oval, with scrolls, two labels and number on sides, in oblong erect frame, black ink, on coloured paper. 1 neu-

grosch., rose; 2 neugrosch., blue-green, blue; 3 neugrosch., white, yellow paper.

3\*. Like 3. Black ink, on white paper. 1/2 neugrosch.

- 4. Like 3, but profile to left in pale oval. Black ink on coloured paper. I neugrosch., rose; 2 neugrosch., blue; 3 neugrosch., yellow;
- Like 4, but printed in coloured ink on white paper.
   neugrosch., grey; 5 neugrosch., vermillion; 10 neugrosch., blue.

## B. Embossed Profile. Envelope Stamps.

- 6. Embossed white profile to left, in oval, inscribed frame, with embossed white lines, and sunken number on raised disk on sides above, with line of green print at left upper corner of stamp. 1 ein neugroschen, rose.
- 7. Like 6, with frame in different pattern. 2 zwei neugroschen, blue.
- 8. Like 6, with ditto. 3 drei neugroschen, yellow.
- 9. Like 6, with ditto. 5 fuenf neugroschen, lilac.
- 10. Like 6, with ditto. 10 zehn neugroschen, green.
- 11. Like 6, the line of green inscription to right of stamp.

  1 ein neugroschen, rose.
- 12. Like 11, frame different. 2 zwei neugroschen, blue.
- 13. Like 11, frame different. 3 drei neugroschen, stone.

## XCII.—MECKLENBURG. Mecklenburg-Schwerin Freimarke.

## A. Engraved Adhesive Stamps.

- Arms (bull-head decorated) in small square inscribed frame, in fours. 
   <sup>1</sup>/<sub>4</sub> schilling, red ink.
- 2. Arms and crown, in large inscribed square frame, with a number at each corner. 3 schillinge, yellow; 5 schillinge, blue ink.

#### B. Embossed Envelope Stamps.

3. Embossed white arms and crown, with embossed inscrip-

tion, on dark oval disk in oval frame, with white embossed lines, and raised number below; the red printed line on the left upper corner of stamp. 1 schilling, red.

- 4. Like 3, frame ditto. 11 schilling, green.
- 5. Like 3, frame ditto. 3 schillinge, yellow.
- 6. Like 3, frame different. 5 schillinge, blue.

## XCIII.-LUBECK. Lubeck Postmarke.

Engraved double-headed spread-eagle in lunate inscribed label, with number at angles, in oblong erect frame. Coloured ink on white paper. ½ schilling, violet; 1 schilling, orange; 2 schilling, brown; 2½ schilling, red; 4 schilling, green, black.

2. Bugle horn under shield in circle, Stadt post amt, black ink, for the city.

#### XCIV.-BREMEN. Franco-Marke.

- Engraved key in oval uniform coloured disk, with scrolls in oblong erect frame, with number in lower corner. 5 sgr., green.
- Engraved key in oval lined disk, in double-waved oval frame, with numbers in corners, in oblong erect frame. 10 sehn groten, black.
- 3. Engraved key in square shield, with crown, two labels, and number in oval frame on side, all in oblong erect frame. 5 fünf grote, red; 7 sieben grote, yellow paper.

## XCV.-BREMEN (Town). Stadt Post Amt.

- Engraved key in square shield, crown, two labels, number in oval at side, and number in corners, all in oblong erect frame.
   3, grey paper.
- 2. Hand stamped, crown and arms and Stadt post amt, Bremen, in oblong linear transverse oval frame, in

the upper; with franco on the lower left hand corner of envelope, on white or blue paper.

#### XCVI.-HAMBURG. Hamburg Postmarke.

1. Engraved number on three towers, with four labels in oblong erect frame. ½ schilling, black; 1 schilling, chocolate; 2 schilling, red; 3 schilling, blue; 4 schilling, green; 7 schilling, orange; 9 schilling, yellow ink.

## XCVII.—BERGEDORF. Bergedorf Postmarke.

- Block-printed half spread eagle and half towers, in pearled circle, in square shield, with letter at each corner in an inscribed frame, black ink. On coloured paper, different sizes. ½ schilling, blue; 1 schilling, white; 1½ schilling, yellow; 4 schillinge, rose.
- Like 1, but coloured ink, on coloured paper. 3 schillinge, rose and purple.

#### XCVIII.—DENMARK. K.G.L. Post. F.R.M.

- Engraved crown, crossed sceptre and sword in circular wreath, in square frame, inscribed K. G. L.
   Post F. R. M., with posthorn at angles; corners of
   disk granulated. 2s., blue; 4s., red; 8s., green;
   16s., violet.
- Like 1, but corners of disk with horizontal waved lines.
   4 s., brown; 8 s., green.
- Like 2, with Kongsligt Post. Frimærke at length, and fire R.B.S. in square frame, corner of disk with perpendicular waved lines, or coarse dots, brown.
- 4. Engraved profile of King in waved oblong, in square frame, 8 R. B. S. 23 sch. C. Trial stamp.
- 5. Engraved profile of Mercury in pearled circle, in inscribed square frame, 4 R. B. S. 11 sch. C. Trial stamp.

#### XCIX.-COPENHAGEN.

1. Engraved number in circular frame, inscribed K. G. L. Post Frimærke, with crown above and post-horn below, in square frame. 2 Rigsbank skilling, blue.

### C.—ST. THOMAS AND ST. CROIX. K.G.L. Post. F.R.M.

- 1. Like Danish 1. Corner granulated. 3 cents, brown.
- 2. Like Danish 1. Corners with perpendicular waved lines. 3 cents, brown, red.

## CI.—SCHLESWIG-HOLSTEIN. S.H. Post. Provisional Government, 1848.

Embossed arms on white oval disk, in body of double-headed spread-eagle, with two labels and S. H. on upper and a number on lower angles, in an oblong erect frame. 1 schilling, blue; 2 schillinge, rose.

## CII.-NORWAY. Norge Frimærke.

- Engraved arms (lion and battle-axe) and crown in circle, two inscribed labels and corner scrolls, in oblong erect frame. 4 skilling, blue.
- 2. Engraved profile in beaded circle, in inscribed oblong erect frame, with number on lower corners. 2 to skilling, yellow; 3 tree skilling, lilac; 4 fire skilling, blue; 8 otte skilling, red.

#### CIII.-SWEDEN. Sverige.

- Engraved arms (three crowns) and crown on diapered ground, in oblong erect inscribed frame, with a number in upper corners, coloured ink on white paper. 3 skill. b<sup>co</sup>., green; 4 skill. b<sup>co</sup>., blue; 6 skill. b<sup>co</sup>., brown; 8 skill. b<sup>co</sup>., yellow; 24 skill. b<sup>co</sup>., cinnamon.
- 2. Like 1, 5 öre, green; 9 öre, lilac; 12 öre, blue; 24 öre, orange; 30 öre, brown; 50 öre, red brown.

#### CIV.-STOCKHOLM. Frimarke.

- 1. Engraved Frimark fur lokalbref, in oval transverse disk, with scrolls, in oblong transverse frame. Black ink on white paper. (1 sk.)
- 2. Like 1, printed in buff-coloured ink, on white paper. (3 öre.)
- 3. Small crouching lion by arms, with crown in a glory.

  Sverige above and 3 öre below, 3 frimarke 3 on lower margin, all in oblong erect frame, buff.

## CV.-RUSSIA. Pochtovaya Marke.

## A. Engraved Dentated Adhesive Stamps.

1. Engraved white spread eagle on oval disk, in oval inscribed frame, in mantle, with crown above, with corner scrolls, a number at each corner, and inscription under the mantle, in oblong erect frame, inscription in upper and lower side of oval frame. Oval frame, outer disk, and frame of one colour. 10 kop. brown with blue disk; 20 kop., blue with red disk; 30 kop., red with blue disk.

## B. Embossed Envelope Stamp.

2. Embossed white double-headed spread eagle and crown on engine-turned ground, in inscribed circular frame on the flap of envelope, upper part of inscription coloured and flat, lower part embossed and white. 10 kop., black; 20 kop., blue; 30 kop., red ink.

#### CVI.—ST. PETERSBURG. S. P. B. Gorodskaya Pochta.

1. Hand-printed double-headed spread eagle and crown and post-horns, in circular frame, with type-printed inscription on right-hand corner of envelope. 5 kop.

#### CVII.-POLAND.

1. Engraved tri-coloured stamp, like Russia 1, but in-

- scription only on sides of oval frame, and the small oval and large oblong disk of one colour, the mantle and frames of another. 10 kop., red and blue.
- Engraved white two-beaded spread-eagle, &c., on engine-turned circular disk, in circular frame, inscribed with dark letters in upper, and pale fiat ones in lower part, on flap of envelope. Black ink. 10 kop.

## CVIII.-WARSAW. Poczta Miejska Warszawska.

1. Like Poland 2, but in blue ink, and inscription, as above, on flap of envelope. 3 kop., blue ink.

#### CIX.-FINLAND.

- Engraved arms (lion) and crown, in white oval in coloured oblong disk, in inscribed oblong erect frame.
   Value above and below. Dentated adhesive stamps.
   Coloured ink. On tinted paper. 5 kop., blue; 10 kop., red.
- 1.\* Like 1. Envelopes. On white paper. 5 kop., blue; 10 kop., red.
- Hand-printed arms and crown, with post-horn on each side, in oval erect frame, with Porto Stempel in upper part of oval disk. 10 or 20 kopek in label under lower edges of frame, for envelopes. 10 kopek, red; 20 kopek, black.

 Hand-printed arms, crown above, and post-horn below, and value on each side, in transverse oval linear frame. 5 kop., blue; 10 kop., red; 20 kop., black.

#### CX.-MOLDAVIA.

1. Wood-block, hand-printed, bull's head, star, posthorn, value, and Porto scrissorei in simple line-like oblong erect frame. In coloured ink, on white paper. 40 par., blue; 80 par., red.

2. Like 1, but *Porto gazettei*. Black ink, white paper. 3 par. For newspapers.

#### CXI.-DANUBIAN PRINCIPALITIES.

1. Wood-block, hand-printed, bull's head and star, double-headed spread-eagle, and post-horn, with Franco scrissorei and value in simple linelike oblong erect frame. Coloured ink on white paper. 30 par., blue.

2. Like 1, but Franco gazettei. 3 par., yellow; 6 par., red.

#### CXII.-LIBERIA.

1. Engraved Liberty, sitting, with ship, &c., in circle, with two labels, in a large oblong erect frame. 6 cents, red; twelve cents, blue, lilac; 24 cents, green.

#### CXIII.-SANDWICH ISLANDS. Honolulu.

- 1. Engraved portrait, with epaulettes, in inscribed oblong erect frame, with number in upper corner. Hawaiian Is., 5 cents.
- Engraved portrait, with laurels on collar, in inscribed oblong erect frame. Uku leta, above; Elua keneta, below.
- 3. Printed number in oblong erect inscribed simple frame,

  Inter Island above, Hawaiian Postage and Uku leta
  on sides. 1 cent, blue ink; 2 cents, black ink.

## CXIV.—SANDWICH ISLANDS AND UNITED STATES.

Engraved portrait, with epaulettes, like Sandwich
 Islands 1. Hawaiian, 5 cents, United States, 8 cents,
 13 cents, red ink. No longer used.

#### CXV.-UNITED STATES OF N. AMERICA.

## A. Engraved Adhesive Stamps, with U.S. Postage above.

- 1. Profile of Franklin to right, in oval, with curved label.

  One cent, blue.
- 2. Profile of Washington to left, in oval. Three cents, red.
- 3. Portrait of Washington to right. Five cents, brown.
- 4. Portrait of Washington to left, with thirteen stars above, X in upper corner. Ten cents, green.
- 5. Portrait of Washington to left. Twelve cents, black.
- 6. Portrait of Washington to right. Twenty-four cents, brown.
- 7. Profile of Washington to left, in oval frame, a shield of Washington's arms at each corner. Thirty cents, red.
- 8. Portrait of Jackson, in oblong frame. Ninety cents, blue.

## B. Engraved Adhesive Stamps, with Number in upper and U.S. in lower corner.

- 9. Profile of Franklin to right, in oval frame, with U.S. Postage above. One cent, blue.
- 10. Profile of Washington to left, in oblong frame. Three cents, red.
- 11. Portrait of Washington to left, in oval frame. Five cents, brown.
- 12. Portrait of Washington to left, in oval frame, with three groups of stars on margin. *Ten cents*, green.
- 13. Portrait of Washington to left, in oval frame. Twelve cents, black.
- 14. Portrait of Washington to right, in six-sided frame.

  Twenty-four cents, brown.
- 15. Profile of Franklin to left, in circle. Thirty cents, orange.
- Portrait of Jackson in oval inscribed frame. Ninety cents, blue.

- C. Engraved Adhesive Stamps, with U.S. in upper and Number in lower corner.
- 17. Portrait of Franklin to left, in oval frame. Post Office.

  Five cents, brown.
- 18. Portrait of Washington to right, in oval frame. Ten cents, green.
  - D. Engraved Oblong Transverse Adhesive Stamps.
- 19. Eagle at bay, in oval frame, inscribed *U.S.P.O. Despatch* on upper part, surrounded by a wreath, in oblong transverse frame. *Prepaid One cent*, blue.
  - E. Embossed Envelope or Cover Stamps.
- 20. Profile of Franklin to left, in oval frame, inscribed U.S. Postage below, and a star on side. 1 cent, blue, on yellow or white paper.
- 21. Like 20, profile of Washington to left. One cent, red, on white or yellow paper.
- 22. Profile of Washington to left, in broad oval frame, with flat printed white-edged letters and an embossed number on side, *United States* above, and *Six Cents* below, red; *Three Cents* below, red.
- 23. Profile of Washington to left, in inscribed erect oval frame, with U.S. Postage below, large number on side, inclosed in oval transverse frame. One coloured ink. 3 cents, red; 6 cents, blue and red; 10 cents, green.
- 24. Like 23. Two coloured inks. 12 cents, brown and red; 20 cents, blue and red; 24 cents, green and red; 40 cents, red and black.

#### CXVI.-NEW YORK.

Engraved profile to left, in frame, with New York Post
Office above, in large oblong erect frame. 5 cents.

#### CXVII.-CONFEDERATE STATES OF AMERICA.

- Engraved portrait of Jefferson Davis to right, in oval disk, with Confederate States on its upper part, with florid ornament at angles. Postage above, and five cents below, in large oblong erect frame. 5 cents, green.
- 1.\* Like 1, oval disk, with transverse lines. Five cents, green, blue.
- 2. Engraved portrait of Colquhoun to right, in circle, in oblong erect frame, with Confederate States in its upper margin. One cent, red.
- 3. Like 2, but portrait of Jefferson Davis. Five cents, blue.
- 4. Engraved portrait of General Beauregard to right, in oval, with Confederate States in upper, and of America in lower edge, with number (10) in angles and Postage ten cents, in upper and lower margin. Red or blue ink.

There are some stamps in circulation among the French dealers which they profess to belong to the Confederate States, but the imitators seem never to have seen the original stamps.

The army of the Confederate States are said to issue stamps as they occupy the towns, &c.

## CXVIII.-BRAZILS. (Value in Millries.)

- 1. Roman number of large size, with curls, in transverse oval frame, ornamented on upper and lower edges; in linear oblong transverse frame, 30, 60, 90, black ink.
- 2. Italian number, in oblong transverse frame, with angle arched out. 10, 30, 60, 90, 180, 300, 600, black ink.
- 3. Narrow high Roman number, of small size, in a nearly uniform netted ground, in oblong transverse frame. 100, 300, black.
- 4. Like 3, but numbers shorter and broader, and the ground

of the stamp is shaded with darker concentrically waved lines, the corner paler. Black ink, 10, 30, 60, 90, 180, 300, 600.

4.\* Like 4, blue ink, 10, 30. For newspapers.

5. Roman number of small size, in engine-turned sinuated oval disk, with sinuated oval frame in transverse oblong frame, with horizontal lines at angles. 280, red; 430, yellow.

The stamps are used as seals over the flap of the envelopes; they are, therefore, often overlooked by our Post Offices.

#### CXIX.-CHILI. Chile.

1. Engraved profile of Columbus and Colon Chile on circular disk, with Correos Porte Franco above, and value below, in oblong erect frame. 1 centavo, yellow; 5 centavos, red, brown, black; 10 centavos, blue; 20 centavos, green.

## CXX.-MEXICO. Mejico.

- 1. Engraved portrait in oval frame, with Correos Mejico above, in scroll frame, in oblong erect frame, Printed in coloured ink, on white paper. ½ reale, blue; 1 un real, yellow; 2 dos reales, green; 4 reales, 8 ocho reales, violet.
- 2. Like 1, printed in black ink, on coloured paper. 1, 1, 2, 4, 8, reales.
- 3. Like 1, printed in coloured ink, on coloured paper. \$\frac{1}{2}\$, blue, 1, yellow, 2, , 4, green, 8 reales, violet.

N.B. Each State stamp is marked on the edge of the stamps, Mexico, Mazetlan, &c.

#### CXXI.-PERU. Correos Porte Franco.

1. Engraved arms in shield, with wreath above laurels on sides, in circle, in square white disk, with

- inscribed frame formed of double lines, value on lower edge, letters large. Un Dinero, blue.
- Like 1, letter smaller, disk shaded, frame of double lines. Un Dinero, blue.
- 3. Like 2, disk shaded, frame of single lines. Un Dinero, blue.
- Like 1, arms with two flags on each side, value below, disk white, frame of two lines, letters large. Una Peseta, red.
- Like 4, disk shaded, letter small, frame two lines. Una Peseta, red.
- Like 1, disk shaded, letters small, frame of single line. Una Peseta, red.
- 7. Like 1, but with Correos in lower, and value on right side of square frame. Medio Peso, or 50 centavos.
- 8. Embossed arms, with laurels in white circular disk, with four arched inscribed printed labels, in square frame, value on lower edge. Un Dinero, black; una Peseta blue. (?)

# CXXII.—GRANADA CONFEDERATION. Confed. Granadina.

- Arms on shield, inclosed in circle in an octagonal oblong erect broad frame, inscribed Confed. Granadina, Correos nacionales above and sides, and value below, with small number of value in disk above and below the circle. 2½ cents 2½; 5 cents 5; 10 cents 10; 20 cents 20.
- 2. Similar to 1, but with larger number of value above and below the circular disk, and frame narrower. 2½ cent. 2½; 5 cent. 5; 10 cent. 10; 20 cent. 20.
- 3. Similar to 2, but without any number above or below the circular disk. 1 Peso 1, red.

#### CXXIII.—NEW GRANADA. Estados Unidos de Nueva Granada.

Engraved arms, with nine stars in oval frame, inscribed Estados Unidos de Nueva Granada, in large oblong erect frame, inscribed Correos Nacionales. In coloured ink. 2½ centavos, black; 5 centavos, yellow; 10 centavos, blue; 20 centavos, red; 1 peso, rose.

## CXXIV.—COLUMBIA. Estados Unidos de Colombia.

- Engraved arms in shield, with oak leaves on each side, and 9 stars above, on white ground, in eight-sided frame, inscribed E. U. de Colombia, correos Nacionales. 10 cent., blue ink.
- 2. Engraved arms in circle, on wavy ground, frame inscribed E.U. de Colombia, correos Nacionales. 10 cent., blue; 20 cent., rose; 50 cent., green.

## CXXV.—VENEZUELA.

- Engraved arms with cornucopiæ above and plants on sides. Correo de Venezuela in two lines above and three labels below, on a lined ground, in small oblong erect frame. On white paper. Medio real, yellow; un real, blue; dos reales, red.
- 1.\* Like 1. On bluish paper. Medio real, yellow; un real, blue; dos reales, blue.
- 2. Like 1, but Correo de Venezuela in one line, and the ground not shaded, in larger frame. Cuarto centavo, green; medio centavo, lilac; un centavo, purple.

#### CXXVI.—PARAGUAY.

 Engraved lion and cap of liberty, in dark erect oval, with oval frame, inscribed: Re del Paraguay, Correo, in white letters below, in oblong erect frame, with stars in angles. Blue, green, red, black, yellow, and violet ink.

#### CXXVII.-NICARAGUA.

 Engraved view of mountains, with cap of liberty and a tree, in oblong transverse frame, inscribed Correo Nicaragua, Porte, with a number in each corner. 5 cinco centavos 5, black ink.

# CXXVIII.—ARGENTINE CONFEDERATION. Confe. Argentina.

- 1. Engraved head surrounded by a glory, and arms holding a cap of liberty, with Confe<sup>on</sup> Argentina above in a rather large oblong white disk, in machicolated frame. 5 centar., red; 10 centar., green; 15 centar., blue.
- 1.\* Like 1. Border, narrower, and figure of value larger.
   5 centav., red.
- 2. Engraved head to left Corrientes above. 1 reals m. c., blue paper.

# CXXIX.—ARGENTINE REPUBLIC. Republica Argentina.

 Engraved arms in oval, with man's head in glory above and wreath below, surrounded by a circular frame, inscribed Republica Argentina, in an oblong erect frame. 5 centavos, rose; 10 centavos, green; 15 centavos, blue.

#### CXXX.-BUENOS AYRES. Buenos Aires.

- 1. Coarsely engraved profile of Liberty, in a circle with scroll corners, in an oblong transverse frame, inscribed Correos Franco Buenos Aires. 4 reales, green; 1 peso red, blue; 2 pesos, scarlet.
- Coarsely engraved steam ship in oval, in transverse oblong frame, inscribed Correos above, Buenos Aires below, and value and franco, on sides. 1 peso, brown, blue; 2 pesos, blue; 3 pesos, green; 4 pesos, red brown; 5 pesos, yellow, blue, brown.

#### CXXXI.-MONTE-VIDEO.

- 1. Engraved head, surrounded by rays in pale circle, in oblong transverse frame, inscribed Correo Montevideo in small letters, value once in large figures, and a star at angles. 60 centesimos, pink, brown; 80 centesimos, orange; 100 centesimos, brown, rose, red; 120 centesimos, blue; 180 centesimos, green; 240 centesimos, red.
- 2. Like 1, inscription in large letters, value twice in figures, and four dots at each angle. 120 centavos, blue; 180 centavos, green.



#### USEFUL WORKS

PUBLISHED BY

## ROBERT HARDWICKE,

192, PICCADILLY, W.

In Monthly parts, at 5s. from Jan. 1, 1863. Each part contains 24 pages of plates and an average of 24 pages of letter-press. To be completed in about 66 parts.

## Sowerby's English Botany:

Containing a description and drawing of every British Plant; Life Size, full-coloured by hand, with Illustrations of the Organs. Edited and brought up to the present standard of scientific knowledge by T. Boswell Syme, F.L.S.,&c., Lecturer on Botany at Charing-Cross and Westminster Hospitals. With Popular Descriptions of the Uses, History, and Traditions of each Plant, by Mrs. LANKESTER, author of "Wild Flowers worth Notice," "The British Ferns," &c. The Figures by James Sowerby, F.L.S., J. De C. Sowerby, F.L.S., J. E. Sowerby and J. W. Salter, A.L.S.

The Distinctive Characteristics of this edition are.

- 1. A life-size drawing of every British plant, arranged according to the natural system of De Candolie.
- 2. Where necessary, the plates are accompanied by illustrations of the structure of the various organs of the plant, especially those structures discovered within the last few years by the use of the microscope.
- 3. All the illustrations are full-coloured, instead of half-coloured, as in the second edition; and the utmost care is taken to adhere as closely as possible to nature.

Specimens may be had gratis on application.

#### A few Copies of the Second Edition, 12 Vols. can still be had.

	£.	8.	d.	
Vol. 1 to 7 Flowering Plants	10	10	0	
Vol. 8 to 12 Cryptogamia	9	10	0	
The Complete Set	15	0	0	

Illustrated by more than 260 Woodcuts, price 1s.; bound, 1s. 6d.

# A Manual of Structural Botany.

By M. C. COOKE, Author of "Seven Sisters of Sleep," &c.

"Condensed, yet clear, comprehensive, but brief, it affords to the learner a distinct view."—Globe.

"This excellent little volume was more particularly intended for the use of students in the Botanical Classes established for operatives, into whose hands it was most desirable to place some written record of the lessons they were attending; but its usefulness is by no means limited to such readers, as it forms one of the very best as well as simplest and most comprehensive introductions to Botany we have ever met with. Every difficult scientific word—those great stumbling-blocks to beginners—is not only explained, but well illustrated by a woodcut introduced in the text, so that any misunderstanding of what is meant is rendered impossible, and the learner takes in the lesson doubly enforced: taught, that is, to both mind and eye at once. .... We are confidently able to recommend the little volume to public favour, its very low price (1s.) bringing it within the range of all purchasers."—Era.

Fcap. 8vo. cloth, price 2s. 6d.

# A Manual of Botanic Terms.

By M. C. COOKE. With more than 300 Illustrations.

"We do not hesitate to say that by a careful use of this book a sound knowledge of the theoretical portion of Botany may be obtained without tedious labour."—Mining Journal.

"This elegant little volume will be a welcome boon to all botanical students. It contains intelligible descriptions of all the terms used in botanical science, with a collection of brautifully-executed illustrations at the end of the volume. To all who do not, but are willing to know the full meaning of such terms as Campylospermous, Sterigmate, and Perichetium, this volume may be safely recommended."—Critic.

"This book affords special facilities for the acquisition of the technicalities of branical science to such as are not already masters of the dead languages. It is illustrated by numerous explanatory diagrams."—The Dial.

Handsomely bound, price One Guinea. A Large Edition, without descriptive letter-press, One Guinea.

#### The Fern Collector's Album.

A Descriptive Folio for the reception of Natural Specimens; containing on the right-hand page a description of each fern printed in colours, the opposite page being left blank, for the collector to affix the dried specimen; forming, when filled, an elegant and complete collection of this interesting family of plants.

Size of the Small Edition, 11% by 8% in.; Large Edition, 17% by 11 in.

Fcap. 8vo. price 6s.

## The British Fungi

(A plain and Easy Account of). With especial reference to the Esculent and other Economic Species. By M. C. COOKE. With Coloured Plates of 40 Species.

- "The author is a thorough mycophagist, well acquainted with the peculiar features by which the most remarkable of the edible kinds of Fungi may be known."— Gardener's Chronicle.
- "A very readable volume upon the lowest and least generally understood race of plants. For popular purposes the book could not have been better done."—Athenaeum.
- "This is a very commendable little book. In the work before us we find associated accurate scientific knowledge, full and satisfactory illustration by coloured lithography and woodcuts, and ample and interesting information."—Lancet.
- "The book is a very useful one, supplying, for a few shillings, information not hitherto attainable except at a much larger cost."—Field.
- "The author of this, at present, the only work written to popularise the study of Fungi, has produced a remarkably neat and well illustrated hand-book to this tribe of plants."—Parthenon.

Fully illustrated, price 4s. coloured by hand; 2s. 6d. plain.

### The British Ferns

(A plain and Essy Account of). Together with their Classification, Arrangement of Genera, Structure, and Functions, Directions for Out-door and In-door Cultivation, &c. By Mrs. Lancester.

- "Not only plain and easy, but elegantly illustrated."-Athensum.
- "Mrs. Lankester has given us a handy pocket volume, with a great deal of information about the uses, supposed and real, of the Ferns, and hints for their cultivation."—Geografian.
- "A charming little guide to one of the pleasantest of quiet country amusements. It is small, cheap, elegant in form, and illustrated with coloured plates. Its description blends popular with scientific information; there are instructions for drying and collecting, and a glossary of scientific terms. The work is one that may be used by a lady without any previous training as a botanist. It is elegant enough to lie on a drawing-room table, small and light enough to be carried about without trouble in bag or pocket, and referred to by the heath side."—Examiner.
- "Mrs. Lankester thoroughly understands how to make her science bend graceiully to common comprehension."—Era.

Price 2s. 6d.: the same in Case without Description, price 2s.

### Twelve British Ferns;

Being dried netural Specimens; Named, Arranged, and Described. By JOACHIM OTTE, F.G.S.

Fcap. 810. cloth, coloured by hand, 4s. : plain, 2s. 6d.

#### Wild Flowers worth Notice.

A selection from the British Flora of some of our native plants which are most attractive for their Beauty, Uses, or Associations. Mrs. LANKESTER. Illustrated by J. E. Sowerby.

"Not a botanical treatise, but a practical minister to a growing taste, the parent of new pleasures and improved habits; an intelligent companion of healthful strolls through aylvan glades."-Morning Post.

"We can assure our readers that Mrs. Lankester's accounts of her favourite plants are well worth their best attention, and her little bits of folk lore and general information are introduced with what we should consider great artistic skill, but that she writes so easily and naturally, that no deliberate effort seems to have been made. We should say especially that any one who wishes to thoroughly enjoy the flowers of their neighbourhood will do well to purchase 'Wild Flowers worth Notice.' It is a little book that teaches a great deal, and in so pleasant a way, that to be wearied in impossible."-Era.

"We heartily recommend this exceedingly pretty little volume to the large class who delight in flowers, whether in the field or in the garden, but who, deterred by its innumerable 'words of learned length and thundering sound,' decline to enter on the study of botany as a science. They will find nearly one hundred wild flowers, such as they meet with in any walk, so accurately represented in colours by Mr. Sowerby, that the recognition will be a pleasure instead of a difficulty, and so agreeably described by the authoress, that a new pleasure is imparted to even such well-known plants as buttercups and daisies."—Gentleman's Magazine.

"We are so frequently asked by our country friends to recommend books on Flowers and Ferns that shall be interesting without being too scientific, that we are heartily glad to have the opportunity of so doing which the present elegant but cheap little volume affords."—Practical Furmers' Chronicle.

"It must not be supposed that Mrs. Lankester only deals with botanical facts; she has much legendary lore to relate, and many curious anecdotes to tell; so that, whether regarded as a handbook for a country walk, or as a volume for perusal in the library, 'Wild Flowers worth Notice' is equally acceptable.' - Shipping and Mercantile Gazette.

"We could while away a long summer day talking of the pleasant things auggested by this little book. Although all intelligent persons cannot become botanists, not to know the wild flowers of our country is to be ignorant both of our country and ourselves. And this little book will, as a pocket companion during holiday ramblesthe descriptions and plates being both good-destroy this ignorance in reference to at least a hundred plants. After mastering it, the student will be not a little astounded at his own learning, when he surveys it in the systematic chapter of contents."-Athenœum.

"A graceful little volume. The reader may be surprised to find how many flowers are properly considered wild, although they are constantly seen in cultivation. Mrs. Lankester's list comprises about a hundred, from the domestic poppy to the stately water-lily; and each has its own portrait, carefully drawn and coloured from life, by a most painataking and affectionate artist. It is the very book for an autumn ramble." -- Illustrated Times, Second Edition, much improved and enlarged. Icay. 8vo. price 2e. 6d. Fully illustrated.

#### Old Bones.

Or, Notes for Young Naturalists. By the Rev. W. S. SYMONDS, Rector of Pendock, Author of "Stones of the Valley," &c.

"Although modest in its plan, it is a very superior work-broad, exact, sufficiently explained by well-chosen examples, and amply illustrated."-Daily News.

"A small manual of palecontology, very carefully compiled, and likely to be very useful to those who have not the means to purchase or icisure to read Professor Owen's larger works."-Speciator.

"A well written and admirably illustrated manual for the student of natural history, and one which will no doubt become extensively popular."—Literary Gazette.
"Beautifully got up, judiciously condensed, and artistically arranged; to say nothing of its literary ability, which certainly beapeaks a close and shrewd observer."

The plan pursued by Mr. Symonds is a very simple one. He adopts the classification of Professor Owen, and carries the young naturalist from family to family, beginning with man and ending with the lowest fishes, making his own remarks as he goes on. We recommend these notes. The volume is neatly got up, and deserves a sale amongst the class for whom it is intended."- Athenæum.

"Young naturalists cannot do better than possess themselves of a copy of 'Old It is the work of an ardent lover of nature, with a mind richly stored with

knowledge and high scientific acquirement."- Edinburgh Witness.

"The pleasing and highly-interesting style of Mr. Symonda's work is such, that no sooner is its perusal commenced, than the reader becomes gradually and imper-ceptibly entwined in the beauties of the subject, and willingly continues his course, until at last, upon reaching the concluding pages of the work, he finds that he has attained so complete a knowledge of the principles of one of the most interesting sciences, that he will feel an irresistible desire to pursue his studies to the highest possible point. We can unhesitatingly say that, from no work upon the subject which we have seen will an equal amount of information be obtained so entirely without labour, and in so short a time."-Mining Journal.

"A very useful little work, well calculated to afford information to the student of

natural history."-Observer.

"We cannot conclude without recommending all with whom we have influence to purchase this wonderfully cheap and yet elegantly illustrated little volume."-

Practical Farmers' Chronicle.

"To such of our readers as may be dabbling in the science, or may wish to have such a general knowledge of its outlines and acquaintance with its nomenclature as may enable them to take some interest in the many ways in which it meets them in their literature or social intercourse of the day, we cordially recommend the book. It is the work of a writer at once elequent and accentific—a scientific man who has worked up his knowledge, not by manuals or short cuts, but by hard, practical, patient investigation of the thing which he describes, -a clergyman, who has studied nature without ever losing sight of nature's God."-Church Review.

Post 8vo. numerous illustrations, price 1s.

# Photographs for the Magic Lantern;

How to Take and How to Show them. By SAMUEL HIGHLEY, F.G.S., F.C.S., &c. Being the subject matter of two Lectures delivered before the Photographic Society of London, and the Society of Arts, January, 1863.

Complete in cloth, price 2s. 6d.

# Prof. Huxley's Lectures "On the Origin of Species."

1. The Present Condition of Organic Nature.—2. The Past Condition of Organic Nature.—3. The Method by which the Causes of the Present and Past Conditions of Organic Nature are to be discovered. The Origination of Living Beings.—4. The Perpetuation of Living Beings, Hereditary Transmission, and Variation.—5. The Condition of Existence as affecting the Perpetuation of Living Beings.—6. A Critical Examination of the Position of Mr. Darwin's Work "On the Origin of Species," in relation to the complete Theory of the Causes of the Phenomena of Organic Nature.

"Beaders who cannot accept Mr. Darwin's doctrines and conclusions will still be delighted with these lectures, since they embody so much curious information and so many important principles of biological science, expressed so clearly as to render the book, even to readers possessing scarcely any previous knowledge of the subject, not only intelligible but more interesting than any romance." — Weidon's Register.

Price 2s. 6d.

## Landscape Photography.

Or, Complete and Easy Description of the Manipulations and Apparatus necessary for the production of Landscape Pictures, Geological Sections, &c., by the Calotype, Wet Collodion, Collodio-Albumen, Albumen-gelatine, and Wax-paper processes; by the assistance of which, an Amateur may at once commence the art. By JOACHIM OTTÉ, F.G.S.

"To the commencing amateur the book seems very well adapted, and to one who wishes to practise photography as an amusement or an adjunct to any other pursuit,

it may be cordially recommended."-Literary Gazette.

Demy 8vo. cloth, price 12s.

# The True Figure and Dimensions of the Earth.

Newly determined from the results of geodetic measurements and pendulum observations; compared with the corresponding theoretical elements, for the first time deduced upon purely geometrical principles; and considered both with reference to the progress of scientific truth, and as bearing upon the practical interests of British commerce and navigation; in a Letter addressed to George Biddell Airy, Esq., M.A., Astronomer Royal. By Johannes von Gumpach. Second edition, entirely recast, with thirty illustrative diagrams.

Third Edition, much enlarged, with full description of the various parts of the Instrument, price 2s. 6d. plain; 4s. coloured.

# Half-hours with the Microscope.

By Edwin Lankester, M.D. Illustrated by 250 Drawings from Nature by Tuffen West.

CONTENTS.

Half-an-hour on Structure. Half-an-hour in the Garden. Half-an-hour in the Country. Half-an-hour at the Pond-side. Half-an-hour at the Seaside. Half-an-hour In-doors.

Appendix.-The Preparation and Mounting of Objects.

"This wonderful anatomy of sight divides clearly one blood corpuscle from another; marks distinction from the blood of a fowl and that of a frog; separates the filaments of the finest plants; delineates the bearded hair of the sowthistle; makes a picture of vine or potato blight; pries into the hollow cells of the passion flower; and searches the warm depths of the poppy. Then it dignifies into isolation the minutest hair on the ear of a mouse, the mouth of a flea, the fang of a spider, the eye of a fly, the smallest particle that goes to make up a drift of swandown. Elementary Manuals of Science are seldom so well adapted to please, no less than The compiler of the volume has this conspicuous merit, that he deals with wonders, and never exaggerates them."-Athenæum.

"The beautiful little volume before us cannot be otherwise than welcome. It is in fact, a very complete manual for the amateur microscopiat . . . . The 'Half-Hours' are filled with clear and agreeable descriptions, whilst eight plates, executed with the most beautiful minuteness and sharpness, exhibit no less than 250 objects with the utmost attainable distinctness."—Critic.

"It is a most interesting study only to observe how Nature in her smallest productions, developes the figures as well as the organization by which the functions of the largest animals and vegetable creations are performed. But the botanist, the physiologist, the zoologist, the anatomist, the geologist, and the chemist, may derive assistance from this book in accomplishing their several pursuits, and exploring the secret springs of the operations which they manipulate."—Morning Post.

"Contains some good advice as to the choice of specimens for examination, with a view of gaining an insight into the structure of plants and animals, and of turning a pleasant amusement into an interesting study. The collected specimens of natural objects are carefully described and illustrated by plates on a magnified scale. To such as are beginning the study, we can recommend this manual as a useful

guide."- Economist.

Demy 8vo. price 6d.

## The Mechanics of the Heavens;

And the new Theories of the Sun's Electro-Magnetic and Repulsive Influence: a Paper submitted to the British Association, at Cambridge, with Notes and Postscript. By JAMES REDDIE, Author of Vis Inertiæ; or, Fallacies affecting Science.

Demy 8vo.

# On Atmospheric Electricity.

By REUBEN PHILLIPS.

#### PUBLICATIONS OF THE RAY SOCIETY.

8vo. pp. 498. Printed for the year 1844, 7s. 6d.

Reports on the Progress of Zoology and Botany.

Translated by H. E. STRICKLAND, Jun., Esq., M.A., F.R.S; E. LANKESTER, M.D., F.R.S.; and W. B. Machonald, Esq., B.A.

8vo. pp. 680. Printed for the year 1847, 7s. 6d.

Reports on the Progress of Zoology.

Translated from the German by GEO. BUSE, Esq., F.R.S.; A. H. HALIDAY, Esq.; and ALPRED TULE, Esq.

8vo. pp. 414. Printed for the year 1849, 7s. 6d.

Reports and Papers on Vegetable Physiology, and Botanical Geography.

Edited by A. HENFREY, Esq., F.R.S. Three plates.

10s. 6d.

Oken's Elements of Physio-Philosophy.

Translated from the German by ALPERD TULE, Esq.

8vo. Vols. I. pp. 502; II. pp. 492; III. pp. 657; IV. pp. 604. 24.

Bibliographia Zoologiæ et Geologiæ.

By Professor Agassiz, of Neufchatel. Edited by Hugh E. Strickland, Esq., M.A., F.R.S.

Two plates. 800, pp. 502, 7s. 6d.

Letters of John Ray.

Edited by E. LANKESTER, M.D., F.R.S.

800. pp. 364. £1. 1s.

British Entomostracous Crustacea.

A Monograph, with 36 plates (most of them coloured), of all the species of the. By Dr. Bared, F.L.S. 8vo. pp. 100. 10s. 6d.

British Angiocarpous Lichens.

A Monograph of the. With 30 coloured plates. By the Rev. W. A. LEIGRTON, M.A.

800. Vol. I. pp. 400, 10 plates, 16s.; Vol. II. pp. 684, 30 plates, 261. 6s.

Cirripedia.

A Monograph of the family. By C. DARWIN, Esq., M.A., F.R.S.

800. pp. 568. 12s.

Botanical and Physiological Memoirs.

Including BRAUN on Rejuvenescence in Nature. With 6 plates, coloured.

#### Publications of the Ray Society-continued.

Imp. 4to. pp. 119. £1. 11s. 6d.

British Fresh-water Polyzoa.

A Monograph of the. By Professor ALLMAN, F.R.S. With 11 plates (10 coloured).

Imp. 4to. pp. 100. £1. 11s. 6d.

Recent Foraminifera of Great Britain.

A Monograph of the. By Professor WILLIAMSON. With 7 plates.

Imp. 4to. pp. 141. £1. 11s. 6d.

Oceanic Hydrozoa.

On the. By Professor HUXLEY, F.R.S. With 12 plates.

800. pp. 230. 7s. 6d.

Memorials of John Ray.

Consisting of the Life of John Ray, by DERHAM; the Biographical Notice of Ray, by Baron Cuvier and M. Dupetit Thouass, in the Biographe Universelle; Life of Ray, by Sir J. E. Smith; the Itineraries of Ray, with Notes by Messrs. Rabington and Yarrel, Edited by Edwin Lancertee, M.D., F.R.S. Frontispiece.

800. pp. 494. 7s. 6d.

Reports and Papers on Botany.

Consisting of Translations from the German; translated by W. B. MACHONALB, Esq., B.A.; G. Busk, Esq., F.R.S.; ARTHUR HENFREY, Esq., F.R.S.; and J. Hunson, Esq., B.M. Seven plates.

8vo. pp. 423, 10s. 6d.

Meyen's Geography of Plants.

Translated from the German by Miss MARGARET JOHNSTON.

Imp. 4to. pp. 136. 158.

Burmeister on the Organization of Trilobites.

With 6 plates; translated from the German, and edited by Professors BELL and E. FOREES.

Imp. 4to. £1. 1s.

A Synopsis of the British Naked-eyed Pulmograde Medusæ.

With 13 coloured plates, drawings of all the species, by Professor E. Fornes, P.R.S.

British Nudibranchiate Mollusca.

A Monograph of the (with coloured drawings of every species). By Measrs. ALDER and HANCOCK.

Part I. Imp.	410. £1	10	0	Part	v.	£1	10 0
Part II.*		10		,,	VI.	1	1 0
,, III.	1	10	0	,,,	VII.	1	1 0
IV.	1	10	0				

\* The Second Part is now reprinted.

#### Publications of the Ray Society-continued.

Folio, price £1. 11s. 6d.

The British Spiders.

A History of the Spiders of Great Britain and Ireland. By JOHN BLACKWALL, F.L.S. Part I. with 110 Examples, coloured by hand.

In 1 vol. imp. 4to. pp. 319, with 22 Plates £1. 11s. 6d.

Introduction to the Study of the Foraminifera.

By W. B. CARPENTER, M.D., F.R.S., F.L.S., &c.; assisted by W. K. PARRER, Esq., and T. RUPERT JONES, Esq., F.G.S.

In 1 vol. 8vo. c'oth, pp. 506, with 65 Plates. £1. 5s. 6d.

On the Germination, Development, and Fructification of the Higher Cryptogamia, and on the Fructification of the Coniferæ.

By Dr. WILHELM HOPMEISTER. Translated by FREDERICK CURREY, M.A., F.R.S., Sec. L.S.

Crown 8vo. cloth, price 7s. 6d., with Illustrations from Nature by Tuffen West.

# On Diseases of the Kidney and Dropsy.

By S. J. GOODFELLOW, M.D., F.R.C.P., Physician to the Middlesex Hospital.

"A whole profession is elevated when such creditable works are produced by any one of its members."—DobelPs Lectures.

"The work cannot fail to prove exceedingly instructive, either to the student or to those members of the profession who have not had an opportunity of keeping up their knowledge of the various discoveries which have been made of late years in renal pathology and therapeutics. . . . A very good digest of all that is known of any practical value upon the subject; and at the same time forms an excellent guide to enable the practitioner to discriminate the different forms of 'Bright's disease' during life, and thereby put him in a position to conduct the treatment on the anundest principles."—Glasgow Medical Journal.

"To the student who desires to know what possible or presumable explanations can at present be suggested of the origin of the various units in the complex series of morbid states therein included, Dr. Goodfellow's work may be recommended."—Lancet.

"We cannot but recommend it strongly to the profession as the result of thoroughly conscientious hard work, embodied in a form very interesting to the intelligent reader."—London Medical Review.

Demy 8vo. price 5s.

# Prevention of Consumption

(Practical Observations on the); with Statistical Tables of the Prevalence of the Disease, and of the comparative Salubrity of various Places. By JOHN HOGG, M.D.

"Dr. Hogg appears to have bestowed much attention and thought much upon the causes and bygienic treatment of pulmonary tuberculosis. He strives to show that whilst deep and earnest study has been devoted to the ctiology and pathology of the disease, to the nature and quality of tubercle, to the composition of the blood and of all the secretions of the body, its preventive treatment has not engaged the attention of physiologists as much as the importance of the subject demands. Dr. Hogg's work will afford the inquirer much valuable statistical information, and many hygienic hiuts in connection with pulmonary tuberculosis."—Lancet.

Crown 8vo. cloth, price 2s. 6d.

# The Gastric Regions, and the Victualling Department.

By AN OLD MILITIA SURGEON. The whole outward and inward man, from the crown of his head to the corns on his little toes, all tell the sad tale of the Gastric Regions' Wrongs.

"This is a most useful, and by no means a dull or heavy book. . . . The Old Militia Surgeon gives some most useful advice, in a pleasant practical manner, respecting different varieties of food and their effects upon the system."—Observer.

"It is a treatise full of sense and reason, and well worth reading and study."— Weekly Dispatch.

"A capital chapter on what to eat and drink."—Atlas.

"A copy of this little volume would be a very appropriate companion to the Manual of Drill, which is, of course, the vade-mecum of every rightly-constituted rifleman." United Service Gazette.

Svo. price 2s.

# The Health of the Royal Navy Considered.

In a Letter to the Right Hon. Sir John S. Pakington, Bart., by Gavin Milroy, M.D., F.R.C.P., Medical Inspector under the Board of Health from 1849 to 1854, Medical Commissioner to Jamaica in 1851, and Member of the Sanitary commission to the Army in the East in 1855-56.

Fcap. 8vo. cloth, price 1s.

# The Influence of Railway Travelling on Public Health.

From the Lancet.

"We strongly recommend the work to all who are connected with the management of railways, or in the habit of travelling by them. The mass of evidence goes to prove that whilst the actual danger of life in travelling by rail is comparatively small, that to health is, from various causes, considerable. But for the discussion of these and their remedies, we must refer the reader to the book itself."—Dispatch.

Bound in Leather.

## Mangnall's Questions, Complete, 1s.

The Cheap Edition of this valuable School Book is now ready. It has been carefully revised and brought up to the present time. It is well printed and strongly bound.

"Published in a compact form, neatly bound, and being condensed without being abridged, comes before us in a greatly-improved form. Few books contain so much information in so small a space."—Portsmouth Guardian.

"A new edition, published at a small cost, of one of the best of our standard school-books; shridged from the general work, but not rendered less useful, as the curtailment has not decreased the number of questions, but merely got rid of superfluous descriptions."—Plymouth Herald.

"A most useful book for adults to refresh their memory. The present edition has been brought down to the present time, and includes a short biography of the Duke of Wellington, Sir Robert Peel, Lord Raglan, and others."—Portsmouth Times.

"This popular achool-book is here presented in a condensed rather than an abridged form, and with many marked improvements, at the low price of is.; it will no doubt come into general use."—Kent Herald.

"'Mangnall's Questions,' arranged as they are here, form one of the most useful school-books we have seen."—Sherborne Journal.

"A very good edition."-Cambridge Chronicle.

"To those engaged in tuition, and to many others, the work will be found highly useful."-Windsor Express.

"To praise this work is superfluous, since its merits are so widely known. The present edition is well got up in every respect."—Shrewsbury Journal.

"This is a cheap and improved edition of a valuable manual, for which we predict a decided preference over many other rudimental educational works of this class. An exceedingly welcome companion to all intrusted with the office of tutor."—Taunton Courier.

""Mangnall's Questions' are amongst the most familiar and well-worn steps to knowledge. The edition issued by Mr. Hardwicke shows a reduction in bulk, but has been augmented in comprehensiveness."—Brighton Examiner.

""Manguall's Questions' have long since taken their place in the middle-class schools of the country, and the only ground on which they can ever be ejected is, that the lapse of time renders them defective or obsolete. Continued and careful editorship is therefore necessary; and this editorship the present edition has received."—Sunderland Times.

8vo. price 1s.

## Vegetable Charcoal.

Its Medicinal and Economic properties, with practical remarks on its use in chronic affections of the Stomach and Bowels. By JAMES BIRD, M.R.C.S.

# Hardwicke's Elementary Books. PRICE TWOPENCE EACH.

UNDER the above title is presented to the Public a complete Library of Elementary Works adapted for the use of the People.

Thousands of people at present skilled as handicraftsmen, and as workers in the various arts and sciences of life, work from day to day, plodding on with some vague notion that they can improve their own particular calling; but it generally ends in nothing, because they are ignorant of the first principles of those laws which regulate the things in which they are engaged. It is a very rare occurrence to meet with workmen who know anything beyond what they picked up in their apprenticeship, or obtained by imitating others more skilled than themselves.

It will be the aim of HARDWICKE'S ELEMENTARY BOOKS to teach these first principles.

No labour or expense will be spared to make the information of a thoroughly reliable character; and, where advisable, a free use of authentic illustrations will be brought to bear.

#### NOW READY:-

#### Mechanics.

The principles of Mechanics and the elements of Machinery. Containing:—Action and reaction—Aerolites—Air, compressed, power—Atmosphere, reaistance of—Balance—Balloon, gravitation of—Central forces—Centrifugal force—Compound machinery—Cord, multiplied—Cordage, rigidity of—Curved surfaces—Curvilinear motions—Earth, gravitative attraction of—Elasticity—Endless acrew—Equilibrium, or rest—Forces, composition of, parallelogram of—Fly-wheels—Friction—Friction-wheels—Fulcrum, the—Gravitation, laws of—Gravity, centre of—Heat as a moving power—Impulse—Inclined Planes—Levers, system of—Machinery, compound—Materials, strongth of—Mechanical powers—Mobility—Momentum—Motion, accelerated, in curves, on inclined planes, oscillatory, relative, retarded, various kinds of—Moving bodies—Multiplied cord—Oblique action—Orbits, motion of bodies in—Oscillatory motion—Pendulums, compensating, oscillation of, relative lengths of—Percussion, centre of—Planes, inclined—Power, or impulse—Powers, mechanical, moving—Projection of bodies upward—Pulley, the—Pulleys, system of—Resistance—Scales—Screw, the—Stability—Steelyard—Strength of animals, of man, of materials—Treadwheel—Universal joint—Velocity, accelerated, of falling bodies, of moving bodies—Wedge, the—Weight—Wheel and arle, and pinion, fly, friction—Whirling motion of liquids—and much more useful information. Fully illustrated by nearly 100 cuts. Two parts, 2d. each; complete, 4d.; bound in cloth, 6d.

#### Hydrostatics.

Fully illustrated. Complete, 2d.; in cloth, 4d. Containing:—Aqueducts—Artesian welle—Ball-cock of cisterns—Bellows, hydrostatic—Bramah's press—Buoyancy of solids—Canals, navigable—Capillary attraction—Compression of liquids—Density of liquids—Displacement—Diving—Elasticity—Flotation—Hydrometers—Hydrostatic balance, bed, bellows, press, pressure—Human body, apecific gravity of—Levels, Survey—Liquids, compression of, elasticity of, lateral pressure of, pressureof, properties of, weight of—Locks, canal—Machines for raising water—Naval architecture—Press, hydrostatic—Pressure, hydrostatic, lateral—Pumps—Rain—Rain-gauge—Screw, in ships—Ships, iron, flotation of—Specific gravity—Specific gravities, tables of—Spirit-level—Springs, artesian—Subterraneous lakes and reservoirs—Swimming, art of—Siphon, the—Water-camel, falls, hammer, shed—Waterworks, ornamental—Weight of liquids—Wells—and other useful information.

#### Chemistry.

Three Parts, 2d. each; complete, 6d.; cloth, 8d. An introduction to Chemistry, including a popular summary of animal and vegetable physiology, accompanied by various chemical tables, with numerous illustrations. Containing:—Acids—Albumen—Alcohol—Alkaloida—Atomic theory—Attraction, chemical—Bases—Binary compounds—Carbon—Chemical affinity—Clays—Classification of metals—Colouring metals—Combustion—Divisibility of matter—Elective attraction—Electro-chemistry—Elementary bodies—Elements—Fermentation—Fixed oils—Rorms of matter—Gaseous combinations—Hydrogen—Intermediate Elements—Life—Matter—Nitrogen—Nomenclature—Oils and fat—Organization—Oxidation—Oxygen—Primary compounds—Products of fermentation—Proximate elements—Salts—Simple substances—Specific gravities, tables of—Spontaneous combustion—Starch—Theory of the Ethers—Vegetable acids, &c. &c.—and other very useful information. 144 closely but clearly printed pages. Fully illustrated.

#### Hydraulics.

Fully Illustrated. Complete, 2d.; cloth, 4d.

#### Optics.

Fully Illustrated. Two parts, 2d. each; complete, 4d.; cloth, 6d.

Other Works of a similar character are in preparation, and will shortly be announced.

#### INTENDED FOR SCHOOLS OR SELF-INSTRUCTION.

## Mackenzie's Educational Books.

ALBRADY PUBLISHED.

#### Mackenzie's Tables.

Commercial, Arithmetical, Miscellaneous, and Artificers'. Calculations in Bricklaying, Carpentery, Lathing, Masonry, Paper-hanging, Paving, Planting, Plastering, Slating, Tiling, Well-sinking, Digging, &c. &c. Fractions and Decimals. Forms of Receipts and Bills. Calculations on Man, Steam, Railways, Power, Light, Wind, &c. Language and Alphabets. Calculator of the Church. Scripture Money. Principal Foreign Moneys and Measures. Geographical and Astronomical Tables, &c. &c. Complete, price 2d.

#### Murray's English Grammar.

Complete, word for word with the Shilling Editions. Price 2d.

Mayor's Spelling.

With numerous Cuts. Price 4d., or 2 parts 2d. each.

Walkinghame's Arithmetic.

Same as the Half-crown Edition. Price 4d., or 2 parts 2d. each.

Short-Hand.

With Phrases and Exercises, to gain facility in the use of all the characters, by which perfection may soon be attained. Complete, price 2d.

Phrenology

Explained and Exemplified. Complete, price 2d.

Bookkeeping

By Single Entry, with explanations of Subsidiary Books, being a useful system for the Wholesale and Retail Shopkeeper. Complete, price 2a.

Price 2s. 6d. Illustrated by Diagrams and Samplars.

## Method for Teaching Plain Needlework in Schools.

By a Lady.

It is a constant source of complaint that servants know not how to work well at their needle, and those who visit their poorer neighbours lament the total ignorance in this respect; many cannot cut out or make even so simple an article as a child's pincloth. Many causes combine to produce this result; the almost universal plan of allowing children to remain in the same order for needlework as for the reading and other lessons, is one great reason why girls make so little progress. It is a custom also in some schools to employ the girls only in some one branch in which they may happen to succeed best; a few only doing all the gathering; some all the sitching; others all the button-holes; and so on. The work thus done, of course, brings credit both to the school and to the mistress; but the child who can hem-stitch a fine cambric pocket-handkerchief at school, cannot, when she returns home in the evening give her parents any practical proof of the value of the instruction she has received, for she can neither make their shirts nor mend their stockings.

We often hear that a school was at one time noted for its superior needlework, but that succeeding mistresses have not kept it up to the same standard. Such would not be the case if a regular system were observed. It is rarely the custom in schools in this age, to teach the children to fix and prepare their own work,—a short-sighted policy; for the want of this knowledge not only entails much additional labour on the

mistress, but makes the children comparatively useless away from school.

This useful method is based on steps which are gradual, well-defined, and clear to the perception. It is calculated to insure the improvement of each individual child, and, while it offers the necessary instruction to the less talented pupil, it enables the more clever one to attain the highest degree of perfection.

Limp cloth, 1s.: Bound in Leather, with coloured Maps, 1s. 6d.; in paper, without Maps, 6d.

# A Manual of Geography.

Being a Description of the Natural Features, Climate, and Productions of the various regions of the Earth. By Francis Morton, C.E.

#### STANDARD WORKS

By E. WALFORD, M.A.,

Balliol College, Oxford: Fellow of the Genealogical and Historical Society of Great Britain.

#### PUBLISHED ANNUALLY,

# The Shilling Peerage.

Containing an Alphabetical List of the House of Lords, together with the date of the creation of each Title; the birth, accession, and marriage of each Peer; his heir apparent or presumptive, family name, political bias and patronage; as also a brief notice of the offices which he has hitherto beld, his town address, country residences, &c.

## The Shilling Baronetage.

Containing an Alphabetical List of the Baronets of England, Scotland, Ireland, and Great Britain, and the date of creation of each Title; with a short Biographical Notice of the birth, succession, marriage, and family connections of each individual; the patronage at his disposal, the offices and appointments which he has hitherto held, and his address in town and country. A List of Baronetcies in order of precedence has been added.

# The Shilling Knightage.

Containing an Alphabetical List of all the Knights of the United Kingdom, and the date of creation of each Title; with a short Biographical Notice of the birth, marriage, and family connections of each individual; the patronage at his disposal, the offices and appointments which he has hitherto held, and his address in town and country.

## The Shilling House of Commons.

Containing an Alphabetical List of the Members of Parliament, and of the places which they represent; with a short Biographical Notice of the birth, marriage, and family connections of each Member; his political bias and patronage, a brief list of the offices and appointments which he has hitherto held, and his address in town and country. To which is added, a List of the late and present Ministry, and of her Majesty's Privy Council.

Published Annually, Second Year of publication; Price £1. 16s.

# The County Families of the United Kingdom.

Or, Royal Manual of the Titled and Untitled Aristocracy of Great Britain and Ireland, containing a brief notice of the Descent, Birth, Marriage, Education, and Appointments of each Person, his Heir Apparent or Presumptive, as also a Record of the Offices which he has hitherto held, together with his Town Address and Country Residences. By Edward Walford, M.A., late Scholar of Balliol College, Oxford, and Fellow of the Genealogical and Historical Society of Great Britain.

"We find in this most convenient handbook the living representatives of those who have earned rank for themselves and for their descendants. We have records of the military or naval services in the titles of Wellington, Marlborough, Howden, Amberst, Anglesey, Cadogan. Charlemont, Catheart, Dartmouth, Dorchester, Gardner, Gough, Hardinge, Harris, Hill, Huntly, Keane, Powis, Raglan, Seaton, Stamford, Stanhord, Vivian, Nelson, St. Vincent, Camperdown, De Saumarer, Hood, Exmouth, Hawke, Mulgrave, and Sandwich. Official services are represented by Clifford, Albemarle, Dunfermline, Sidmouth, Congleton, Glenelg, Holland, Lauderdale, Monteagle, Onslow, Oxford, Melville, Ripon, Salishury, Shannon, and Sydney. Success in commerce and trade is represented in Fitswilliam, Leigh, Petre, Darnley, Carrington, Overatone, Leeds, Craven, Greville, Radnor, Ducie, Pomfret, Tankerville, Dormer, Coventry, Romney, Dudlow, Dacres, and Ashburton. Political services have elevated Lowther and Massareene; diplomatic services, Berwick, Cowley, Durham, Malmesbury, Granville, Harrington, Heytesbury, Rivers, and Stratford de Redeliffe. The fortunate lawyers have contributed Tenterden, Thurlow, Eldon, Plunket, Redeeddale, Rosslyn, Walsingham, Campbell, Stratheden, St. Leonards, Lyndhurst, Truro, Ellenborough, North, Hardwicke, Cottenham, Cowper, Kenyon, Lovelace, Manchester, and Manners. The Romance of the Peerage' is written in tiles such as these. The mercer, the skinner, and the silk-merchant, the merchant tailor, the draper, the wool-stapler, the cloth-worker, the Calais or Cheapside merchant, the banker, the jeweller, the goldsmith, and the apothecary (Smithson), like the gallant admiral, the general, and the gentlemen of the long rohe or of red tape, have, when enterprising and energetic, founded noble families."—Litterary Gazette.

"It possesses advantages which no other work of the kind that we know of has offered hitherto. Containing all that is to be found in others, it furnishes information respecting families of distinction which are not to be found in the latter. It will prove to be invaluable in the library and drawing-room."—Spectator.

"To produce such a work in the perfection which characterises 'County Families,' must have been an almost Herculean task. It is sufficient for us to say that accuracy even in the minutest details appears to have been the aim of Mr. Walford, and the errors are so few and slight, that they may readily be passed over."—Weekly Register.

Royal 16mo. price 1s.

# Electoral Representation of the United Kingdom.

From the Reform Bill down to the year 1855; arranged in tabular Form, showing the state of the Representation of each County and Borough during that period.

Royal 32mo. price 1s.

## How to Address Titled People.

COMPANION TO THE WRITING-DESK; or, How to Address, Begin, and End Letters to Titled, and Official Personages, together with Tables of Precedence, copious list of Abbreviations, Rules for Punctuation, and other useful information.

"A word, and more than a word, of praise is due to the Companion to the Writing-Deak. Full information on every subject of importance to correspondents is afforded in it. The instructions on official points will not fail to be of importance to many persons unable to obtain the proper information from even much larger works of the same kind."—Court Journal.

"This is one of the most useful little books we have for a long time seen."—Era,

"This is a capital shilling's worth—useful, elegant, indispensable. For young authors it will prove an able and reliable guide."—Weekly Chronicle.

"A book which every one wants sometimes—some persons often."-Wesleyan Times.

"This pretty little volume, admirably printed, contains as much information on the subjects comprised within the scope indicated by the title-page as could well be condensed into so petit a form, and we have no doubt it will lie with many a carefully-concealed but often-consulted copy of 'Johnson' for, somehow, people do not like to acknowledge the necessity for referring to works of this class. There are few who do not sometimes feel the want of a book of this kind at hand."—Penny Newsman.

Demy 8vo. cloth, with Illuminated Frontispiece, price 6s.

MR. PLANCHE'S Work on Heraldry. With more than 200 Illustrations from the most authentic sources.

## Heraldry founded on Facts.

Or, The Pursuivant of Arms, by J. R. Planché, Rouge Croix. Second edition, with additional Notes and Illustrations.

"We welcome this volume as one of the many signs of an extending conviction of the practical ntility of an acquaintance with early heraldry. It is an attempt to separate the chaff from the wheat, and to arrive at a knowledge of the usage of armorials from facts only; discarding not only the fancies and puerile conceits of Gerard Legh, and those of the same school, both in past and present times, but also such as are found in the Book of St. Alban's, and the less imaginative treatises of Upton and De Bado Aureo. An excellent design is this, and well worthy of being fully carried into execution."—Journal of the Archwological Institute.

Second Edition, demy 8vo. price 2s.

### An Essay on Heraldry.

By JACOB FREDERICK Y. MOGG, Member of the British Archmological Association.

Royal 32mo. price 1s.

Crown 8vo. price 5s.

# The Common Sense of the Water Cure.

A Popular Description of Life and Treatment at a Hydropathic Establishment. By Captain J. H. Lukis, late of the 61st Regiment, and the North Durham Militia.

"We have seldom read a more amusing book than this. Capt. Lukis is a clever well-bred gendleman, who has found the greatest pleasure of his life in the strict discipline of hydropathy, and in this volume he chats pleasantly about his own experiences, and puts in a very popular form the chief arguments in favour of the water cure. There is not a dull page in the book."—Morning Herald.

Fcap. 8vo. ctoth, price 6s.

# Waste Products and Undeveloped Substances;

Or, Hints for Enterprise in Neglected Fields. By P. L. SIMMONDS, Author of "Products of the Vegetable Kingdom," &c.

"As mere reading, the Volume is interesting and instructive; but we must go further, and say there are fortunes to be got out of it by those who rightly work some of its suggestions."—Builder.

"A very useful and instructive volume, it shows to how great an extent substances considered as waste or useless may be turned to good account."—Observer.

"Altogether an admirable little volume, perspicuously and tersely written, and will make many who read it open their eyes with wonder at the neglected wealth which surrounds them, and at the carelessness of mankind in neglecting it."—Daily News.

"An extremely interesting and useful volume."-Standard.

New Edition, folio, fully illustrated, price 12s.

## Country Cottages.

A Series of Designs for an Improved Class of Dwellings for Agricultural Labourers. By JOHN VINCENT, Architect. With numerous Plaus, Elevations, &c.

Crown 8vo. price 6s.

#### Our Social Bees.

Pictures of Town and Country, and other Papers. By Andrew Wynter, M.D.

CONTENTS: - The Post-office. - London Smoke. - Mock Auctions. -Hyde Park .- The Suction Post .- St. George and the Dragon .- The India-rubber Artist .- Our Peck of Dirt .- The Artificial Man .-Britannia's Smelling-bottle.—The Hunterian Museum at the College of Surgeons .- A Chapter on Shop Windows .- Commercial Grief .-Orchards in Cheapside. The Wedding Bonnet. Aërated Bread. The German Fair .- Club Chambers for the Married .- Needle-making .-Preserved Meats.-London Stout.-Palace Lights, Club Cards, and Bank Pens.—The Great Military Clothing Establishment at Pimlico. -Thoughts about London Beggars.-Wenham Lake Ice.-Candle Making.-Woman's Work.-The Turkish Bath.-The Nervous System of the Metropolis.-Who is Mr. Reuter?-Our Modern Mercury.-The Sewing Machine.-The Times' Advertising Sheet.-Old Things by New Names .- A Suburban Fair .- A Fortnight in North Wales .- The Aristocratic Rooks.-The Englishman Abroad.-A Gossip about the Lakes.-Sensations of a Summer Night and Morning.-Physical Antipathies .- The Philosophy of Babydom .- Brain Difficulties .-Human Hair.

"The papers are treated in such a manner as to form not merely an interesting, but an instructive contribution to the stock of popular literature, and the volume is therefore a welcome contribution to our current literature."—Observer.

"The 'Curiosities of Civilization' contained so many amusing and important details, that a second selection will be accepted at once with the utmost gratification by the many readers who have already been fascinated by Dr. Wynter's agreeable style, and the characteristic details of men and manners by which he has rendered his name popular. Sometimes the first dish is more palatable than the second,—the newest entremet serving to take off the pleasant taste of its predecessor. In this instance it is not so, since Dr. Wynter has kept back the better portion for a second course."—Bell's Weekly Messenger.

"Crowded with facts and sparkling with fancy; written in a cheerful and philosophic spirit. The writer is never unapproachable in his ideal, but shrewd, sensible, and thoughtful in his mode of narration and in his way of marshalling facts."—Literary Guzette.

"On the whole, we prefer this volume as a book of amusement, and even instruction, to the 'Curiosities of Civilization,' which has enjoyed a good name and sale. Dr. Wynter is an accomplished and well-informed man; he writes well, has much to tell, and even his lightest sketches convey substantial thoughts or facts in their delicate outlines. This volume contains more than forty papers gleaned from first-rate periodicals. It would have been a literary loss had they not been so gathered and preserved. Sometimes there is a quaintness in some of the essays which recalls the immortal Charles Lamb."—Era.

"These papers are characterized by the same breadth of view, the same felicity of language, the same acuteness of thought, which distinguished the "Curiosities of Civilization." So long as Dr. Wynter continues to write papers similar to those in the volume before us, and in 'Curiosities of Civilization,' so long will the republication of those papers be welcomed by the public."—Standard.

Sixth Edition, Crown 8vo. price 6s.

### Curiosities of Civilization.

Being Essays from the Quarterly and Edinburgh Reviews. DR. ANDREW WYNTER.

CONTENTS.

The London Commissariat. Food and its Adulterations. Advertisements. The Zoological Gardens. Rats. Woolwich Arsenal. Shinwrecks.

Lodging, Food, and Dress of -Soldiers. The Electric Telegraph. Fires and Fire Insurance. The Police and the Thieves. Mortality in Trades and Professions. Lunatic Asylums.

"We shall look in vain, for example, two centuries back, for anything like an equivalent to the volume before us. Some of the articles are mainly derived from observations made in the course of professional studies; others are at least cognate to the subjects which occupy a physician's hourly thoughts; all are more or less instructive as to certain phases of our civilization, and the strange elements it holds in suspension. Some of the incidents are of unparalleled magnitude, quite as striking as anything contained in the wonder-books of our ancestors."-Times.

"Dr. Wynter's papers show that he has made deep researches, and that he brings to bear upon them the acumen of a well-stored mind-a perfect kaleidoscopic

array of subjects." - Morning Post.

Dr. Wynter has both industry and skill. He investigates all branches of his subjects, and tells us the result easily and unaffectedly. In short, a better book of miscellaneous reading has not come under our notice for a long while."—Daily News.

"One of the most amusing and best-executed works of its kind that ever come under our notice. Every subject that Dr. Wynter handles, even if it refers to scientific matters, is ground down so very fine, that it is hardly competent to human stupidity to fail to understand it."—Saturday Review.

"These articles form a delightful inventory of facts, in which every reader has a direct personal interest, for they are such as may or do affect him and his at every moment of their lives, and collectively they form a very curious insight into the anatomy of some parts of our civilization past and present. Seldom have the fruits of so much labour been converted into more easy and pleasant reading."-Spectator.

"It would have been a pity if so much that is useful and entertaining had been entombed in the pages of a review. The subject-matter was worthy of being put

into a book, and we are glad that it is done,"-Illustrated News.

"The Essays are thirteen in number, and form a very delightful, instructive work. It contains many good pictures of London life, and a knowledge of this gigantic metropolis scarcely surpassed by any modern writer."—Press.

"Among the various Essays by eminent and brilliant writers, none surpass Dr. Wynter in instructiveness, amusing information, and easy cleverness of style. If any one 'wants to know' how our great Babylon is supplied, with unerring certainty and sound calculation, with food and drink, day after day and year after year; how that food is systematically and universally doctored and adulterated; how our thieves operate, flourish, come to grief, and are affected by the police who are employed to detect or capture them; how men are allowly murdered by unhealthy trades, and how the professions kill or keep alive their members; how fires influence fire insurance, and fire insurance influences fires; how and what sort of people dwell in lunatic asylums; how many romantic and least-imagined things can be learnt by atudying the shipwrecks which have occurred during the last few years; how-but we will stop, and simply add, that whoever wants a fireside book this winter, rich in useful facts, and written in a manner clear, fascinating, and original, had better purchase Dr. Wynter's Curiosities of Civilization."-Blining Review.

Beautifully printed in colours, price £1. 1s.

#### Enshrined Hearts.

Enshrined Hearts of Warriors and Illustrious People. By EMILY SOPHIA HARTSHORNE. With Illuminated Initials, and illustrated with numerous Engravings on Wood, Armorial Bearings, &c. &c.

400 pp., crown 8vo. cloth, fully illustrated, price 3s.

#### Dr. Lankester on Food.

A Course of Lectures delivered at the South Kensington Museum. By E. LANKESTER, M.D., F.R.S., F.L.S.

WATER.

SALT.

HEAT-GIVERS - OIL. BUTTER. FAT.

FLESH-FORMERS-ANIMAL FOOD.

Part I., One Shilling, contains: | Part II., Eighteenpence, contains: ALCOHOL.

> WINES, SPIRITS, and BEER. CONDIMENTS and SPICES.

TEA, COFFEE, and CHOCOLATE. TOBACCO and OPIUM.

"Full of sound science, curious anecdote, and quaint illustration. Dr. Lankester has a singular power of illustrative keenness; and in the discursive lessons which he delivers on so many subjects, there is an overflowing wealth of minute collateral information which is always brought to the level of the last achievements of science."-

"The lectures possess the great merit of being interesting. The information, although it may be gathered from sources not inaccessible to those who will read for themselves, is brought together and arranged with the intelligence of a man who thoroughly understands and performs what he intends to do. The facts thus presented gain an additional value by bearing the impress and sanction of his own opinions. There is no pretence about these lectures. The style is clear and pleasant; and, for a work of general information on a subject interesting to everybody, these Lectures on Food will be useful and popular. They contain information which every one ought to possess; and there is skill shown in giving as much information as is necessary, and no more than is desirable. Dr. Lankester has fulfilled the task he proposed to himself with judgment and success."-Athenœum.

"A volume such as this must needs be one of the very best of its kind; and it is so. It is a work full of amusement and instruction. Dr. Lankester's very suggestive and interesting book leads us to forget both our limits and our time; and we must now take leave of it with a strong recommendation to readers of all classes to pur-

chase, peruse, and reperuse it at their heat hours of leisure."—Builder.
"Dr. Lankester's style is so facile and attractive, that we know of no writer more capable of bringing dry subjects before the public mind in an acceptable form. Many, therefore, who open this volume will be carried away by the pleasure of perusal into a study of useful facts, which they little dreamt of troubling themselves about."-Era.

These admirable lectures were delivered for the purpose of exhibiting, in a popular form, the scientific principles by which the supply of food for man is regulated; and this they do in the clearest and most captivating manner possible, being almost wholly free from technicalities, and giving useful directions, the reasonableness of which is apparent at a glance. The book will be read with great pleasure even where there is no idea of making any practical use of the information it contains; but, in the hands of the intelligent and thoughtful man it would be an invaluable guide in matters of diet, enabling him to do much, under the Divine blessing, towards the preservation of his own health, and towards the building up of his children in strength and vigour."-Patriot.

350 pp. crown 8vo., cloth, fully illustrated, price 3s.

### Dr. Lankester on the Uses of Animals

In Relation to the Industry of Man. By EDWIN LANKESTER, M.D., F.R.S. A Course of Six Lectures, delivered at the South Kensington Museum.

Part I., One Shilling, contains:

SILK.

WOOL.

LEATHER. BONE.

SOAP.

WASTE.

Part II., Eighteenpence, contains: SPONGES and CORALS.

SHELL-FISH.

INSECTS.

Funs.

FEATHERS, HORNS, and HAIR.

ANIMAL PERFUMES.

"The information is presented in the most lucid, graceful, and entertaining manner."-Economist.

"Every one who peruses them will be grateful to the author. The history of those creatures whose products become through man's skill so useful to him, is given with such charming feeling, that the interest of the reader is attracted and enchained, whether he wills or no." -Era.

"They are written so plainly and pleasantly, that even children can understand

and profit by them; and we can therefore strongly recommend them."—Critic.
"The plan of Dr. Lankester is simple and philosophical. He first introduces us to the animal, then what portion of it used for the manufacture described, and lastly the manufacture is described."-Atlas.

\*\* A fund of information of so attractive a character, as to captivate and enchain

the attention of even the most illiterate."- Weekly Times.

"These lectures explain the nature and object of those animal products employed in the uses of daily life in a popular and pleasing manner, and is accompanied by numerous illustrations, which heighten the value of the book. It is a good book for the young, and instructive to readers of all ages."-City Preus.

Price 1s.; Interleaved as Album, 2s. 6d., gilt edges.

# Hand Catalogue of Postage Stamps for Collectors.

By Dr. JOHN EDWARD GRAY, F.R.S., F.L.S., &c., of the British Museum.

Published Annually.

### Shilling Guide to London Charities.

Showing, in Alphabetical Order, the Name, Date of Foundation, Address, Object, Annual Income, Number of People benefited, Mode of Application to and Chief Officers of every Institution in London. By HERBERT FRY.

Fcap. 8vo. cloth, price 3s. 6d.

## Horse Warranty.

A Plain and Comprehensive Guide to the various Points to be noted, showing which are Essential and which are Unimportant. With Forms of Warranty. By Peter Howden, V.S.

An idea of the scope of this book will best be conveyed by reproducing a portion of the Index to it, in which we find mention of Abrasions; Age; Aged Horses; Artificial contraction; Asthma; Back, croker—chinked—cradle—high—hollow—low—roach—saddle; Bald places; Bandages; Bar-shoes; Bastard strangles, or vives; Bearing rein; Bent before; Biting; Bleeding; Blemishes; Blindness, total; Blood spavin; Bolting-running away; Boots; Broken back; Canker; Capped hocks; Chinked back; Clambering; Clinking-shovel and tongs-poker and tongs; Coatstaring; Cock-throttled; Colds; Collar-wrung; Contraction, artificial; Corns; Cough; Cough, chronic; Courage; Cradle-back; Crib-biting, Prevention of; Curbs; Coung; Coung; chrome; Courage; Crade-nack; Cras-ning; Prevention of; Curus; Cutung; Dassy-cutting; Dealers—horses; Diet and exercise; Dishing; Dropping before; Dropping behind; Dulness; Eating beds; Enlargements, soit; Examination; Exchange—swap; Exercise and diet; Eyes, the—wall—white of; False quarter; Feet, contracted—contraction of the—fever in the; Firing; Flesby heel; Foot, flat—periect; Galls; Glanders; Grease; Groggy; Grunting; Hazkneys; Harness, quiet in; Hard mouth; Heel, fleshy; Heals, cracked; Height and age; Herring-gutted; High-back; Hip, low; Hips, high; Hocks, Capped; Hollow-back; Hoofs, conen. Horse, the sound—acad deslars—used—trial of. Hot water. Humours. open; Horse, the sound-aged-dealers used-trial of; Hot water; Humours; Hunters; Jibbing; Joints, enlarged—other diseases of; Knees, the; Knees, broken; Swollen; Knuckling; Lame; Lameness; Cunning; Lampas; Large barrel; Leather soles; Legs, swollen; Loins, narrow; Long pasterns; Long waist; Low action, or daisy-cutting, or going near the ground; Low-back; Low-hip; Malformation; Medicine; Mouth, the; Narrow loins; Neck, vein; Nervousness; Open hoofs; Overreaching; Paralysis; Pasterns, long; Pigeon toed; Play—Playfulness; Poker and Tongs; Price; Pumice-sole; Quiet in harness; Rat-tail; Rearing; Receipts on warranty; Rheumatism; Ring-bones; Roach-back; Roarings; Rumbling; Running-away—bolting; Saddle-back, Cradle-back, Hollow-back, Low-back; Sand-erack; Scara; Shoulders, upright; Shovel and Tongs; Shying; Sinews; Skit-kishness; Soft enlargements; Spavin, blood; Bog; Spavins; Speedy-cry; Splents; Staring-coat; Starting; Star Surfeit; Swap; Thorough pins; Thrushes; Trial, the; Tucked un; Turning; Unnerving; Upright joints-knuckling; Upright shoulders; Used Horses; Trial of; Vein, neck; Vices; Vives; Waist, long; Wall-eyes; Warranties, receipts on; Warranty, use of; Washey; Water, hot; Weaving; Weaving, cure of; Wens; Wheezing; Whistling; White of Eyes; Wide behind; Wind, broken; Wind-sucking; Windgalls; Work; Wounds; Young Horses.

With Illustrations. Fcap. 8ro. cloth, price 2s. 6d.

## Graceful Riding.

A Pocket Manual for Equestrians. By S. C. WAITE.

"In the school, on the road, on the course, or across country, this little book will be invaluable; and we heartily recommend it."—Marning Post.

"Contains a vast number of useful directions and hints to all who wish to acquire a sure and graceful seat and sure hand. The engravings are well executed and assist

the reader in understanding the letter-press."-Field.

"Designed to give the timid and nervous of both sexes instructions on the management of saddle horses and the proper mode of mounting and dismounting, holding the reins, and such other advice as will be of great service to lady equestrians."

—Press.

"Advice to ladies forms a separate and important part of Mr. Waite's manual,

and is marked by a very great degree of good sense."-Daily News.

Fcop. 810. cloth, illustrated, price 2s. Gd.

## The Foot and its Covering.

With Dr. Camper's work on "The Best Form of Shoe," translated from the German. By JAMES DOWIE.

"A very sensible treatise, by one who takes an artistic and scientific interest in his subject, and who has evidently well studied the mechanical structure and action, as well as the anatomy and physiology, of that wonderful concatenation of bones, since and muscles—the human foot."—Builder.

"To all pedestrians it must be an object to have an easy shoe, and in the present day of universal military ardour and hebdomadal marchings out, this little contribu-

tion may prove a useful adviser upon the subject."-Luncet.

With coloured Frontispiece. 16mo. cloth, gilt edges, price 2s. Cd.

#### Whist.

The Laws and Practice of Whist. By Colleus. As played at the London Clubs.

"It is just the book that was required. The intrinsic worth of the book is to be found in the downright sensible practical advice contained throughout its pages, and to the lover of whist we strongly recommend the volume."—Field.

"After our repeated commendations of this little work, we need only express our opinion that it is, par excellence, the guide for every whist player. The laws laid down having been adopted by the Army and Navy Club and other clubs of London, as the court of appeal, sufficiently indicate their authority, and the public enerally may rely upon them with confidence."—Era.

"There is no doubt this is the best treatise upon the subject extant, because modern play and the short game have added so much to the old lore, that Hoyle, and even Mathews and Major A----, are now quite antiquated."—Critic.

en Mathews and Major A ----, are now quite and quater. -- Crisic.

Crown 8vo. cloth, with Illustrations by George Cruikshank, price 2s. 6d.; the Illustrations on India paper, price 5s.

### Peter Schlemihl.

From the German of Adelbert Von Chamisso. Translated by Sir John Bowring, LL.D., &c.

Fcap. 8vo. cloth, price 5s.

# Scargill's Essays and Sketches.

F.ssays and Sketches. By the late WILLIAM PITT SCARGILL.

Royal 32mc. cloth, price 1s.

# Hardwicke's Shilling Handy-Book of London.

An Easy and Comprehensive Guide to Everything worth Seeing and Hearing.

#### CONTENTS.

Bazanrs.

Ball-rooms.

Cathedrals.

Dining-rooms.

Exhibitions.

Mansions of Nobility.

Markets.

Money-order Offices.

Monuments and Statues.

Museums.

Music-halls and Concert-rooms.

Out-door Amusements.

Omnibuses.

Palaces.

Parks.

Passport Offices.

Picture Galleries' Regulations.

Popular Entertainments.

Police-courts.

Prisons.

Railway Stations.

Steamboats.

Theatres.

Telegraph Offices, &c.

<sup>&</sup>quot;The title-page of this little pocket volume claims for it the praise due to an easy and comprehensive guide to everything worth seeing and hearing in and around the metropolis, and states that it is compiled from authentic sources and personal inquiry. From the examination which we have been able to make of the little brochure, this promise seems to be very fairly fulfilled; and we cannot do better than recommend this seasonable little manual to the waistcoat pockets of the sight-seers who come up to London. There are sixteen nest illustrations to accompany the letter-press of the volume."—Critic.

<sup>&</sup>quot;A compendious and useful guide to the principal places of interest in and around London. Excellent woodcuts have been added, to give completeness to this volume."—Atlas.

<sup>&</sup>quot;This is the most portable, complete, and the cheapest guide-book of London that has ever been issued, and contains a brief account of every place that by any courtesy can be called a lion of the metropolis, while the illustrations that accompany so many of the descriptions, though small, have the rare advantage of being most accurate representations."—Era.

<sup>&</sup>quot;The foreigner or provincial visitor to the metropolis will find this cheap guidebook as useful as anything pocketable could be for the purpose. Every place in London and the vicinity that is worth seeing is here described, and made accessible by the details of ways and means for getting to it."—Globe.

<sup>&</sup>quot;This book has a very proper title. In every sense of the word it is a handy book—a book capable of doing what it professes to do, to guide its possessor to all places of note in the great city of the world, London. All those who wish to see London as it really is, should purchase it."—City Press.

Crown 8vo. cloth, price 7s. 6d.

## Caste and Christianity.

A Looking-glass for the Times. By TEMPLE CHRISTIAN FABER.

"The materials are drawn from an immense number of sources, and the 'Faber' is an earnest and a zeulous one."—Standard.

"Written with great eloquence and power."-Educational Times.

Fcap. 8vo. price 3s. 6d.

# Autobiography of a Working-man.

By ALEXANDER SOMERVILLE, "One who has whistled at the plough."

"A book to be read with great interest, not merely as affording insights into worlds which persons of the middle classes visit far too sparingly, but also as offering a picture of character. Mr. Somerville's early life is attractive, as a piece of Scottish character and accnery worthy of its place in a national biography." Athenous.

"The well-known author of this work, who has attracted much public attention and has acquired a well-merited reputation, has done the public a great service in publishing his Autobiography. It adds one, in the first part, to the many genuine and affecting pictures we now possess of the difficulties with which the virtuous poor manfully struggle in order to bring up a family decently; and it is full of rich instruction on the manner in which those difficulties that all share, knit the hearts of young and old in one common bond of affection and virtuous help. Those who pretend to pity such people should study the book, and learn from it how superior in dignity, how far above them, elevated in manhood's best virtues, are such cheerful, struggling, virtuous, God-fearing families."—*Economist*.

18mo. price 1s. illustrated.

# Hints on the Formation of Local Museums.

By the Treasurer of the Wimbledon Museum Committee.

Quarterly, 10s. By authority.

# The Official Bengal Army List,

Exhibiting the Rank, Standing, Dates of Commission, and present Location of every Officer in the Bengal Army, as compiled in the Adjutant-General's Office.

#### POETRY.

Crown 8vo., cloth, price 6s.

### Poems,

Descriptive and Lyrical: Illustrations of the Beauties of Tropical Scenery, and Sketches of Objects of Interest: with Notes, Historical and Explanatory. By the Author of "The Nuptials of Barcelona."

Crown 8vo. cloth, price 5s.

#### The Season.

A Satire. By ALFRED AUSTIN. With Frontispicce of "the Modern Muse" by Thomas George Cooper.

Demy 8vo. cloth, bevelled edges, price 7s.

## The Human Tragedy.

A Poem. By ALFRED AUSTIN, Author of "The Season."

Crown 8vo. cloth, price 6s.

# Songs of Italy,

And other Poems. By CAROLINE GIFFARD PHILLIPSON, Authoress of "Lonely Hours," "Eva," "Ethel Beranger," &c.

Just Published, Fcap. 8vo., price 3s. 6d.

## The Poet of the Age.

A Satirical Poem, with Introductory Remarks on the decline of Poetry, and Critical Notes.

Fcap. 8vo. cloth, price 3s. 6d.

### The World of Phantoms.

A Poem.

Fcap. 8vo. cloth, price 3s. 6d.

#### Bernard.

A Drama of the Year 1848. By FREDERICK GUNDASH SHAW.

Fcap. 8vo. price 5s.

### Pebbles and Shells.

By ELIZABETH WILMSHURST FRENCH.

Fcap. Svo. price 3s.

# Fugitive Poems.

By TRISTRAM.

8vo. cloth, price 7s. 6d.

### The Buried Titan.

A Drama. By Franklin Leifchild.

Demy 8vo. cloth, price 4s.

### Poems.

By MELANTER.

Feap. 8vo. price 3s.

#### Poems.

By JAMES MACFARLAN.

Fcap. 8vo. price 2s. 6d.

#### Poems.

By An Architect.

Price 2s. 6d., Illustrated by the Best Artists.

THE

## POPULAR SCIENCE REVIEW,

A QUARTERLY MISCELLANY OF ENTERTAINING & INSTRUCTIVE ARTICLES on SCIENTIFIC SUBJECTS.

#### EDITED BY JAMES SAMUELSON.

This periodical does not partake of the character of the abstruse "Quarterlies," or the "Transactions" of Scientific Societies; nor is it, on the other hand, framed simply for the amusement of those who desire to employ Science as a mere pastime. Its contents are addressed to those numerous readers who, without making any pretensions to rank among the learned, desire to become acquainted with the truths of science; a pursuit which they are frequently deterred from following, by the abstruse language in vogue amongst scientific men, or from the nature of their ordinary avocations being too laborious and engrossing to allow of close study during leisure hours.

Each number contains systematic, instructive articles (illustrated when needful) on subjects connected with some of the following sciences, viz.:—

ASTRONOMY. BOTANY. CHEMISTRY. ETHNOLOGY. GEOGRAPHY.
GEOLOGY.
METALLURGY.
MICROSCOPY.

Mineralogy, Physics. Zoology, &c. &c., and

Science applied to the Arts, Manufactures, Commerce, and Agriculture, together with a Complete Summary of all the events of importance which have taken place during the quarter in each department of Science.

#### Amongst the Contributors are :-

Prof. Ansted, F.R.S.
Prof. Buckman, F.L.S., F.S.A.,
F.G.S.
James Breen, F.R.A.S.
Dr. Collingwood, M.A., F.L.S.
W. Crookes, F.C.S., F.L.S.
Dr. Fairbairn, F.R.S.
P. H. Gosse, F.R.S.
Dr. Hicks, F.L.S.
Jabez Hogg, F.L.S.

E. Jesse, F.L.S.
Dr. Lankester, F.R.S.
Mis. Lankester.
G. H. Lewes.
Dr. Phipson, F.C.S.
A. De Quatrefages.
James Samuelson (the Editor).
And other distinguished Writers.

Prof. HUNT, F.R.S.

#### No. VI., JANUARY, 1863, contains:

NOTES ON THE EXHIBITION-(concluded) :-

MACHINERY DEPARTMENT; with Woodcuts. By Dr. V.—THE

WILLIAM FAIRBAIRN. F.R.S., &c.

VI .- THE IMPLEMENTS OF WAR, with Page Plate. By Captain J. F. D. DONNELLY, R.E ./Inspector of Science, South Kensington). ZOOLOGY OF THE EXHIBITION. By CUTHBERT

COLLINGWOOD, M.A., M.B., F.L.S.

VIII.-THE COLONIES. By the Editor. THE MISTLETOE AND PARASITIC PLANTS; with Page Plate. By Mrs.

THE WINTER LIFE OF PLANTS; with Page Plate. By HARLAND COULTAS. THE VINEGAR EEL (Anguilhula asceti); with Tinted Plate. By JABEZ HOOG, F.L.S., &c.

THE EYE OF THE OX, and its Microscopical Structure; with a Tinted and Coloured Plate. By E. BECEIT TRUMAN.

MARS; with a Tinted and Coloured Plate. By JAMES BREEN, F.R.A.S.

MISCELLANEA:-

The British Association; by D. T. Ansted, F.R.S .- The Zoological and Botanical Section (D); by Cuthbert Collingwood, M.A., F.I.S -Science-Schools.

REVIEWS:

Jefferys' British Conchology-Simmonds' Waste Products and Undeveloped Substances-Cooke's British Fungi-Carpenter's Revelations of the Microscope.

SCIENTIFIC SUMMARY:-

Astronomy — Botany — Chemistry — Geology and Palseontology — Mechanical Science—Medicine, Surgery, and Therapeutics—Microscopy—Mineralogy, Metallurgy, and Mining—Photography—Physics: Light, Heat, and Electricity-Zoology.

#### No. V. contains:

THE BRITISH OAK, with Two Page Illustrations. By Prof. JAMES BUCKMAN, F.L.S., F.G.S., &c.
TUBIFEX RIVULORUM, the Red Worm of our Rivers, with a Coloured Plate.

By Edwin Ray Lankesten.

ANÆSTHETICS. By Dr. T. L. PHIPSON, M.B., F.C.S., &c.

BARMOUTH, and its Scientific Attractions, with a Tinted Illustration. By the Editor. THE ELECTRO-PLATING PROCESS (concluding Part), with an Illustration.

By GEORGE GORE.

NOTES OF THE EXHIBITION: II. THE MINERALOGICAL DEPARTMENT. By Prof. D. T. ANSTED, F.R.S.

III. THE CHEMICAL DEPARTMENT. By W. CROOKES, F.C.S., Editor of the Chemical News.

IV. THE PHILOSOPHICAL INSTRUMENTS. By J. BREEN, F.R.A.S. MISCELLANEA, REVIEWS, and a complete Summary of Scientific Progress.

#### No. IV. contains:

THE GREAT EXHIBITION OF 1862: The Agricultural Implement Department,

with Plate. By HOWARD REED.
THE BRITANNIA AND CONWAY TUBULAR BRIDGES, with Plate. By W. C. UNWIN, B. Sc.

PRIMITIVE ASTRONOMY, with Two Coloured Plates. By the Editor.
THE PHYSICS OF A SUNBEAM, with a Coloured Plate. By R. Hunt, F.R.S.
THE ENGLISH CALIFORNIA. By G. P. BEVAN, F.G.S.
THE CONTENTS OF CAVERNS (concluding Part). By D. T. ANSTED, F.R.S.
THE MICROSCOPE, with Directions for its Use. By C. COLLINGWOOD, M.S., F.L.S.

THE BUILDER ANIMALCULES, with Plate. By P. H. Gosse, F.R.S. THE COMMON TRUFFLE, with Plate. By Jabez Houg, M.R.C.S., &c. MISCELLANEA, REVIEWS, and Scientific Summary of Progress in Science.

#### No. III. contains:

THE PHOSPHORESCENCE OF THE SEA. With Plate. By A. DE QUATER-FACES.
THE SUN AND SOLAR PHENOMENA. With a Coloured Plate. By JAMES BREEN,

LIGHT AND COLOUR. With a Coloured Plate. By Robert Hunt, F.R.S. THE INTERNATIONAL EXHIBITION BUILDINGS. With Plate. By W. FAIRBAIRN, C.E., D.C.L.

THE APPLICATION OF SCIENCE TO ELECTRO-PLATING. By GEORGE GORE.

ARTIFICIAL PRECIOUS STONES. By W. S. Howgrave.

THE WHITE CLOVER. By Mrs. LANKESTER. With Two Plates by Tuffen
West.

THE HUMAN HEART. By ISAAC ASHE, B.A. MISCELLANEA, REVIEWS, and a complete Quarterly Retrospect.

#### No. II. contains:

CAVERNS. By Prof. ANSTED, F.R.S.
LOWEST FORMS OF LIFE. By the Editor. Illustrated by Tuffen West and
G. H. Ford.
THE FLOWER ANIMALCULE. By P. H. Gosse, F.R.S. Illustrated by the
Author.

COTTON. By Dr. LANKESTER, F.R.S. Illustrated by Tuffen West. GRASSES. By Prof. Buckman, F.L.S. Illustrated by J. E. Sowerby. THE REFLEX THEORY AND DR. MARSHALL HALL. By G. H. Lewes. SOLAR CHEMISTRY. By R. Hunt, F.R.S. Illustrated with a Coloured Diagram.

OPTICAL PHENOMENA OF THE ATMOSPHERE. By G. F. CHAMBERS. MISCELLANEA, REVIEWS, and Scientific Summary.

#### No. I. contains:

CORN. By Prof. James Buckman, F.L.S., &c. Illustrated by the Author.
THE CROWN ANIMALCULE. Ry Philip Henry Gosse, F.R.S. Illustrated by the Author.
THE DAISY. By Mas. LAMESTER. Illustrated.

Dy the Author.

THE DAISY. By Mas. LANKESTER. Illustrated.

THE LOWEST FORMS OF LIFE. By the Editor, with Illustrations.

IRON AND STEEL. By R. HUNT, FR.S.

WESTERN EQUATORIAL AFRICA. By the Editor, with a Coloured Map.

ARTIFICIAL LIGHT. By Prof. ANSTED, F.R.S.

THE BREATH OF LIFE. By W. CROOKES.

DOGS. By ED. JESSE, F.L.S.. &c.

THE GREAT COMET OF 1861. By J. BREEN.

The "Popular Science Review" appears in October, January, April, and July, price Half-a-crown.

Price to Subscribers 10s. per Annum, carriage-free. Subscriptions payable to any Bookseller, or the Publisher.

ROBERT HARDWICKE, 192, PICCADILLY, W.

Hand Catalogue Postage Stamps.





J. E. GRAY, F.R.S. F.L.S.

OW TO ADDRESS TITLED PEOPLE CA The Warrens Dask; or, How to Address, Begin, and Eon L Intel and Official Personages, Ogether with Tables of Pecedence, copio of Abbreviations, Rules for Punctuation, and other useful information al Timo, price la.

word, and more than a word, of praise is due to the Companion to the Writin Tall information on every subject of importance to correspondents is afforded in it actions on official points will not fail to be of importance to many persons and publish the proper information from even much larger works of the same kind. "—Con

"This is one of the most useful little books we have for a long time seen."—Fra.
"I book which every one wants sometimes—some persons of en."—Wrstey of Times,
this pretty little, volume, admirably, printed, contains as south information on to
authority comprised within the scope may acceed by the title page as could well be condense
but, so petits a form, and we have no don'ts it will lie with many a carefully concealed by
often consulted copy of 'Johnson;' for, somehow, people do not like to seknowledge t
necessity for referring to works of this class. There are low who do not sometimes a
the want of a book of this kind at hand."—Person Newsonan.

TATHIST (THE LAWS AND PRACTICE OF). By Com As Played at the London Clubs. Sixth Edition, 15mo., cloth, Coloured Frontispiece, price 2s. 6d.

UR SOCIAL BEES. Pictures of Town and Country, an Other Papers. By ANDREW WYNTER, M.D. Fourth Edule Crown 8vo., price 6s. Containing Forty-five Entertaining and Instruction Articles.

DELOSTITES OF CIVILIZATION. Being Essets from the Quarterly and Edinburgh Reviews. By Dr. Andurw Wyster, Fil Edition. : Crown 8vo., price 6r.

R. LANKESTER ON THE USES OF ANIMALS I LI REGATION TO THE INDUSTRY OF MAN. A Course Sectiones delivered at the South Kemington Museum. Just publishcomplete, price 3s., fully Illustrated.

PART I., price Ir., contains -- On Silk. On Wool. On Leathers Of Bone. On Soap. On Waste.

PART II., price is, felt, contains . On Sponges and Corals On Shell-fill On Insects. On Eurs. On Feathers, Horns and Hair. On Amin's Perform

R. LANKESTER ON ROOD. A Course of Delivered at the South Kensington Museum. Crows 8506, Chris. in Illictrated, complete, princ 3c.

PART I. price It's contains:—On Water, On Sult and Mineral Pool On Heat-meming Food; On Oil Butter, and Pat. On The Springer Food

On Animal Foods

PART II., price Is to f., equiums: On Alcahola, On W. Beer, On Condiments, Spices, and Fravours. On Testand and Confest (continued). On Tobacco and Opinus.

MANUFACTURE PROPERTY OF THE PR A. Cones, anthor of "Seven Sisters of " ap," &c. Hillatines is a 200 Woodlerds. Price IV.

MANUAL OF BOTANIC TERMS BOM, C. Co. With more than 40 Hlustrations. Fear, San., cloth, price 2s. 6d.

London ROSERV HARDWOLE, 192, Pointilly.



A mtholais Regard?

## HAND CATALOGUE

or Crawford 1509

## POSTAGE STAMPS

POR THE

USE OF COLLECTORS.

BY

JOHN EDWARD GRAY, Ph. D.

F.R.S. F.L.S. F.Z.S. &c.

OF THE BRITISH MUSEUM.

SECOND EDITION-Revised and Enlarged.

LONDON:

ROBERT HARDWICKE, 192, PICCADILLY.

## CONTENTS.

	P	age		2	Page
115.	America, United States		40.	French Empire	19
117.	, Confederate States	53		French Republic	19
27.	Antigua	14		French West Indies	20
	Argentine Confederation	57	51.	Geneva (Canton)	22
	Argentine Republic	57	52.	Geneva (Town)	22
77.	Austria (Tyrol and Lich-		122.	Granada Confederation	55
	tenstein)	31	30.	Grenada	15
81.	Baden	35	1.	Great Britain	1
	Baden, Land Post	36	58.	Greece	24
28.	Bahamas	15	96.	Hamburg	46
	Bahamas Islands	15		Hanover	42
22.	Barbados	13	90.	Hanover (Town)	43
<b>55</b> .	Basle (Town)	23	46.	Holland	21
79.		34	4.		5
45.	Belgium	20	2.	India	4
97.		46	11.	Ionian Islands	8
	Brazils	53	43.	Isle Bourbon	20
	Bremen	45	64.		27
	Bremen (Town)	45	26.		14
34.	British Columbia	16	54.		23
21.	British Guiana	12	112.	Liberia	50
	Brunswick	40	77.	Lichtenstein	31
87.	Brunswick (Town)	40	93.	Lubeck	45
130.	Buenos Ayres	57	48.		21
32.	Canada	15	63.		27
33.	Canada Packet Postage	16		Madrid	26
6.	Cape of Good Hope	7		Malta (Town)	8
	Ceylon	4	5.	Mauritius	6
119.	Chili	54	92.	Mecklenburg	44
124.	Columbia	56		Melbourne (Town)	11
117.	Confederate States of			Mexico	54
00	America	53	76.		31
99.	Copenhagen	47	75.	Modena (Duchy)	31
	Cuba and Porto Rico	27	110.	Moldavia	49
TIT.	Danubian Principalities	50	131.	Monte-Video	58
	Denmark	46	66.	Naples, before 1861	28
	Dutch Guiana	21	67.	Naples, Provisional Go-	00
	Finland	49	65	vernment, 1860	28
41,	French Colonies	20	65.	Naples, since 1861	28

#### CONTENTS.

	7	age	(	Ţ.	age
7.	Natal	7	68.	Sicily, until 1861	29
50.	Neuchatel (Town)	22	9.	Sierra Leone	8
	Nevis	15		South Australia	10
	New Brunswick	17	83.	South Germany (Thurn	
42.	New Caledonia	20		und Taxis)	36
	New Granada	56	60.	Spain	25
12.	New South Wales	8		States of the Church	29
116.	New York	52	100.	St. Croix	47
20.	New Zealand	12	8.	St. Helena	7
127.	Nicaragua	57	104.	Stockholm	48
84.	North Germany (Thurn		37.	St. John's, Newfoundland	17
	und Taxis)	37	25.	St. Lucia	14
102.	Norway	47	106.	St. Petersburg	48
	Nova Scotia	16	100.		47
88.	Oldenburg	41	24.	St. Vinceut	14
	Paraguay	56		Sweden	47
	Parma (Dukedom)	30	49.	Switzerland	21
74.	Parma, Provisional Go-		13.	Sydney	9
	vernment	31	83.	Thurn und Taxis	36
73.	Parma (Town)	31	23.	Trinidad	13
121.	Peru	54	69.	Tuscany, until 1861	29
63.	Philippines	27	77.	Tyrol	31
107.	Poland	48	115.	United States of N.	
	Porto Rico	27		America	51
<b>59</b> .	Portugal	24		Van Diemen's Land	12
	Prince Edward's Island	18	125.	Venezuela	56
	Prussia	38	78.	Venice and Lombardy,	
16.	Queensland	10		until 1859	33
71.	Romagne, Provisional			Victoria	10
	Government	30		Warsaw	49
105.	Russia	48		Western Australia	10
113.	Sandwich Islands	50		Winterthur (Town)	23
114.	Sandwich Islands and			Wurtemburg	34
	United States	50	56.	, , , , ,	23
	Saxony	43	57.	Zurich (Town)	23
101,	Schleswig Holstein	47			

## INTRODUCTION.

The collecting of Postage Stamps is a fashion not confined to this country, or to a single class; for collections are frequently to be seen in the drawing room of the luxurious, in the study of the

enlightened, and the locker of the schoolboy.

The fashion has been ridiculed, as all fashions will be; but if postage stamps are properly studied, collected, and arranged, there is no reason why they may not be quite as instructive and entertaining as the collection of birds, butterflies, shells, books, engravings,

coins, or other objects.

The use and charm of collecting any kind of object is to educate the mind and the eye to careful observation, accurate comparison, and just reasoning on the differences and likenesses which they present, and to interest the collector in the design or art shown in their creation or manufacture, and the history of the country which produces or uses the objects collected. The postage stamps afford good objects for all these branches of study, as they are sufficiently different to present broad outlines for their classification; and yet some of the variations are so slight that they require minute examination and comparison to prevent them from being overlooked; and the fact of obtaining stamps from so many countries suggests to ask what were the circumstances that induced their adoption, the history of the countries which issue them, and the understanding why some countries have considered it necessary, in so few years as have passed since they first came into use, to make so many changes in the form or design of the stamp used, while other countries, like Holland, have never made the slightest change.

The changes referred to all mark some historical event of importance; such as the accession of a new king, a change in the form of government, or the absorption of a smaller state into some larger one, a change in the currency, or some other revolution. Hence a collection of postage stamps may be considered, like a collection of coins, an epitome of the history of Europe and America for the last quarter of a century; and at the same time, as they exhibit much variation in design and in execution, as a the collection of works of art on a small scale, showing the style of art of the countries that issue them; while the size of the collection, and the manner in which they are arranged and kept, will show the industry, judgment, neatness, and taste of the collector, who should always

bear in mind that every accessory that is showy and bright takes away from the appearance and interest of the stamps themselves.

The full use of the stamps in teaching geography and history can only be obtained when they are arranged in systematic and chronological order. This has unfortunately not been seen by many compilers of catalogues and collectors, who place their stamps of the different countries alphabetically, thus separating the stamps of neighbouring countries of the same royal house, of the same language, or kind of money, into different parts of their collection. Many of these compilers and collectors have not been consistent with themselves, and arranged their collections partly geographically and partly alphabetically: this is even less instructive and more difficult to cousuit, as it is not easy to recollect how the stamps follow each other.

I began to collect postage stamps shortly after the system was established and before it had become a rage, as I took a great interest in their use and extension; as I believe I was the first who proposed, in 1834, the system of a small uniform rate of postage to be prepaid by stamps, having satisfied my own mind that the great cost of the Post Office was not the reception, carriage, and delivery of the letters, but the complicated system of accounts that the old system required; and having learned from the best writers on political economy that the collection of money by stamps was the most certain and economical. It was, in fact, the mere application of the system used with regard to newspapers to letters in general.

I found, after considerable trouble, that there was little, or, indeed, I may say no chance of getting attention to the plans suggested, without I could devote the whole of my time and energy to the agitation and development of it, which was not consistent with my position in the British Museum,—an institution to which I had

from a youth devoted my energies.

Fortunately Mr. (now Sir) Rowland Hill, who had leisure at his command by the dissolution of the South Australian Company, in 1837, published several pamphlets on a similar plan, and with the assistance of Mr. G. Moffatt, Mr. Henry Cole, Mr. Dillon, and sundry merchants and members of Parliament, whom they succeeded in interesting in the question, they carried the measure after very great exertion; and it has been a very great success, not only in a financial point of view, but also in what I considered a more important one, in spreading education and domestic intercourse among the people at large, and thereby increasing the happiness and well-being of the community.

Large as is the balance carried to the Revenue from the Post Office, the system proposed by me, and that propounded by Mr. Rowland Hill in his pamphlet, and which he and the other advocates of the change recommended before the Parliamentary

and other Committees, have never been completely carried out; consequently a large staff of clerks and other officials is still retained at the Post Office, at a large expense, to keep the complicated accounts that a few unpaid letters require, which, if the

system were fully carried out, would not be necessary.

I am aware that the prepayment of all letters by stamp is very difficult, if not impossible, to be carried out; but this is not necessary. There is no necessity for any account of unpaid letters to be kept. except in cases where the official suspects some unfair play; otherwise it might be left for the postmaster, through whose hands the unstamped letter last passes, to place the requisite stamps upon it, and to collect the cost of those stamps from the person to whom the letter is directed. This he is likely to do with care, as each postmaster is allowed a commission on all the stamps he sells; and to prevent, as much as possible, the sending of letters that would require this treatment, the system of paying double postage, or even a higher fine, should be enforced on all letters not paid for in stamps before they are despatched. It is said that the postmaster may lose, as many of the letters on which he has placed stamps may be refused. If so, they would be returned to the Dead-letter Office, and his stamps allowed for; but this will not be often requisite, as the Post Office can now enforce the payment against the sender if it be refused by the person to whom the letter is directed.

The postage prepaid by stamps has been adopted, as this list will prove, by many other countries, and has been extended into other branches of the Government and the law courts. It is also used in the electric telegraph companies, and in several errand and carrier

companies in Europe and America.

Oddly enough, some collectors place the stamps used by the Hamburg and American private carrier companies with their postage stamps. This catalogue is confined to stamps issued by government post-offices; for if those used by private establishments were

to be included, it would be difficult to define the limit.\*

While the subject was under discussion, an envelope was proposed surrounded by an engine-turned border, with the value and the weight it would carry marked in the corner; and during the discussion in Parliament various stamped covers were circulated by the advocates of the plan, to show the kind of envelope and stamp which they proposed should be used. They are now rare, and only to be seen in the albums of the wives and children of the members of the committee who preserved them.

In 1840, when the new system was established, two printed envelopes were issued bearing a design by Mulready, the Royal Academician, "with the hopes of spreading the taste for high art;"

<sup>\*</sup> See A. Trollope's "North America," vol. ii., p. 367.

but they called forth such an outburst of ridicule, and such a number of caricatures, that they were soon disused; and then the engraved profile of the Queen was adopted as an adhesive stamp for affixing on letters, and after some time an embossed profile of the Queen was issued, stamped on paper as an envelope.

When the first adhesive stamps were issued they were printed in black ink; but it was found difficult to properly obliterate them either with black or red ink, and they were afterwards issued printed in different coloured ink, so that they can all be obliterated

with the same black hand or machine stamp.

Some of the colonies commenced with manufacturing their own stamps, and used emblematic designs, as "Hope reclining," for the Cape of Good Hope; a "Swan," for Swan River; the "Queen on her Throne," for Victoria; but by degrees they have generally adopted a simple profile of the Queen, like the English; and the stamps now used in the colonies, and indeed in many parts of the world, are not only designed and engraved, but also printed or embossed, in England. Many of these are executed by Messrs. De la Rue & Co., of Bunhill Row, who call themselves, in the Directory, "Envelope Makers and Manufacturers of Government and Colonial Adhesive Stamps;" and Perkins, Bacon, & Co., in Fleet Street, "Bond and Bank Note Engravers." They are printed in these establishments under the supervision of an officer of the Inland Revenue department, or an inspector appointed by the Colonial governments.

The majority of foreign governments, as they have adopted the system, have also adopted the profile or portrait of their sovereign for the stamp. Other governments use the arms of the state or

sovereign for the purpose.

Some states, which began by merely using a number surrounded by a more or less complicated frame as a stamp, have gradually

adopted the royal portrait.

In England, the manner in which the stamps have been obliterated has undergone many changes; now they are obliterated by a block, which, by the form of the internal disk, and the number in it, marks the postal district in which it was originally stamped. Each Continental state obliterates in its own manner; several have undergone considerable change during the time the stamps have been in use. In France they not only obliterate with a hand-stamp, but the stamp used has acute prominences on it, so as to perforate the stamp when they obliterate it. The study of the means employed for this simple purpose affords an interesting object of contemplation.

In some of the outlying offices in India, Ceylon, &c., the stamp is obliterated by the sender with a pen and ink before the letter is

despatched.

In most countries the adhesive stamp and the envelope stamp are

different,—the one being printed from a surface, and the other embossed; this is even the case in Prussia, where the design of the two stamps are the same; but, lately, Austria has issued the same embossed design both as a denticulated adhesive stamp and as an envelope. In a few localities the envelopes are only stamped with

a simple hand-stamp.

In England the Stamp Office will place an embossed stamp on any paper that is sent to them for that purpose. So that the embossed stamps are circulated in very different forms and kinds of paper. They also permit embossed rings with the name of a firm, as Smith, Elder, & Co., and others, to be printed at the same time and in the same manner as the stamp; and stamps so circulated have been regarded as distinct kinds of stamps, when in fact they are only means of advertisement used by certain private firms.

The first English adhesive stamps were printed with black ink, and obliterated first with black and then with red ink. This was found inconvenient, and since then they have been printed with red

and blue inks, and obliterated with black.

Some few stamps, as the old 4 anna stamp of India, the "too late" and "registered" stamps of South Australia, the stamps of some of the Swiss Cantous, and some of the more modern embossed stamps of the United States, are printed in inks of two colours.

The Russian and Polish adhesive stamps are printed in three colours. They are the most beautiful stamps that have yet been

issued.

Some of the German States issued their first stamps printed in black ink on different coloured papers; but they have, one after another, given up the practice, and now issue the stamps printed with different coloured inks on white paper. Some of them, as Hanover, print the stamps with black ink, or, rarely, coloured ink, on white paper, and then cover the whole stamp with a coloured network.

The different German States seem to have changed the colour of the paper or the ink with which they printed the stamps at different times very capriciously, hence the same stamp occurs of very different colours. They are said to have adopted a uniform colour

for stamps of the same value, thus :-

4 pfennige, or & silbr. gr., or 1 kr. Green.

6 pfennige, or & silbr. gr. Orange.

1 silbr. gr., or 3 kr. Red.

2 silbr. gr., or 6 kr. Blue.

3 silbr. gr., or 9 kr. Brown.

The dies, before they are used, are often proved, by regulation of the Stamp Office, with a different coloured ink from that under which they are legally issued; some of these proofs have got into collections: they are called essai in the French catalogue; translated by some—essays!

The Australian Colonies sometimes send out the same stamps of

different shades of colour.

For these reasons, I have not considered any change in the colour of the stamp as a different stamp; for it is certainly the same, whether it is on green or white paper, or printed in black, red, or

green ink.

Formerly, some of these stamps were printed from copper-plates; but now, almost all the stamps are printed from wooden or metal blocks; the metal blocks being all struck from a single die, and then placed in a frame containing a certain number of stamps; the blocks are inked with rollers like letter-press printing, which is far more economical, both in labour and time. The die of the embossed stamps is inked on the surface; hence it is the sunken part that is coloured, while the raised part is the original colour of the paper. This fact has not been sufficiently observed, for some stamps, which differed in this respect, have been regarded as belonging to the same type.

In England, the adhesive stamps are printed on paper with a peculiar water-mark, different in the various stamps; and the envelopes issued by the English Stamp Office are all printed on a peculiar paper. Formerly there were three lines of coloured silk inserted in the paper, so as to form a line across the stamp; and several foreign governments adopted the same plan. It has now been disused in England and Germany; but in the latter they print in small letters, the value of the envelope, in three lines, over the stamp, thus: Post couvert, Drei groschen; Ein groschen, Post

couvert.

In Russia, the envelopes are embossed on paper prepared for the purpose, with the Russian spread-eagle for a water-mark, with different patterns according to the value.

In England, the regulation is that the stamp should be placed on

the upper right-hand corner of the letter or envelope.

In Saxony, Hanover, Baden, Brunswick, and Austria the stamp was formerly placed on the left-hand side of the envelope; now, they are usually placed, as in England, on the upper right-hand corner. In some lists and collections these are considered different stamps.

In Russia, the stamps of the envelopes are placed on the flap of the envelope; and in the Brazils, the stamps are used as a seal; this causes them sometimes to be overlooked by the English Post

Office.

Most of the English colonies have the name of country that issues them marked on the stamp. Several foreign countries have adopted the same plan, but, as they are often in a foreign tongue, it is necessary to translate the names into the English one used in this catalogue, thus:—

Bayern, Bavaria.

Braunschweig, Brunswick.

IONIKON KPATOΣ, Ionian Islands.

EAA, Greece.

Estensi, Modena.

Mejico, Mexico. Modenensi, Modena.

Neapolitana, Naples.

Nov. Camb. Aust., New South Wales.

Norge, Norway.

Preussen, Prussia.
Parmensi, Parma.
Sachsen, Saxony.
S. P. B., St. Petersburg.
Sicilia, Sicily.
Sverige, Sweden.
Toscano, Tuscany.
U. S., United States.
Warsjawska, Warsaw.

The name of the coin marked on stamps is interesting, and may lead, in cases where the name is not marked on them, to the discovery of their origin.

Anna.-India.

Bai or Baj, or Bajocco and Bajocchi.—Rome and Romagna.

C. Ct., Cent. or Cents.—United States, Confederate States, Liberia, Sandwich Islands, British Guiana, Canada, New Brunswick, and Nova Scotia.

Centavos - Chili. New Granada, Venezuela, Nicaragua, and Argentine Confederation.

Ct., Centimes (Cents). -- France and her colonies, Belgium, Holland, Dutch Guiana, Luxembourg, Switzerland, Swiss Towns, St. Thomas, and St. Croix.

Ct., Centessime (Cents).—Italy, Parma, Modena, Lombardy and Venice, Monte Video, and Tuscany.

Crazie.-Tuscany.

Cuartos.-Spain, Cuba, and Luzon.

Dinero.—Peru.

F. France, Franc. - Switzerland.

Gr., Grana.-Naples and Sicily.

Groschen.-Oldenburg and Hanover.

Grote.—Bremen.

Guten Groschen.—Brunswick and Hanover.

Kopec.—Russia, Poland, and Finland.

Kr., Kreuzer. — Austria, Bavaria, Wurtemburg, Baden, and South Germany (Thurn und Taxis).

Lepton. - Greece.

Lira.—Italy.

Neu Groschen.—Saxony. Ore.—Sweden and Stockholm.

Para.—Moldavia and Danubian Principalities.

Peseta .- Peru.

Peso .- Peru and Buenos Ayres.

Penny and Pence.-England and British Colonies.

Pfennig, Pfennige.—Brunswick, Saxony, Prussia, and Hanover.

Rapp., Rappen.—Switzerland.

Reale.—Spain, Mexico, Veneguela, and Buenos Ayres.

Real Plata. - Cuba and Porto Rico.

Reis. - Portugal and Brazil.

Shilling. - Great Britain and British Colonies.

Sch., Schillinge.—Mecklenburg, Lubeck, Hamburg, and Schleswig Holstein.

Silb. Gr., Silbergroschen.—Luxembourg, North Germany (Thurn und Taxis), Brunswick, Oldenburg, and Bremen.

Sk., Skilling .- Denmark, Norway, and Sweden.

Soldi.-Lombardy and Venice.

Scudo. - Rome.

Thaler.-Oldenburg and Hanover.

Tornesi .- Naples.

Bear - Madrid.

The following table of the words, arms, or emblems that are on different stamps may also be useful in cases where the name of the place is not marked.

Those which are ornamented a Portrait of the Sovereign are marked

thus:--

Certdo. - Spain. Correo interior .- Spain, Philippines. Correio .-- Portugal. Correos .- Spain, Cuba, Philippines. Franco-Marke. -- Bremen. Freimarke. - Prussia. Frimark.-Sweden, Denmark, Norway. K. G. L. Post F. R. M .- Denmark. K. K. Post-Stempel. - Austria, Venice. Posto bollo.—Italy, Naples. Postage. - Great Britain and Colonies. Postes.—France, Belgium, Luxemburg. Post-Marke.—Lübeck, Hamburg, Bergedorf. Post Zegel.-Holland and Dutch Guiana. S. H. Post, -Schleswig-Holstein. Stadtpost amt.—Bremen.

Others are marked with emblems or arms, as:-

Bull-head.—Moldavia, Danubian Principalities.
Cornucopia.—Peru.
Cross, in 5-sided shield Switzerland.
, in oblong shieldNeuchatel.
, in circular shield Lausanne, Winterthur.
Crown in wreath.—Dutch Guiana.
Eagle, one-headed.—Modena.
-, double-headedAustria, Venice.
, and post-horns.—Russia, Poland, St. Petersburg
and bull head Danubian Principalities.
, without crownSchleswig-Holstein.

Golden Fleece Collar.—Spain.

Horse running.—Brunswick.

prancing.—Hanover.

Libback

Key.—Lubeck.

Keys crossed.—States of the Church. Mercury, profile of.—Austria, Greece.

Llama. - Peru.

Lion rampant.-Norway, Finland.

Lion couching.—Sweden.

Lion and Tower, in shield .- Spain.

Lions, three, with stag's horns. - Würtemberg.

Post-horn and Trefoil.—Hanover.

Post-horn under Eagle. - Russia, Poland.

Post-horn and Bull-head. - Moldavia and Danubian Principalities.

Sceptre and Sword.—Denmark.

Stag's horns, three, with Lions .- Würtemberg.

Sword and Sceptre.—Denmark.
Tiara and Keys.—States of the Church.

Trefoil and Posthorn .- Hanover town.

This list is confined to the postage stamps which are issued by

the different governments.

I have therefore excluded the stamps issued by different private persons or companies who carry letters or parcels, or electric telegraph messages, and which have found it convenient to issue stamps. They are no more postage stamps than the stamps issued by the

Inland Revenue Office for fiscal purposes.

There will not be found in it the stamps issued by Hamer's Hamburg Boten, the Pacific Steam Navigation Company, or the different City expresses; or errand and carrier offices of the United States, which have often been regarded as postage stamps, and entered as such in the lists published by different persons. They would doubtless form an interesting collection by themselves, showing how convenient the collecting of revenue by stamps has been found.

The desire which some persons have to show stamps that are not in other collections has induced the dealers to produce pretended stamps, which have no real existence; as, for example, a French stamp with the portrait of the Republic, inscribed, Essai, 1858, which is after the "Empire" was established; or Turkish stamps, inscribed 6 Truze and 3 Mara, the Turkish Government not having as yet issued any stamps. Some collectors show Chinese stamps, which are only the impression of the seal of the mandarin who sent the letter. In the same manner, and for the same purpose, the colours of some stamps are artificially changed by soaking in water or some chemical fluid, or the stamps are covered over with a wash of colour, or the paper on which they are printed is stained. Some

of the stamps that were issued by the Provisional Government that followed the outbreak in Europe of 1848 have been withdrawn from circulation, and become rare, and therefore sell at a large price; this has induced some French dealers in them to have them imitated or forged. They are known from the real stamps, as they are lithograph, while the originals were block-printed.

The postage stamps are extensively used in this country as a species of paper money. To facilitate this use, the post offices throughout this country have lately been directed to receive postage stamps, at a small discount, from any one that may present them in

a clean state and more than two united together.

During the terrible Civil conflict in the late "United States" they form almost the only currency of small value in circulation; and the Government issued them without being gummed for the purpose of their being so used, as it was found that the gummed stamps were apt to adhere together when carried and handled. They have lately is sued postage stamps printed on larger paper, with long directions, under the title of *Postage Currency*, for 5 and 10 cents. "Act approved, July 17, 1862."

After the English name of the country or place where the stamp is issued, follows the foreign name of the place, or title of the king, or other inscription that may be on the stamps of that locality. In the description of the individual stamps, the lettering which is on the stamps is printed in *italic*. The list is arranged geographically, commencing with those of Great Britain and her colonies, and cach

country in succession, with its colonies or dependencies.

Now ready. New and Revised Edition. Second Thousand.

STAFFORD SMITH'S DESCRIPTIVE PRICE CATALOGUE of many hundred varieties of British, Colonial, and Foreign POSTAGE STAMPS. Illustrated with fac-simile engravings of rare stamps. Price 4d., post free 5d.

H. STAFFORD SMITH,

Foreign Stamp and Crest Depôt, Bath.

## HAND CATALOGUE

OF

## POSTAGE STAMPS.

#### I.-GREAT BRITAIN.

## A. Engraved Oblong Erect Adhesive Stamps.

- Profile of Queen, in oblong frame, with letters in the lower corners. One penny, black, red; twopence, blue.
- 2. Like 1, with V. R. in upper corners. One penny, black.
- 3. Like 1, with a white line above and below. Twopence, blue.
- 4. Like 3, with letters in the four corners. Twopence, blue.
- 5. Profile, in triangle, with rounded sides. Threehalfpence, red.
- 6. Profile, in trifoliate frame, angles pale. Threepence, rose.
- 6\*. Like 6, with angles lined. Threepence, rose (trial stamp).
- 7. Profile, in circle, labels arched. Fourpence, rose.
- 8. Like 7, with small letters in the four corners. Fourpence, crimson.
- 9. Profile, in circle, labels straight. Sixpence, lilac.
- 10. Like 9, with the circle waved. Ninepence, stone.
- 11. Profile, in oval. One shilling, green.

## B. Embossed Stamps for Envelopes.

- 13. Profile, in oval embossed frame, value above. One penny, rose, chocolate.
- 14. Like 13, frame dated. One penny, rose.

- 15. Like 13, but value below. Twopence, blue.
- 15\* Like 15, but dated. Twopence, blue.
- 16. Profile, in embossed triangular frame. Threehalfpence, rose.
- 17. Profile, in embossed subtrifoliate frame. Threepence, red.
- Profile and inscription, in embossed circle. Fourpence, red.
- 19. Profile, in embossed octagonal frame, with curved and straight sides. Sixpence, chocolate.
- 20. Like 19, but dated. Sixpence, lilac.
- 21. Like 18, frame with straight sides. Tenpence, red-brown.
- 22. Like 21, but dated. Sixpence, red-brown.
- 23. Like 21, but pattern of frame rather different. One shilling, green.
- 24. Like 23, but dated. One shilling, green.

## C. Letterpress and Woodcut Envelope no longer used.

- 25. Designed by W. Mulready, R.A., with letterpress directions on sides. Postage One Penny, black ink; postage Twopence, blue ink.
- 25 Like 25, without directions, in rhombic frame for envelope. One Penny, black; twopence, blue.
  - D. Stamps and Envelopes suggested, but not used.
- 26. Envelope, with engine-turned border. With V. R. and Crown, and not to exceed one ounce. One penny, in corners leaving a circular centre, buff. Folded in two forms.
- 27. Engine-turned pattern. Post-office cover, with oblong centre, V. R. and Crown, and London district post, to carry not exceeding six ounces. Twopence, green. Both suggested by Mr. Dickenson, 1837.
- 28. Embossed stamp for envelope. Profile of Queen in embossed white-lined oval frame, with flower below,

in a second frame, inscribed Postage One Penny, half oz., rose; postage Twopence, one oz., blue. 1838.

- 29. Engraved adhesive stamp. Number in oval, inscribed, Post-office, with a second oval frame, inscribed, One Penny, half oz., red and blue, or red and green ink. 1841.
- 29\* Embossed profile of Victoria, to left, enclosed in a double engine-turned embossed frame, with *Paid* in the upper part of the outer frame, rose.
- 29\*\* ½ ounce 1 D. on a small red circular disk, in oval black disk, surrounded by three close concentric engineturned frames, the middle one inscribed in pale letters, Post-office Permit above, and To carry matter not exceeding in weight below. All inclosed in a square engine-turned frame. Printed in black ink on white paper, with red unequal blotches across the oval frames.

# E. Newspaper Postage Stamps for Circulation in Great Britain.

- 30. Printed rose, shamrock, and thistle, on a folded mantle, with Dieu et mon Droit on a label below, with one on label in the upper, and penny in the lower, edge. Newspaper on right, and name of the paper, as Spectator or Athenœum, on the left side, red ink.
- 30\* Crown, with One Penny beneath, and wreath on each side, in oblong frame, with outer broader side frame inscribed. The Times Newspaper on sides, black ink.
- 30\*\* Like 3\*, but One half-penny and Supplement on right side, black.
- 30\*\*\* Crown, with rose, shamrock, and thistle, and wreath on each side, in half oblong transverse inscribed frame. With *Times Newspaper* above, and *Threehalfpence* below, black.

## F. Satirical Envelopes produced by, No. 25.

- 31. Fores's comic envelope. By J. Leech. No. 1. 1840.
- 32. Rejected designs for the postage envelope. No. 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6. 1840.
- 33. J. Leech's Paul Pry envelope. Engraved by W. J. Linton, with Sir James Graham as Britannia.

#### II.-INDIA.

## A. Engraved Adhesive Stamp, Old Series.

- Square blue profile of Queen, in red circle in octagon. 4 annas, red.
- 2. Oblong erect profile of Queen, in oblong frame. *India*, above. ½ anna, blue; 1 anna, red; 2 annas, green.

## B. Engraved Adhesive Stamp, New Series.

3. Profile of Queen, in oval inscribed frame, in oblong. East India Postage above. \( \frac{1}{2} \) anna, blue; 1 anna, brown; 2 annas, pink, orange; 4 annas, black; 8 annas, rose, on blue or white paper.

## C. Engraved Adhesive Newspaper Stamp.

4. Like 3, in oval, in eight-sided frame, inscribed East India Postage. Eight pies, lilac.

#### D. Embossed Envelope Stamp.

 Profile of Queen to left, in circular embossed frame, with *India Postage* above. Half anna, blue; one anna, chocolate.

#### III.—CEYLON.

## A. Engraved Adhesive Stamps, Oblong, Erect.

1. Profile of Queen, in oval disk, in oblong. Ceylon above. One penny, blue; twopence, green; fivepence, brown; sixpence, chocolate, violet, brown.

- 2. Like 1, with number (10) in four corners. Tenpence, orange red.
- 3. Like 1 and 2, with number (1) in upper corners. One shilling, lilac.
- 4. Like 1, in octagonal disk, in octagonal frame. Fourpence, red; eightpence, brown; ninepence, brown,
  carmine; one shilling and ninepence, brown; two
  shillings, blue.

## B. Engraved Adhesive Newspaper Stamp.

5. Profile of Queen, in circle, in oblong. Ceylon above. One halfpenny, lilac.

## C. Embossed Stamps for Envelopes.

- Embossed profile of Queen, with embossed name in circular frame. Sixpence, chocolate; one shilling, yellow.
- 7. Like 6, but in oval smooth-edged frame. One penny, blue; twopence, green.
- 8. Like 7, but outer edges of frame sinuous. Fourpence, rose; fivepence, red-brown.
- 9. Like 8, but oval, in square frame. Ninepence, chocolate; one shilling and ninepence, green.
- 10. Like 7, but disk and frame eight-sided. Eightpence, dark brown.
- 11. Like 10, but disk oblong, with straight sides and rounded ends. Two shillings, blue.

#### IV.-HONG-KONG.

 Engraved profile of the Queen to left, in an oblong erect lined disk, with a white frame, with a square dark pattern at each angle, and inscribed—Hong-Kong in upper, value in lower, and some Chinese characters on the sides. Two cents, 8, 12, 18, 24, 48, 96 cents-1862.

#### V.-MAURITIUS.

## A. Engraved Adhesive Stamps.

- Profile of Queen with diadem to left, in oblong frame, inscribed, in pale small letters—Postage in upper, and Post Paid, Mauritius, on sides, with a cross and a star at alternate angles, shading of disk in slanting lines only. One penny, red; twopence, blue.
- 2. Like 1, but the letters rather larger, the whole stamp better executed, shading in perpendicular lines only. Twopence, blue.
- 3. Like 2, but shading in slanting and perpendicular lines.

  One penny, yellow, red; twopence, blue.
- 3\* Like 3, but shading in perpendicular, slanting, and horizontal lines. Twopence, blue.
- 4. Profile of Queen with crown to left, in oblong frame, with Mauritius on upper edge. One penny, red; two-pence, blue.
- 5. Profile of Queen to left, in Greek patterned oblong erect frame. One penny, red; twopence, blue.
- 6. Britannia sitting, in oblong frame, with Mauritius on lower edge. Blue, red, violet, and green.
- 7. Like 6, with *Mauritius* on upper edges. Sixpence, blue, purple; one shilling, red, green, brown.
- 8. Profile of the Queen in circle, in oval in oblong frame.

  One penny, brown; twopence, blue; fourpence, rose;

  sixpence, green; ninepence, lilac; one shilling, pale
  brown.

## C. Embossed Envelope Stamps.

- 9. Profile of Queen, in eight-sided disk, in circular frame, inscribed with *Mauritius*, *Postage* and *Sixpence*, in embossed letters, in upper and lower parts, and with a rose on each side, chocolate.
- 10. Profile of Queen in five-sided shield, in a broad frame,

with nine unequal sides, inscribed with Mauritius and Postage, in embossed letters and labels, and Ninepence on sides, in sunken letters, chocolate.

#### VI.-CAPE OF GOOD HOPE.

- 1. Block printed figure of Hope reclining, on uniform ground, in triangular inscribed frame. One penny, red; fourpence, blue; sixpence, lilac.
- 2. Like 1, but engraved, with lined ground. One penny, red; fourpence, blue; sixpence, lilac; one shilling, green, all on white bluish paper.

#### VII.-NATAL.

## A. Engraved Adhesive Stamps.

1. Engraved portrait of Queen in oval in oblong erect frame. One penny, red; threepence, blue; sixpence, lilac.

## B. Embossed Coloured Paper Stamps for Newspapers.

- 2. Embossed crown and Natal below, in oblong erect frame, with One in upper, penny in lower margin, buff paper; one penny, blue, pink, yellow paper.
- 3. Embossed crown and Natal above, and V. R. on each side, with value on oval disk below. Three-pence, reddish.
- Like 3, with value, Sixpence, green, on surface of paper, without frame, green.
- 5. Like 3, with value, Ninepence, with laurel wreath on each side, blue.
- 6. Like 3, one shilling, drab.

## VIII.-ST. HELENA.

1. Engraved profile of Queen in circle, in oblong erect frame. Sixpence, blue.

#### IX.-SIERRA LEONE.

1. Engraved profile of Queen in octagon, in oblong erect inscribed frame, interrupted at the corners. Sixpence, lilac.

#### X.-MALTA (Town).

1. Engraved profile of Queen in octagon, with wreath below, in oblong erect frame. One halfpenny, buff.

#### XI.-IONIAN ISLANDS. (ΙΟΝΙΚΟΝ ΚΡΑΤΟΣ.)

1. Engraved profile of Queen in oval, inscribed garter, in oblong erect frame. Orange, blue, and red.

#### XII.—NEW SOUTH WALES.

## A. Badly Engraved Profile (Native) Adhesive Stamp.

1. Profile of Queen, with laurel, with Postage in white letters, an arched label above, in oblong frame. New South Wales and value in small dark letters, printed on coloured paper. One penny, red; twopence, blue; threepence, green.

1\* Like 1, printed on white paper. One penny, red; two-

pence, blue; threepence, green.

There seems to be more than one edition of these stamps, differing a little in the size of the letters.

2. Like 1, but value in larger letters, printed on coloured paper. Sixpence, brown; eightpence, orange.

2\* Like 2, printed on white paper. Sixpence, brown; eightpence, orange.

3. Profile of Queen, with laurel, in red oval disk, with blue oval frame, inscribed New South Wales above; and Registered below.

# B. Well-Engraved Profile, Oblong Erect Adhesive Stamp.

- 4. Profile of Queen with diadem, in oblong, with Postage above, in inscribed oblong frame, value in white letters. One penny, red; twopence, blue.
- Like 4, with value in dark letter on white label. Threepence, green.
- 6. Like 4, but all inscription in dark letters, and Postage on left side. Twopence, blue.
- C. Well-Engraved Profile, Square Adhesive Stamp.
- 7. Profile with diadem in circle, surrounded with tridents, in six-sided frame. Sixpence, grey, lilac, or brown.
- 8. Like 7, in circle, with plain outer edge, in eight-sided frame. Eightpence, orange.
- 9. Like 8, but outer edge of circle with tridents grouped in threes by three arches. One shilling, red, blue.

## D. Engraved Circular Adhesive Stamp.

 Profile of Queen with crown, with Gothic enrichment and letters. Five shillings, purplish. The most beautiful stamp.

#### XIII.-SYDNEY.

- 1. Figures and ship, with motto sic fortis et rudis crevit below, in circle inscribed Sigillum Nov. Camb. Aust., in oblong, erect, inscribed frame, single on sides, formed of close engine-turned cross lines; angles with horizontal lines; letters dark. Threepence, green-olive.
- 2. Like 1, frame of engine-turned oblique spiral lines, angles with perpendicular lines, letters white on a dark label. *Twopence*, green, dark or pale blue.

- 3. Like 1, frames double on sides, outer of oblique broad coloured bars, inner netted, letters white, angles sandy. One penny, red.
- 4. Like 3, angles with horizontal lines. One penny, red.
- Like 3, but stars at angles, larger, with larger open centres, frame of oblique narrow coloured bars, angles sandy. One penny, red.

#### XIV.-SOUTH AUSTRALIA.

- 1. Engr aved profile of Queen in circle in oblong erect frame.

  One penny, green; twopence, red; sixpence, blue; one shilling, orange.
- 2. Like 1, in inscribed oval in oblong. Ninepence, lilac.

#### XV. WESTERN AUSTRALIA.

 Engraved swan in oblong transverse frame. One penny, rose, black; twopence, orange, blue, black; fourpence, red; sixpence, black, red, green.

2. Like 1, but angle of frame truncated, octagonal. One penny, red, black; twopence, red; fourpence, blue; sixpence, bronze.

3. Like 1, but inscribed frame, oval. One shilling, pale brown.

#### XVI.-QUEENSLAND.

1. Engraved portrait of Queen in inscribed oval in oblong erect frame. One penny, red; twopence, blue; three-pence, brown; sixpence, green; one shilling, black, purple.

2. Like 1, with angles of outer frame truncated. Regis-

tered, pale brown.

## XVII.-VICTORIA.

A. Older Engraved Adhesive, badly executed.

1. Engraved full-length of Queen on throne, with Victoria in arch above. One penny, green; sixpence, blue.

- 2. Engraved half-length on throne, in oblong. One penny, rose, cinnamon; twopence, pale brown; threepence, blue.
- 3. Engraved profile of Queen on blue disk, in white inscribed circle in shaded octagon. One shilling, blue.

## B. Modern Engraved Adhesive, well executed.

- 4. Engraved profile of Queen in oblong, Victoria on straight upper edge, with value in small white letters on the scroll at upper edge. Disk lined. Sixpence, black, brown, or red.
- 5. Like 4, disk uniform coloured. Two shillings, green.
- 6. Engraved profile in oblong, with two pale labels; framed and hand-stamped in another colour, Registered.

  One shilling, blue and rose.
- 7. Like 6, framed and hand-stamped in another colour, Too late. Sixpence, lilac and green.
- 8. Engraved profile of Queen, in oval inscribed frame, with flowers on side in oblong, emblems in angles.

  One penny, green; twopence, lilac, purple; fourpence, red, pink.
- 9. Like 8, with a star on each side of oval only. One penny, green.
- 10. Like 9, with number of value on side of oval, letters large, dark. Sixpence, black.
- 11. Like 10, letters small, white, oval, more ornamented. Threepence, blue; fourpence, rose; sixpence, black, yellow.

## XVIII.-MELBOURNE (Town).

- Engraved, a full length of Queen on throne. Twopence, pale brown.
- 2. Like 1, steps higher, letters smaller. Twopence, pale brown.

## XIX.-VAN DIEMEN'S LAND, OR TASMANIA.

## A. Old Series Adhesive Stamps, inscribed Van Diemen's Land.

- 1. Small profile to right, in inscribed oval, in oblong erect frame, with the angles notched out. One penny, blue.
- 2. Like 1, in inscribed circle, in eight-sided frame. Four-pence, orange, brown.
- 3. Like 2, but profile to left. Tenpence, red.

## B. Modern Series, inscribed Van Diemen's Land.

- 4. Portrait in oval, in oblong frame, on white paper. One penny, red; twopence, green; fourpence, blue.
- 4\* Like 4, on slightly-coloured paper. One penny, red; twopence, green; fourpence, blue.

#### C. Modern Series, inscribed Tasmania.

- 5. Partrait like 4, in eight-sided frame, with curved corners, white letters. Sixpence, lilac, purple.
- 6. Like 5, with frame of eight straight sides and dark letters. One shilling, red.

#### XX. NEW ZEALAND.

- 1. Engraved portrait of Queen in circle in oblong, on white paper. One penny, red; twopence, blue; sixpence, brown; one shilling, green.
- 2. Like 1, on blue or slightly-coloured paper. One penny, red; twopence, blue; sixpence, brown; one shilling, green.

#### XXI.-BRITISH GUIANA.

## A. Engraved Adhesive Stamps.

Sloop to right in centre shield, value above, motto, Patimus, &c., below, British Guiana on sides. 1 cent, red paper; 4 cents, blue paper.

- 2. Ship in oblong disk, part of motto, Petimus, &c., above and part below. British Guiana above and below, Postage and value on sides. 4 cents, red paper.
- 3. Ship to left, in oval frame, inscribed with the motto.

  Postage above, British Guiana on sides in short labels, and 1.8.5.3. in corners. One cent, red, black; four cents, blue, black.
- 4. Like 3, but ship to right, Guiana above. Postage on right side, and 1.8.6.0. in corners. One cent, red, brown; two cents, orange; four cents, blue.
- 5. Like 4, but viii. cents, red; xii. cents, lilac; xxiv. cents, green.

## B. Letterpress Stamps for Newspapers.

- 6. Printed circle, with 8 cents, in the centre, and inscribed British Guiana, near the margin, on green paper (1850?).
- 7. A square frame of black balls, enclosing a square frame formed of lines, inscribed British Guiana.

  Postage two cents, with a plain square centre, on yellow paper (1862). Four cents, blue paper.

## XXII.—BARBADOS.

- Engraved, Britannia sitting in oblong frame, Barbados in lower edge. Red, green, blue, black, &c.
- 2. Like 1, with Barbados on upper edge. Sixpence, red; one shilling, black.

## XXIII.-TRINIDAD.

- Engraved, Britannia sitting in oblong frame, Trinidad in lower edge. Red, green, blue, black, &c.
- 2. Like 1, Trinidad in upper edge. Fourpence, violet; sixpence, green; one shilling, black.

- 3. Like 1, but very coarsely executed on wood. Red, blue, grey, and black.
- 4. Like 3, but rather better executed, but not so good as 1. Red, blue, black, and grey.

#### XXIV.-ST. VINCENT.

1. Engraved profile of Queen, in oval, with truncated ends, in oblong frame. One penny, red; sixpence, green.

#### XXV .- ST. LUCIA.

1. Engraved profile of Queen, in inscribed oval frame, in oblong. Red (one penny); blue (fourpence); green (sixpence).

#### XXVI.-JAMAICA.

 Engraved profile of Queen, with laurel in circle, in oblong; inscription in arched labels on circle. One penny, blue.

2. Like 1, inscription in curved marginal labels. Two-

pence, rose.

3. Like 1, inscription in straight marginal labels. Fourpence, orange.

4. Engraved profile of Queen, in inscribed hexagon frame,

in oblong. Sixpence, lilac.

5. Engraved profile of Queen, in inscribed oval frame, in oblong. One shilling, brown.

#### XXVII.-ANTIGUA.

1. Engraved profile of the Queen, crowned, to left, on an engine-turned disk, in an oblong erect frame, with Antiqua and value in pale letters, on a dark label, on upper and lower margin. One penny, red; sixpence, green.

#### XXVIII.-BAHAMAS.

1. Engraved portrait of Queen, in oval in oblong. Four-pence, rose; sixpence, blue or grey.

## XXIX .- BAHAMAS ISLANDS only.

1. Engraved small portrait of Queen, in small oval, with emblems on sides, and *Interinsular Postage* above. One penny, rose or crimson.

#### XXX.-GRENADA.

1. Engraved portrait of Queen, in oval in oblong. One penny, green; sixpence, red.

## XXXI.-NEVIS.

- 1. Engraved picture (three females) of Benevolence, in circle in oblong. Value on lower edge in pale letters. One penny, orange.
- 2. Like 1, value on edge of circle, in pale letters. Fourpence, rose.
- 3. Like 1, but letters dark. Sixpence, lilac, grey.
- 4. Like I, but picture in oval frame, with pale letters. One shilling, green.

#### XXXII.-CANADA.

### A. Engraved Adhesive Stamps.

- 1. Profile of Queen, in inscribed oval in erect oblong. One halfpenny, rose.
- 2. Like 1, profile larger. One cent, rose.
- 3. Beaver with crown, and V.R. above, in inscribed oval in transverse oblong, 3 in corners. Threepence, red.
- 4. Like 3, two stars in frame, 5 in corners. Five cents, red.
- 5. Portrait of Prince Albert, in inscribed oval in erect oblong, 6 in corners. Sixpence, chocolate black.
- 6. Like 5, X in corners. Ten cents, chocolate black.

- 7. Portrait of Jaq. Cartier, in inscribed oval, in erect oblong frame. 8d. stg. in upper, and 10 cy. in lower corners. Tenpence, blue.
- 8. Like 7. 8d. stg. in upper and 17 in lower corners. Seventeen cents, blue.
- 9. Portrait of Queen, in inscribed oval, 12 at corners. Twelvepence, black.

## B. Embossed Stamps for Envelopes.

10. Embossed profile of Queen, in inscribed embossed oval.

Three cents,—five cents, red; ten cents, brown.

#### XXXIII.—CANADA PACKET POSTAGE.

- Engraved portrait of Queen, in inscribed oval, in erect oblong, with 12½ c. in corners. Sixpencesterling, green.
- 2. Like 1. 7½ cy., sixpence sterling, green.

## XXXIV.—BRITISH COLUMBIA AND VAN-COUVER'S ISLAND.

1. Engraved profile of Queen in oblong disk in four-sided frame, with *British Columbia* in two lines on upper, and *Vancouver's Island* on two lines on lower edges, *Postage* on one side, and *Twopence-halfpenny* on the other side, pink.

#### XXXV.-NOVA SCOTIA.

# A. Old Series of Engraved Square Large Adhesive Stamps.

- 1. A crown, surrounded by four stars, each enclosing a flower, in lozenge-shape frame, with a number at corners. Threepence, blue; sixpence, green; one shilling, violet.
- 2. Portrait of Queen Victoria, in lozenge, with half a star on each side, in a square frame, inscribed Nova Scotia, in upper and lower edge, One Penny Postage, on sides, and number I at each angle; chocolate.

- B. New Series of Small Oblong Adhesive Stamps.
- 3. Profile of Queen, in circle, with scroll ornaments externally. One cent, black; five cents, blue.
- 4. Full-faced portrait of Queen, in oval, with floral and scroll ornament outside, and value in flexuous label. Eight and ½ cents, green; ten cents, red, scarlet.
- Like 4. Value in a straight marginal label. Twelve and ½ cents, black.

#### XXXVI.-NEW BRUNSWICK.

## A. Old Series, Engraved Large Adhesive Stamp.

- Four stars, each enclosing a flower, surrounding a crown, in lozenge-shaped frame, with a number at corners. Threepence, red; sixpence, yellow; one shilling, violet.
  - B. Small Oblong Engraved Adhesive Stamps.
- 2. Locomotive, in inscribed oval, in transverse oblong, with 1 at corners. One cent, brown.
- 3. Like 2, with steam-ship and 12½ in corners. Twelve and half cents, blue.
- 4. Portrait of Queen, in inscribed oval, in erect oblong, with 5 at corners. Five cents, green.
- Like 4, but X at angles, and 10 at lower corners.
   Ten cents, red.
- 6. Portrait of Prince of Wales, in inscribed oval, in erect oblong, with 17 at corners. Seventeen cents, black.
- 7. Portrait of Mr. Connel, in oval inscribed frame, with 5 in each angle, oblong. Five cents, chocolate (withdrawn).

## XXXVII.—ST. JOHN'S, NEWFOUNDLAND.

- A. Old Large-sized Engraved Adhesive Stamps.
- 1. Trefoil, with rose, shamrock, and thistle, in triangular

- inscribed frame, number (3) at corners. Threepence, green.
- 2. Four stars, each enclosing a flower, surrounding a crown, in square frame, with a number at corners.

  One penny, red-brown; fivepence, red-brown.

## B. New, Smaller Oblong Adhesive Stamps.

- 3. A nosegay of rose, shamrock, and thistle, in circle, in oval frame, inscribed St. John's, Newfoundland, above, and Postage in lower truncate edge, all inclosed in oblong frame, with number of value in each angle. Twopence, red or scarlet.
- 4. Like 3, numbers in upper angles only. One shilling, red or scarlet.
- 5. Like 3, with *Postage* in small letter, in an arched label in upper margin, and circular disk large. *Eightpence*, red.
- Like 5, but disk considerably smaller. Postage in straight lobes in upper edge. Fourpence.
- 7. Like 3, but nosegay in oval disk, in oval frame. Sixpence, red.
- 8. Like 6, with *Postage* over small circular disk, *Sixpence halfpenny*; in arched labels above and below, *Sixpence halfpenny*, red or scarlet.

## XXXVIII.—PRINCE EDWARD'S ISLAND.

- 1. Coarsely engraved profile of the Queen, with diadem, in oblong inscribed frame. One penny, orange.
- 2. Like 1, with narrow label below, and profile in inscribed circle in oblong. Twopence, red.
- 3. Like 2, profile in inscribed oval, in oblong. Threepence, blue.
- 4. Like 2, profile in inscribed hexagonal, in oblong. Sixpence, green.
- 5. Like 2, profile in sinuous oblong inscribed frame, with

broad label beneath, in oblong. Ninepence currency, equal to sixpence stg., lilac.

In several of the North American colonies and Chili, when they want only half the postage marked on the stamps, they cut them in half obliquely, and use only a half of each on the letter. Hence many are found so divided.

## XXXIX.-FRENCH Republic. Repub. Franc.

- Engraved profile of Liberty, in circle, in oblong erect frame. 10c., chocolate; 15c., blue; 20c., black; 25c., blue; 40c., red, postes; 1 fr. crimson, postes.
- 2. Like 1, profile of Emperor. 10c., chocolate; 20c., blue, postes.\*

# XL.—The FRENCH Empire. Empire Franc. et Algiers.

Engraved profile of Emperor, in circle, in oblong.
 1c., grey; 5c., light green; 10c., brown; 20c., light blue; 25c., blue; 40c., orange; 80c., rose (carmine), postes.
 1 fr., carmine, postes.

2. Printed number 10, in a square frame inscribed, chiffre postes taxe 10 centimes à percevoir, black (for

unpaid letters).

- 3. "Stamp common size, divided by perforations, head of Napoleon to left in circle in upper half inscribed Empire Française, coller cette partie supérieure, in oblong border; lower half inscribed, laisser flotter cette partie inférieure in truncated oval, and timbre poste. 20 cents, blue."
- \* There is a stamp in many collections like this with essai 1858 on the upper margin, and no value below, printed in most of the colours of the other in use; but this appears to be a hoax, as the Empire was declared before 1858.

## XLI.—FRENCH Colonies. Colonies de l'Empire Française.

1. Engraved eagle, under crown, in inscribed circle in square frame. 1c., olive; 5c., green; 10c., brown; 20c., blue; 40c., vermillion; 80 c., rose, postes.

## XLIL-NEW CALEDONIA. Nouvelle Caledonie.

 Engraved profile of the Emperor to left, in pale octagonal disk, in oblong erect inscribed frame. 10c. postes, grey.

#### XLIII.-ISLE BOURBON. Isle de la Reunion.

1. Engraved name, &c., 1862, on coloured paper. 10c., 20c., 30c., blue, green, postes.

## "XLIV.—FRENCH WEST INDIES. Antilles, Cavenne."

"1. Engraved profile of Emperor to left. 10c., orange; 20c., blue, postes."

I have never seen these stamps.

#### XLV.-BELGIUM. Postes.

- 1. Engraved portrait of King, with epaulettes, value in straight line and white letters. Dix cent., brown; vingt cent., blue.
- Like 1, portrait in oval, value on edge of oval in blue coloured letters. Un centime, green; dix cent., brown; vingt cent., blue; quarante cent., red.
- Embossed profile of Leopold to the left, with crown of laurels, in oblong erect frame. 10c., grey. A trial stamp, 1862.

## XLVI.-HOLLAND. Post Zegel.

1. Engraved profile of King, in oval embellished frame, in oblong erect frame. 5c., green; 10c., red; 15c., orange.

## XLVII.-DUTCH GUIANA. Post Zegel.

 Engraved crown in wreath, with four diverging laurelleaves, with Post zegel in upper, and value in lower part of pale disk, in oblong frame, with 1.8.6.1. at corners. 10 c. lilac paper, rose, lavender.

## XLVIII.-LUXEMBURG. Luxembourg.

- Engraved profile of Duke, in oval embellished frame, in oblong, with number in upper corners. Dix centimes, black.
- 2. Like 1. Un silbergros, red-brown.
- 3. Arms (a lion) and crown, in oval embellished frame, with a number in circle at lower sides, in oblong erect frame. 10c., blue; 12½c., red; 25c., lilac; 30c., violet, red; 37½c., green; 40 centimes, vermillion.
- Arms (a lion) and crown, in circle, with number in circle on each side, and two labels, all in oblong frame. 2 centimes, black; 4 centimes, yellow.

#### XLIX.-SWITZERLAND. Helvetia.

## A. Present Series for all Switzerland.

- Engraved Switzerland, seated in oblong inscribed frame.
   grey; 5, pale brown; 10, blue, yellow; 15, red; 20, yellow; 40, green, rappen, or centimes, or centessimi.
- 2. Like 1, figures and letters embossed. 20, yellow; 40, green, rappen, or centimes, or centessimi; un franc, grey.
- 3. Like 1, the engraved figure, smaller in profile, with Helvetia in upper, franco in lower margin, and a number at corners. 2, grey; 3, black; 5, brown; 10, blue; 20, orange; 30, vermillion; 40, green; 60, yellow. 1 franc, carmine.

- B. Older Series, when Switzerland was divided in Rayons.
- 4. Engraved white cross in red shield, with ornamented frame, and post-horn above, in oblong erect frame Rayons I. above, on white paper, 5 rp., blue.
- 4\* Like 4, black ink on blue paper, 5 rp. blue.
- 5. Like 4, with 5 cents, blue. For French cantons.
- 6. Like 4, but pattern of ground rather less dense, and Rayon II. above. 10 rp. Black ink on yellow paper.
- 7. Like 8, with 10 cents, black or yellow. For French cantons.
- Like 4, but shield only red lined, Rayon III. above.
   15 rp. Red ink on white paper.
- 8\* Like 8, but figure 15 is smaller, red on white.
- 9. Like 8, but with 15 cents. Red ink on white paper. For French cantons.
- Like 4, shield red. Poste locale above. 2½ rp. Black ink on white paper.
- 11. Like 10, but with 2½ cents, black or white.
- 12. Like 7, but Orts post above. 2½ rp., black or white.

#### L.—NEUCHATEL (Town).

 Engraved, white cross on oblong red shield, with scroll on side, Poste locale above, in oblong frame. 5 centimes. Black ink on white paper.

## LI.-GENEVA (Canton). Geneve.

- Engraved arms, half-eagle and key, with motto on label above, Port cantonal below, printed in black ink on green paper, 5 cents.
- 2. Like 1, printed in green ink on white paper, 5 cents.

#### LII.—GENEVA (Town).

1. Like former, but only two-thirds the size, Port locale below. 5c. Black ink on green paper.

2. Two of these stamps are united together by a label, above inscribed 10, Port Cantonal, Cents.; so they serve for both purposes.

### LIII.-WINTERTHUR (Town).

 Engraved white cross on red circular disk, with post-horn below on red lined scroll, inscribed Orts post. Poste locale, in oblong transverse frame. 2½ R. in corners, black, red.

### LIV.-LAUSANE (Town).

 Engraved white cross on red circular disk, with post-horn below, in richly ornamented scroll, with Poste locale on straight label above. 4 c., 5 c., black.

## LV.-BASLE (Town). Basle.

Embossed white dove, on a red shield, edged below with a band bearing Stadt post. Basel, in square frame.
 2½ rp. in lower corners, black.

## LVI.—ZURICH (Canton).

- 1. Engraved large number on diapered ground in oblong erect framed disk, with Cantonal taxe on lower edge, with pale perpendicular lines. 6, black.
- 1\* Like 1, with pale horizontal lines. 6, black.
- 2. Engraved figure 6 in diapered oval disk, in oval frame, with scrolls at corners, inscribed Sechs rappen on left, and Cantonal taxe on right, and 1.8.4.3 at corners.

#### LVII.-ZURICH (Town).

- 1. Like No. 1. of LVI, with Local taxe on lower edge. Stamp with pale perpendicular lines. 4, black.
- 1\* Like 1, with pale horizontal lines. 4, black.

 Engraved figure 4 on diapered oval disk, in oval frame with scroll at corner, inscribed Vier Rappen in left, and Local taxe on right side, and 1.8.4.3. in the scroll at corner of the frames.

The stamp forgers have issued a stamp like 1, with the date 1843 added in the corner, as this stamp.

#### LVIII.-GREECE. EAA. TPAMM.

Engraved profile of Mercury, in circle in oblong. 1 Lept., brown; 2 lept., stone; 5 lept., green; 10 lept., red; 20 lept., blue; 40 lept., lilac; 80 lept., erimson.

Printed on tinted paper. The stamps of 1861 have the figure of value on the back, in ink of the colour of the stamp.

#### LIX.-PORTUGAL. Correio.

- Embossed profile of Queen Maria II. to left, in circle, in embossed eight-sided frame, correio above. 5 reis, brown.
- 2. Like 1, profile in oval in oblong sinuous frame. 25 reis.
- 3. Like 2, profile in oval in straight-sided octagon frame. 50 reis, green.
- 4. Like 1, profile in circular beaded frame, in oblong ornamented frame. 100 reis, lilac.
- 5. Embossed profile of King Pedro V. to right, in circle, correio above, like 1. 5 reis, brown.
- 6. Like 5, with frame, like 2. 25 reis, blue, rose.
- 7. Like 5, with frame 3. 50 reis, green.
- 8. Like 5, with frame like 4. 100 reis, lilac.
- 9. Embossed profile of King Louis to left, in circle, like 1, in embossed eight-sided frame. 5 reis, brown.
- 10. Like 9, in oval in oblong. 25 reis, rose.
- 11. Like 9, in oval in octagon. 50 reis, green.
- 12. Like 9, in circle, in oblong, with toothed corners. 100 reis, lilac.

#### LX.-SPAIN.

## A. Engraved Profile Isabella II., Adhesive Stamps.

- 1. Profile of Queen to left, with diadem in oblong inscribed frame, letters white, with 1850 below. 6 cuartos, black.
- Profile of Queen to right, in oblong, with 1850 below, letters black, frame white, 12 cuartos, violet;
   6 reales, blue; 10 reales, green.

2\* Like 2, with white letter in black frame, and Certificado on right side. 5 reales, red.

- 3. Profile of Queen to right, with rows of pearls, in oval inscribed frame, in oblong, with 1851 below. 4 cuartos, seis cuartos, black; 12 cuartos, violet; 2 reales, red; 5 reales, red; 6 reales, blue; 10 reales, green.
- 4. Profile of Queen to left, with fillet, in circle in oblong, with straight upper and lower labels. 1852 below. franco above. 6 cs., red; 12 cuartos, violet; 5 reales, green; 6 reales, blue; 10 reales.
- 4\* Like 4, certdo above. 6 cs., red.
- 5. Profile of Queen to right, with diadem, in circle in oblong, with straight upper and lower labels. Correos 1853 above, franco below. 6 cuartos, red; 12 cuartos, violet; 2 reales, rose; 5 reales, green; 6 reales, blue.
- 5\* Like 5, certdo above. 6 cuartos, red.
- 6. Profile of Queen to left, with diadem, in circle, with waved label above, caduceus and anchor below, in oblong. 2 cuartos, green; 4 cuartos, red; 10 cuartos, brown; 12 cuartos, rose; ½ reale, 1 reale, blue; 2 reales, lilac.
- Profile of Queen to right, with laurels, in circle, in inscribed oblong frame, watermark of paper in curves.
   cuartos, green; 4 cuartos, lilac; 6 cuartos; 1 reale, blue; 2 reales, chocolate.
  - 7\* Like 7, watermark of paper, oblique cross-lines.

- cuartos, green; 4 cuartos, lilac; 1 reale, blue; 2 reales, violet.
- 7\*\* Like 7, without watermark on paper. 2 cuartos, green; 4 cuartos, lilac; 1 reale, blue; 2 reales, violet.
- 8. Profile of Queen, with diadem to left, in oval inscribed frame, with Espana in upper part, castle and lions in oval at corners, in oblong frame, coloured paper. 2 cuartos, blue; 4 cuartos, red brown; 12 cuartos, blue; 19 cuartos, rose; 1 reale, chocolate; dos reales, green.

## B. Engraved Arms in Oblong Erect Adhesive Stamps.

- Arms in coloured oblong shield, with floral tendrils.
   Corress 1854 above and Franco below, in oblong frame. 6 Cs. red.
- Arms in coloured oblong shield, like 9, with Corress 1854 above and Certdo below. 2 Rs., red; 5 Rs., green; 6 Rs., blue.
- 11. Arms in plain oblong shield, with Greek pattern, in angles, and without tendrils. Correos above, and Franco below. 2 cs., 4 cs., 6 cs.
- 11\*. Like 11, but Correos 1854 above, Franco below. 4 cs.
- 12. Arms in plain oblong shield, without pattern in corner, or tendrils. Correos, 1854 above. Medeo onza, yellow; una onza, red; 4 onzas, green; 1 libra, blue.
- 13. Arms in plain oval shield, with crown and collar of Golden Fleece and Correo official above, in oval plain disk, in oval frame. ½ onza; una onza, red; 4 onzas, green; una libra, grey for official papers.

#### LXI.-MADRID.

1. Engraved bear and tree in oval frame, with wreath and crown, with octagonal frame in oblong frame, with Correo interior above, Franco below. 1 cuarto, bronze; 2 cuartos bronze; 3 cuartos, bronze.

## LXII.-CUBA, HAYTE, AND PORTO RICO.

- Engraved profile of Queen, with laurels to right, in pearled circle in oblong. Correos above, like Spain 7.
   Paper with curved watermarks. ½ Rl. plata, F. blue;
   1 Rl. plata, F. green;
   2 Rl. plata, F.
- 2. Like 1, paper with oblique cross-line watermarks. ½ Rl. plata, F. blue; 1 Rl. plata, F. green; 2 Rl. plata, F.
  - 3. Like 1, paper laid without watermarks. ½ Rl. plata, F. blue; 1 Rl. plata, F. green; 2 Rl. plata, F.
- 4. Like 1, with  $y \frac{1}{4}$  in black impressed on portrait. 2 Rs. plata. Cuarillo for insular use.

#### LXIII.--LUZON, PHILIPPINES.

- 1. Engraved profile of Queen to right, with laurel in pearled circle in oblong. Corress interior above (without value). Blue.
- 2. Like 1, with Franco and value below. 5 cs., red; 10 cuartos, rose.
- Engraved profile of Queen to right, in oval. Franco
  Porto in upper, and Correos, 1854 y 5 in lower
  straight margin. Very badly engraved. 1 Real,
  brown.

## LXIV. — ITALY, SARDINIA. Franco Poste Bollo (Adhesive Stamps).

- 1. Embossed profile of King, in embossed frame and inscription, on coloured paper. C. cinque, green; venti, blue; quaranta, pink.
- 2. Like 1, profile and disk white, frame coloured, all embossed. C. cinque, green; venti, blue; quaranta, red.
- 3. Embossed profile of King in printed frame, and white flat inscription, the central disk coloured. C. cinque, black; C. venti, blue; C. quarante, red.
- 4. Like 3, but central disk white, C. cinque, green; dieci, brown; venti, blue; quaranta, red; octanta, yellow. Lire tre, bronze.

- 5. Embossed number in white oval disk, in coloured oblong flat printed frame, with wavy lined angles and coloured letters, Giornale stampe. Black ink. Centi uno, centi due, for newspapers. 1861.
- 6. Like 5, coloured inks. Centi due, yellow; Centi cinque, blue; Centi venti, green.

## LXV.—NAPLES since 1861, when united to Italy. Franco Poste Bollo.

1. Like Italy 4, embossed profile of King in white disk, with flat printed oblong white frame, with lined angles, and the coloured letters. Mezzo Tornese, green; Un grano, black; due, blue; cinque, red; dieci, yellow; venti, lemon; cinquante grana, grey.

### LXVI.—NAPLES before 1861. Bollo della Posta Napoletana.

- Engraved arms (horse, legs, and fleur-de-lis), in circle in square. Gra. 1. Red.
- 2. Engraved arms, like 1, in square frame. Gra. 1. Red.
- 3. Engraved arms, like 1, in hexagon in square. Gra. 2. Red.
- 4. Engraved arms, like 1, in oblong. Gra. 5. Red.
- Engraved arms, like 1, in octagon in erect oblong. Gra. 10. Red,
- Engraved arms, like 1, in lozenge in erect oblong. Gra. 20. Red.
- 7. Engraved arms, like 1, in oval in oblong erect. Gra. 50. Red.

## LXVII.—NAPLES. Provisional Government, 1860. Bolla della Posta Napoletana.

- Engraved arms of Naples, in inscribed circle in square.
   T. ½. Blue.
- Engraved cross of Savoy, in inscribed circle in square,
   T. ½. Blue. (For newspapers.)

### LXVIII.—SICILY until 1861. Bollo della Posta Sicilia.

- Engraved profile of the King, in inscribed oblong frame.
   Gr. ½, orange; Gr. 1, olive; Gr. 2, blue; Gr. 5, red;
   Gr. 10, deep blue; Gr. 20, blue-black; Gr. 50, redbrown.
   1859.
- 2. Like 1, but rather smaller size, frame of 2 lines. Gr. 10. Blue.

#### LXIX.—TUSCANY until 1861. Franco Bollo Postale Toscano.

- Woodcut, lion with crown and shield, in oblong inscribed frame. 1 quatrin, black; 1 soldo, yellow; 2 soldi, red; 1 crazia, red-brown; 2 crazie, blue; 4 crazie, green; 6 crazie, blue; 9 crazie, chocolate; 60 crazie, brown.
- Woodcut, arms (cross of Savoy), in shield in mantle with crown above, in oblong inscribed frame. 1 cent., violet; 5 cent., green; 10 cent., brown; 20 cent., blue; 40 cent., red; 80 cent., pink; 3 lire, yellow.

## LXX.-STATES OF THE CHURCH. Franco Bollo Postale.

- Printed in black on coloured paper. Cross keys, surmounted by the tiara, in oval transverse inscribed frame. Baj. mezzo. Purple paper.
- Emblems like 1, in oval frame, truncated at ends.
   Baj. 1. Green paper.
- Emblems like 1, in oblong transverse frame. Baj. 2.
   Yellow green.
- Emblems like 1, in oval frame, indented at ends.
   Baj. 3. Pale brown.
- 5. Emblems like 1, in circular inscribed frame. Baj. 4. yellow.
- 6. Emblems like 1, in oblong erect frame. Baj. 5. Rose.

- Emblems like 1, in octagonal transverse frame. Baj. 6. green.
- 8. Emblems like 1, in octagonal erect frame. Baj. 7. blue.
- Printed in black, on white paper. Cross keys and tiara, in octagonal square frame, with concave sides. Baj. 8. White.
- Printed in blue, on white paper. Cross keys and mitre, in sinuous, oval, transverse, florid, oblong transverse frame. Baj. 50. Blue.
- Printed in red, on white paper. Cross keys and tiara, in polygonal transverse sinuated frame. Scudo 1. Red.

## LXXI.—ROMAGNE. Provisional Government, 1859. Disused, 1860.

Type printed, number in inscribed oblong erect frame.
 Franco Bollo Postale Romagne. On coloured paper.
 ½ Bai., pale yellow; 1 Bai., grey; 2 Bai., yellow;
 3 Bai., green; 4 Bai., red; 5 Bai., blue; 6 Bai., green; 8 Bai., rose; 20 Bai., pale blue.

## LXXII.—PARMA. Dukedom. Duc de Parma Paic. Ecc. Disused, 1861.

- Engraved fleur-de-lis, in oval, in shield, bearing a crown, with laurels on sides, in oblong frame. In coloured ink, on white paper. 15 cent., pink; 25 cent., brown; 40 cent., blue.
- 2. Engraved fleur-de-lis, in circle, bearing a crown, in oblong erect frame. Stati Parm. above. Coloured ink on white paper. Centes., 5, yellow; centes., 15, rose; centes., 25, red, brown.
- 3. Like 2, with black ink on coloured paper. Centes., 5, yellow; centes., 10, pale red; centes., 15, rose; centes., 25, purple; centes., 40, blue.

## LXXIII.—PARMA (Town). Stati Parmensi. Abolished, 1861.

1. Type printed, number in octagonal frame, with concave sides. Black ink, on coloured paper. *Centesimi*, 6, bright red; *centesimi*, 9, blue.

## LXXIV.—PARMA. Stati Parmensi. Provisional Government, 1859. Abolished, 1860.

1. Type printed, number in octagonal frame, with concave sides. Coloured ink, on white paper. Centesimi, 5, green; centesimi, 10, brown; centesimi, 20, blue; centesimi, 40, red; centesimi, 80, yellow.

### LXXV.-MODENA Duchy. Poste Estensi.

- Engraved eagle and crown between laurels, in oblong erect inscribed frame. Poste Estensi, above. Black ink on coloured paper. Cent. 5, green; cent. 10 rose, brown; cent. 15, violet, yellow; cent. 25, yellow; cent. 40, blue.
- 1.\* Like 1, black ink, on white paper. Lira 1.
- 2. Like 1, but with B. G. before value. Cent 9, purple.
- 3. Engraved eagle in a circle inscribed—Tassa gazetta, in square frame. Cent. 10, black. (For newspapers abroad.)

## LXXVI.—MODENA. Provisional Government, 1859. Provincie Modonensi. Suppressed in 1860.

Engraved, arms of Savoy (a cross), with crown, collar, and laurels, in oblong erect inscribed frame.
 Coloured ink on white paper. Cent. 5, green; cent. 15, chocolate; cent. 20, lilac; cent. 40, rose; cent. 80, orange.

## LXXVII.—AUSTRIA (TYROL AND LICHTENSTEIN). K. K. Post. Stempel.

A. Engraved Adhesive Stamps.

1. Arms, double-headed eagle crowned on shield, with

- laurel and oak on side, and a crown above, in oblong frame. 1 kreuzer, yellow; 2 kreuzer, black; 3 kreuzer, red; 6 kreuzer, brown; 9 kreuzer, blue.
- 2. Arms, double-headed eagle crowned, in square inscribed frame. Kais. Kon. Zeitungs Stempel. 1 kreuzer, blue, black; 2 kreuzer, brown, green, red; 4 kreuzer, brown, red. (For home newspapers.)
- 3. Profile of Mercury, to left in square frame, inscribed—
  K. K. Zeitungs Stempel. Blue, yellow, and red.
  (For newspapers going abroad.)

#### B. Embossed Profile to left. Old Series.

- 4. Profile in circular embossed wreath, in oblong frame. 2 kr, yellow, orange.
- 5. Profile in printed circle, with wreath on lower side, in oblong frame, with ornamented corners. 5 kr., red.
- Profile in printed broad circular wreath, formed of leaves and shields, in oblong ornamented frame. 10 kr., brown.
- 7. Profile in printed circular frame, with scrolls on outer side, and number in upper angle, in oblong erect ornamented frame. 15 kr., blue.
- 8. Profile in oblong erect inscribed flat printed frame, with ornament in the inner angles, and post-horn in each corner. K. K. Zeitungs post Stempel (for newspapers), lilac.
- Profile in oval, in oblong erect inscribed printed frame, with number in each corner, and value on the four sides. 3 kr. Green, black.

## C. Embossed Profile to right. New Series.

10. Profile in oval, white lined printed flat frame, with number and value below. Dentated Adhesive Stamps. 2 kreuzer, yellow; 3 kreuzer, green; 5 kreuzer, red; 10 kreuzer, brown; 15 kreuzer, blue;

25 kreuzer, dark brown; 30 kreuzer, violet; 35 kreuzer, light brown.

10\*. Like 10. Envelopes. 2 kreuzer, yellow; 3 kreuzer, green; 5 kreuzer, red; 10 kreuzer, brown; 15 kreuzer, blue.

 Profile in oval, in broad white netted lined printed oblong erect sinuous edged frame, inscribed—K. K. Zeitungs post Stampel, blue, grey, lilac, for home newspapers.

Some catalogues have what they call complementary stamps, they are only blocks used to fill up the frame of dies.

## LXXVIII.—VENICE AND LOMBARDY until 1859. K. K. Post Stempel.

## A. Engraved Flat Stamps, Old Series.

- Arms, double-headed eagle crowned, in shield, with laurel and oak on side and crown above, in oblong frame.
   5 centes, orange; 10 centes, black; 15 centes, red; 30 centes, brown; 45 centes, blue. (Like Austria 1.)
- B. Embossed Profile of Emperor to left. Old Series.
  Adhesive Stamps only.
  - 2. Profile in circle. 2 soldi, yellow. (Like Austria 4.)
  - 3. Profile, &c. 5 soldi, red. (Like Austria 5.)
  - 4. Profile, &c. 10 soldi, brown. (Like Austria 6.)
- 5. Profile, &c. 15 soldi, blue. (Like Austria 7.)
- 6. Profile in oval, in oblong erect inscribed printed frame, with number in each angle. 3 soldi on each side, black, green. (Like Austria 9.)
- C. Embossed Profile to right. New Series, Adhesive and Envelope Stamps alike.
  - 8. Profile in oval white lined inscribed printed frame, with number below. Dentated adhesive stamps. 3 soldi, green; 5 soldi, red; 10 soldi, brown; 15 soldi, blue; 20 soldi, orange; 25 soldi, brown; 30 soldi, violet; 35 soldi, pale brown.

9. Like 8, but envelopes. 3 soldi, green; 5 soldi, red; 10 soldi, brown; 15 soldi, blue; 20 soldi, orange; 25 soldi, dark brown; 30 soldi, violet; 35 soldi, pale brown. (Nearly like Austria 10.)

## LXXIX.-BAVARIA. Bayern.

- 1. Printed number on white lined black square disk, in square inscribed frame. Ein kreuzer, black.
- Printed, number on one-coloured disk, in circle, in square inscribed frame. Coloured ink on white paper. 1 ein, rose, yellow; 2 drei kreuzer, blue, rose; 6 sechs, brown, blue; 9 neun, green, stone; 12 zwolft, red, green; 18 achtzen, red, orange.
- 3. Like 2. Black ink on coloured paper for "Instruction stamps." 1, rose, yellow; 3, blue, rose; 6, brown, blue; 9, green, stone; 12, red, green; 18, yellow, red
- 4. Printed number 3 in inscribed square frame, with 3 kreuzers on each side, Bayer Post-taxe above, Von Empfänger zahlbar below, blue, black.

## LXXX.—WURTEMBURG. Wurttemberg Freimark.

## A. Engraved Adhesive Stamps.

- 1. Type printed, number in lozenge, in square inscribed frame, on coloured paper. 1 kreuzer, white; 3 kreuzer, yellow, blue; 6 kreuzer, green, blue; 9 kreuzer, rose; 18 kreuzer, lilac.
- Block printed arms, in square inscribed frame. In coloured ink. 1 kreuzer, brown; 3 kreuzer, orange; 6 kreuzer, green; 9 kreuzer, rose; 18 kreuzer, blue.
- Engraved, arms with crown and laurels, in oval inscribed in oblong erect frame, black. Commission fur Retourbriefe.

## B, Embossed Envelope Stamps.

4. A large embossed number in an oval frame, with embossed white lines, inscribed Württemberg above, in oblong erect eight-sided frame. 3 drei kreuzer, rose; 6 sechs kreuzer, blue; 9 neun kreuzer, pale brown.

#### LXXXI.-BADEN. Baden.

## A. Type-printed Adhesive Stamps.

- Number in circle, in inscribed square frame, disk with interlaced horizontal equidistant lines. 1. Buff, white paper.
- Like 1, disk with interlaced distant pairs of lines.
   Blue, yellow, green.
- Like 1, disk with interlaced close pairs of lines.
   Green, yellow.
- Like 1, disk with interlaced very close lines, in fours.
   Rose.

## B. Engraved Adhesive Stamp.

- Arms with supporters in a shaded square disk in an inscribed frame. 1 kreuzer, black; 3 kreuzer, blue; 6 kreuzer, orange, blue; 9 kreuzer, rose.
- 5\*. Like 5, square disk white. 1 kreuzer, black; 3 kreuzer, rose; 6 kreuzer, blue; 9 kreuzer, stone; 18 kreuzer, green; 30 kreuzer, orange.

### C. Embossed Profile, Envelope Stamps.

- Profile to right, in embossed oval white netted embossed frame, impressed number below, inscription to left of stamp. 3 kreuzer, blue.
- 7. Like 6, pattern of frame different. 6 kreuzer, yellow.
- 8. Like 6, pattern of frame different. 9 kreuzer, rose.
- 9. Like 6, pattern of frame different. 12 kreuzer, brown.
- 10. Like 6, pattern of frame different. 18 kreuzer, red.

- 11. Like 6, but inscription to right of stamp. 3 kreuzer, rose.
- 12. Like 11. 6 kreuzer, blue.
- 13. Like 11. 9 kreuzer, stone.

#### LXXXII.-BADEN. Land-Post.

1. Type-printed large number, with Land-post above, Portomarks below, in a square frame, with a scroll on its inner edge. 1, 3, 12, all black, on yellow paper.

## LXXXIII.—SOUTH GERMANY (THURN und TAXIS). Value in Kreuzers.

## A. Engraved Square Adhesive Stamps.

- A number on circular disk in an inscribed pale ring, with four post-horns; in square frame, with ornamented angles; central disk with rather irregular waved concentric circles, black ink. 1 kreuzer, on green paper.
- 1\* Like 1. 1 kreuzer, green, yellow ink.
- Like 1, central disk with regular waved concentric circles, black ink. 3 kreuzer, blue paper.
- 2\*. Like 2. 3 kreuzer, blue, rose ink.
- Like 1, central disk with network, formed of double lines, having hexagonal cells, black ink. 6 kreuzer, red paper.
- 3. Like 3. 6 kreuzer, rose, blue ink.
- 4. Like 1, central disk with angularly bent concentric lines, black ink, 9 kreuzer, on yellow brown paper.
- 4\*. Like 4. 9 kreuzer, yellow, or brown ink.
- 5. A number on circular disk in an inscribed pale ring, with four folds, each with a post-horn. Central disk with pale and dark hexagons bearing a number. 15 kreuzer, lilac ink.
- 6. Like 5, central disk netted. 30 kreuzer, bright red ink.

## B. Embossed Stamp for Envelopes.

7. Embossed large number, in small oval inscribed frame, with white embossed lines and sunken letters in octagonal frame, with Thurn u. Taxis above. Inscription of envelope blue. 2 kreuzer, yellow; 3 kreuzer, rose; 6 kreuzer, blue; 9 kreuzer, stone.

7\*. Like 7, but inscription on right of stamp, the colour of the stamp. 2 kreuzer, yellow; 3 kreuzer, rose;

6 kreuzer, blue; 9 kreuzer, stone.

## C. Type printed Newspaper Stamp.

8. A number 1 in a post-horn, in a circular frame, inscribed Thurn und Taxis. Black ink on coloured paper.

## LXXXIV.—NORTH GERMANY (THURN und TAXIS). Value in Silver Groschen.

## A. Engraved Square Adhesive Stamps.

A number of large size, in inscribed square frame, with a
post-horn in polygon at each outer corner, and
number in small shield at inner corners, central disk
with concentric circular lines. 
 <sup>1</sup>/<sub>4</sub> silbergrosch, red paper.

1\* Like 1, in red ink, on white paper.

2. Like 1, central disk with numerous groups of curved lines. \*\* silbergrosch\*, pink paper.

2\* Like 2, pink ink.

3. Like 1, central disk with lines forming lozenge-shaped spaces. 

† silbergrosch, green paper.

3\* Like 3, green or orange ink.

4. Like 1, central disk with concentric slightly waved lines.

1 silbergrosch, blue paper.

4. Like 4, in blue, rose ink.

 Like 1, central disk with interrupted concentric lines, forming curved radiating rays. 2 silbergrosch, rose paper.

- 5\*. Like 5, rose ink.
- Like 1, central disk with close-curved spiral interrupted lines, forming lozenge-shaped meshes on each side.
   3 silbergrosch, yellow paper.
- 6\*. Like 6, brown, stone ink.
- 7. Block printed, large number in four inscribed square labels, with a shield bearing numbers, and a post-horn in a circle at each corner, all in a square frame, central square tesselated, bearing numbers. 5 silbergrosch, lilac ink.
- 8. Like 7, central square reticulated. 10 silbergrosch, orange ink.

### B. Embossed Stamp for Envelopes.

- 9. Embossed number, large size, in oval inscribed frame, with white embossed lines and sunken letters. Inscription on right of stamp, lilac, Thurn u. Taxis above. \(\frac{1}{3}\) silbergr., orange; \(\frac{1}{3}\) silbergr., rose; \(2\) silbergr., blue.
- Like 9, inscription on right of stamp same colour as stamp. ½ silbergr., orange; 1 silbergr., rose; 2 silbergr., blue; 3 silbergr., stone.

## LXXXV.-PRUSSIA. Prussen, Freimarke.

## A. Engraved Portrait, Adhesive Stamps.

1. Engraved profile of King to right, in oblong erect inscribed frame, central ground cross lined, letters small. Coloured ink on white paper. 4 vier pfenninge, green; ½ sechs. pfennige, red.

2. Like 1, black ink on coloured paper. 1 ein silbergr., lake; 2 zwei silbergr., drab, blue; 3 drei silbergr.,

yellow paper.

3. Like 1, central ground cross-lined, letters larger. Coloured ink on white paper. 4 vier pfenninge,

green; ½ sechs pfennige, red; 1 ein silbergr., rose; 2 zwei silbergr., blue; 3 drei silbergr., orange.

4. Like 3, central ground uniform, letters large. Coloured ink on white paper. 1 ein silbergr., rose; 2 zwei silbergr., blue; 3 drei silbergr., orange.

## B. Large Embossed Profile of King to right. Envelopes.

- Embossed profile of King to right, in broad oval embossed white-lined frame, number embossed below, with two threads across stamp. 1 ein, rose; 2 zwei, blue; 3 drei silbergroschen, yellow.
- 5\* Like 5, with lilac printed inscription on left upper corner of stamp. 1 ein, rose; 2 zwei, blue; 3 drei silbergroschen, yellow.
- Like 5, in octagonal frame, with white embossed lines, with embossed number on upper edge, with thread across profile. 4 vier silbergroschen, brown.
- 7. Like 6, but pattern of frame different. 5 fünf silbergroschen, lilac.
- 8. Like 6, but pattern of frame different. 6 sechs silber groschen, green.
- 9. Like 6, but number in lower margin, and pattern of frame different. 7 sieben silbergroschen, red.

## C. Small Embossed Eagle. Adhesive or Envelope Stamps, inscribed Preussen.

- 10. Engraved spread eagle in white printed frame, in inscribed oval, in octagonal frame, with a number on each corner of paper. Dentated adhesive stamps. 4 vier pfenninge, green; 6 sechs pfenninge, red.
- 11. Like 10, without external frame, with number on side of oval frame. Dentated adhesive stamps. 1 ein, rose; 2 zwei, blue; 3 drei silbergr., stone.
- 12. Like 11, but eagle and white lines of oval frame em-

bossed, eagle with an impressed line on the wings, a T.R. on body. Dentated adhesive stamps. 1 ein, rose; 2 zwei, blue; 3 drei silbergroschen, brown.

13. Like 12, post couvert, with black printed inscription on right upper side of stamp. 1 ein, rose; 2 zwei, blue; 3 drei silbergroschen, brown.

## LXXXVI.-BRUNSWICK. Braunschweig.

#### A. Engraved Adhesive Stamps.

- Type printed crown, number of small size in oval all in square frame, in fours in a square frame. 
   <sup>1</sup>/<sub>4</sub> guttegr.,
   <sup>3</sup> pfenninge Post-marke, brown paper.
- 2. Engraved crown and horse in lined oval shield, with two labels, and value on side, all in transverse oblong frame. Black ink, on coloured or white paper. 

  † drei pfennig., brown; † vier silbr. pf., white; † sech. silbr. pf., yellow; 1 ein silbrgr., orange; 2 zwei silbrgr., dark blue; 3 drei silbrgr., pink, or stone coloured paper.
- 2\*. Like 2, printed in coloured ink, on white paper. 1 ein silbgr., rose; 2 zwei silbgr., blue; 3 drei silbgr., vermillion, rose.

### B. Embossed Stamps for Envelopes.

- Embossed crown and horse in large oval frame, with white embossed lines, and with embossed number below, and blue inscription on left side. 1 ein silbergroschen, yellow.
- 4. Like 3, but pattern of frame different. 2 zwei silbergroschen, blue.
- 5. Like 3, but pattern of frame different. 3 drei silber-groschen, red.

## LXXXVII.-BRUNSWICK (Town).

1. Hand stamped in red-brown ink. St. P. Fr. in narrow circular frame.

 Hand-stamped post-horn and horse in oval frame, with Post shein above. 6 pfennige, for registered letters.

## LXXXVIII.-OLDENBURG. Oldenburg.

## A. Engraved Adhesive Stamps.

- Engraved crown and arms over large pale shield, with numbers inclosed, with labels in oblong erect frame.
   Black ink, on coloured paper. 4 schw., ½ silbergr., green; ½ thaler, blue; ½ thaler, rose; ½ thaler, yellow paper. 1852.
- Engraved crown and arms in dark disk in oval frame, with number on side, and two labels in oblong erect frame. Coloured ink, on white paper. ½ groschen, orange; ½ groschen, yellow, light green; ½ groschen, brown, green.
- 3. Like 2, but crown and arms on white oval disk.

  Black ink, on coloured paper. 1 groschen, blue;
  2 groschen, rose; 3 groschen, yellow paper.
- 3.\* Like 3, coloured ink, on white paper. 1 groschen, blue; 2 groschen, rose; 3 groschen, yellow, brown.

## B. Embossed Adhesive Stamp or Envelopes.

- 4. Embossed crown and arms in oval frame, with embossed white lines, and a sunken number on side. Printed blue inscription, Post couvert, on left upper corner of stamp, 1861. 

  1 groschen, brown; 1 groschen, blue; 2 groschen, rose; 3 groschen, yellow.
- 4.\* Like 4, with blue printed inscription on right upper corner of stamp, 1862. ½ groschen, orange; 1 groschen, rose; 2 groschen, blue; 3 groschen, yellow.
- 5. Embossed small-sized crown and arms, in flat printed frame, with flat white lines, and a number on each side. Dentated adhesive stamps. \(\frac{1}{3}\) groschen, green; \(\frac{1}{2}\) groschen, orange; 1 groschen, rose; 2 groschen, blue; 3 groschen, brown.

#### LXXXIX.-HANOVER. Hannover.

### A. Engraved Adhesive Stamps.

 Crown and post-horn in oblong erect linear frame, with a dot at each corner. ½ groschen. Black ink, white paper.

Crown and number in oval frame, with label above, in oblong erect frame. Coloured ink, on plain white

paper. 3 pfennige, ein drittel silbergroschen.

2.\* Like 2, in coloured ink, on white paper, covered with coloured network. 3 pfennige, ein drittel silbergroschen.

 Crown, arms, and supporter, on top of large granulated sinuous edged shield, inclosing a number 1, with labels, in an oblong erect frame. Black ink, on coloured paper. 1 ein guttengr., grey, green paper.

3.\* Like 3, black ink, on white paper, covered with green coloured network. 1 ein guttengr., green ink.

Like 3, but shield uniform black. Black ink, on plain or coloured paper. 
 <sup>1</sup>/<sub>50</sub> thaler, ein S.G.R., crimson, rose; 
 <sup>1</sup>/<sub>15</sub> thaler, zwei S.G.R., blue, lilac; 
 <sup>1</sup>/<sub>10</sub> thaler, drei S.G.R., orange paper.

4.\* Like 4, with black ink, on coloured paper, with coloured network. 

1 thaler, ein S.G.R., lake;

1 thaler, zwei S.G.R., blue; 1 thaler, drei S.G.R.,

orange, ink network.

Profile of King in circle, in oblong erect frame, in coloured ink on white paper. 1 groschen, rose;
 2 groschen, blue; 3 groschen, brown, yellow; 10 groschen, green, above. Hanover below.

#### B. Embossed Stamps for Envelopes.

6. Embossed profile of King in broad oval frame, with embossed white engine-turned pattern, a star on sides and embossed number below, line of green print on left upper angle of stamp. 1 ein groschen, green.

6.\* Like 6, with different pattern frame. 1 ein silbergro-

achen, rose.

- 7. Like 6, with different pattern in frame. 2 zwei silbergroschen, blue.
- 8. Like 6, with different pattern in frame. 3 drei silber-groschen, yellow.
- 9. Like 6, but with sunken number in a raised circle on side of frame, line of green print at right upper angle of stamp. 1 ein groschen, red.
- Like 9, but pattern of frame different. 2 zwei groschen, blue.
- 11. Like 9, but pattern of frame different. 3 drei groschen, yellow, brown.
- 12. Like 6, but line of print on left upper angle of stamp.

  1 ein groschen, red.
- 13. Like 12, but different pattern of frame. 2 zwei groschen, blue.
- 14. Like 12, but frame different. 3 drei groschen, yellow.

## XC.-HANOVER (Town).

- 1. Embossed horse, with embossed letters in circle. Bestellgeld—Frei. Green on yellow paper.
- 2. Embossed trefoil and post-horn, with embossed letters in circle. Bestellgeld—Frei. Green on yellow paper.

#### XCI.—SAXONY. Sachsen.

#### A. Engraved Adhesive Stamps.

- 1. Engraved large number (3) in square, with square frame, inscribed *Drei* on left, *Sachsen* in upper, *Pfennige* on right, and *Franco* on lower edge, with ornaments on each corner; red ink.
- Arms in dark oval, with scroll and two labels, and number on each side, in oblong erect frame. 3 drei pfennige, green.
- 3. Profile of King to right, in dark shaded oval, with scrolls, two labels and number on sides, in oblong erect frame, black ink, on coloured paper. 1 neu-

- grosch., rose; 2 neugrosch., blue-green, blue; 3 neugrosch., white, yellow paper.
- 3\*. Like 3. Black ink, on white paper. 1/2 neugrosch.
- 4. Like 3, but profile to left in pale oval. Black ink on coloured paper. 1 neugrosch., rose; 2 neugrosch., blue; 3 neugrosch., yellow;
- Like 4, but printed in coloured ink on white paper.
   neugrosch., grey; 5 neugrosch., vermillion; 10 neugrosch., blue.

## B. Embossed Profile. Envelope Stamps.

- 6. Embossed white profile to left, in oval, inscribed frame, with embossed white lines, and sunken number on raised disk on sides above, with line of green print at left upper corner of stamp. 1 ein neugroschen, rose.
- 7. Like 6, with frame in different pattern. 2 zwei neugroschen, blue.
- 8. Like 6, with ditto. 3 drei neugroschen, yellow.
- 9. Like 6, with ditto. 5 fuenf neugroschen, lilac.
- 10. Like 6, with ditto. 10 zehn neugroschen, green.
- 11. Like 6, the line of green inscription to right of stamp.

  1 ein neugroschen, rose.
- 12. Like 11, frame different. 2 zwei neugroschen, blue.
- 13. Like 11, frame different. 3 drei neugroschen, stone.

## XCII.—MECKLENBURG. Mecklenburg-Schwerin Freimarke.

#### A. Engraved Adhesive Stamps.

- 1. Arms (bull-head decorated) in small square inscribed frame, in fours. \(\frac{1}{4}\) schilling, red ink.
- 2. Arms and crown, in large inscribed square frame, with a number at each corner. 3 schillinge, yellow; 5 schillinge, blue ink.

## B. Embossed Envelope Stamps.

3. Embossed white arms and crown, with embossed inscrip-

tion, on dark oval disk in oval frame, with white embossed lines, and raised number below; the red printed line on the left upper corner of stamp. 1 schilling, red.

- 4. Like 3, frame ditto. 11 schilling, green.
- 5. Like 3, frame ditto. 3 schillinge, yellow.
- 6. Like 3, frame different. 5 schillinge, blue.

### XCIII.-LUBECK. Lubeck Postmarke.

- Engraved double-headed spread-eagle in lunate inscribed label, with number at angles, in oblong erect frame. Coloured ink on white paper. ½ schilling, violet; 1 schilling, orange; 2 schilling, brown; 2½ schilling, red; 4 schilling, green, black.
- 2. Bugle horn under shield in circle, Stadt post amt, black ink, for the city.

#### XCIV.-BREMEN. Franco-Marke.

- Engraved key in oval uniform coloured disk, with scrolls in oblong erect frame, with number in lower corner. 5 sgr., green.
- 2. Engraved key in oval lined disk, in double-waved oval frame, with numbers in corners, in oblong erect frame. 10 sehn groten, black.
- Engraved key in square shield, with crown, two labels, and number in oval frame on side, all in oblong erect frame. 5 fünf grote, red; 7 sieben grote, yellow paper.

#### XCV.-BREMEN (Town). Stadt Post Amt.

- Engraved key in square shield, crown, two labels, number in oval at side, and number in corners, all in oblong erect frame.
   3, grey paper.
- 2. Hand stamped, crown and arms and Stadt post amt, Bremen, in oblong linear transverse oval frame, in

the upper; with franco on the lower left hand corner of envelope, on white or blue paper.

## XCVI.-HAMBURG. Hamburg Postmarke.

1. Engraved number on three towers, with four labels in oblong erect frame. ½ schilling, black; 1 schilling, chocolate; 2 schilling, red; 3 schilling, blue; 4 schilling, green; 7 schilling, orange; 9 schilling, yellow ink.

## XCVII.—BERGEDORF. Bergedorf Postmarke.

- Block-printed half spread eagle and half towers, in pearled circle, in square shield, with letter at each corner in an inscribed frame, black ink. On coloured paper, different sizes. ½ schilling, blue; 1 schilling, white; 1½ schilling, yellow; 4 schillinge, rose.
- Like 1, but coloured ink, on coloured paper. 3 schillinge, rose and purple.

## XCVIII.-DENMARK. K.G.L. Post. F.R.M.

- Engraved crown, crossed sceptre and sword in circular wreath, in square frame, inscribed K. G. L.
   Post F. R. M., with posthorn at angles; corners of
   disk granulated. 2s., blue; 4s., red; 8s., green;
   16s., violet.
- 2. Like 1, but corners of disk with horizontal waved lines. 4 s., brown; 8 s., green.
- Like 2, with Kongsligt Post. Frimærke at length, and fire R.B.S. in square frame, corner of disk with perpendicular waved lines, or coarse dots, brown.
- 4. Engraved profile of King in waved oblong, in square frame, 8 R. B. S. 2½ sch. C. Trial stamp.
- 5. Engraved profile of Mercury in pearled circle, in inscribed square frame, 4 R. B. S. 1½ sch. C. Trial stamp.

#### XCIX.-COPENHAGEN.

1. Engraved number in circular frame, inscribed K. G. L. Post Frimærke, with crown above and post-horn below, in square frame. 2 Rigsbank skilling, blue.

### C.—ST. THOMAS AND ST. CROIX. K.G.L. Post. F.R.M.

- 1. Like Danish 1. Corner granulated. 3 cents, brown.
- Like Danish 1. Corners with perpendicular waved lines. 3 cents, brown, red.

## CI.—SCHLESWIG-HOLSTEIN. S.H. Post. Provisional Government, 1848.

1. Embossed arms on white oval disk, in body of double-headed spread-eagle, with two labels and S. H. on upper and a number on lower angles, in an oblong erect frame. 1 schilling, blue; 2 schillinge, rose.

## CIL-NORWAY. Norge Frimærke.

- Engraved arms (lion and battle-axe) and crown in circle, two inscribed labels and corner scrolls, in oblong erect frame. 4 skilling, blue.
- 2. Engraved profile in beaded circle, in inscribed oblong erect frame, with number on lower corners. 2 to skilling, yellow; 3 tree skilling, lilac; 4 fire skilling, blue; 8 otte skilling, red.

## CIII.-SWEDEN. Sverige.

- Engraved arms (three crowns) and crown on diapered ground, in oblong erect inscribed frame, with a number in upper corners, coloured ink on white paper. 3 skill. b<sup>co</sup>., green; 4 skill. b<sup>co</sup>., blue; 6 skill. b<sup>co</sup>., brown; 8 skill. b<sup>co</sup>., yellow; 24 skill. b<sup>co</sup>., cinnamon.
- 2. Like 1, 5 öre, green; 9 öre, lilac; 12 öre, blue; 24 öre, orange; 30 öre, brown; 50 öre, red brown.

#### CIV.-STOCKHOLM. Frimarke.

- 1. Engraved Frimark fur lokalbref, in oval transverse disk, with scrolls, in oblong transverse frame. Black ink on white paper. (1 sk.)
- 2. Like 1, printed in buff-coloured ink, on white paper. (3 öre.)
- 3. Small crouching lion by arms, with crown in a glory.

  Sverige above and 3 öre below, 3 frimarke 3 on lower margin, all in oblong erect frame, buff.

## CV.-RUSSIA. Pochtovaya Marke.

## A. Engraved Dentated Adhesive Stamps.

1. Engraved white spread eagle on oval disk, in oval inscribed frame, in mantle, with crown above, with corner scrolls, a number at each corner, and inscription under the mantle, in oblong erect frame, inscription in upper and lower side of oval frame. Oval frame, outer disk, and frame of one colour. 10 kop.. brown with blue disk; 20 kop., blue with red disk; 30 kop., red with blue disk.

### B. Embossed Envelope Stamp.

2. Embossed white double-headed spread eagle and crown on engine-turned ground, in inscribed circular frame on the flap of envelope, upper part of inscription coloured and flat, lower part embossed and white. 10 kop., black; 20 kop., blue; 30 kop., red ink.

#### CVI.—ST. PETERSBURG. S. P. B. Gorodskaya Pochta.

1. Hand-printed double-headed spread eagle and crown and post-horns, in circular frame, with type-printed inscription on right-hand corner of envelope. 5 kop.

#### CVII.-POLAND.

1. Engraved tri-coloured stamp, like Russia 1, but in-

scription only on sides of oval frame, and the small oval and large oblong disk of one colour, the mantle and frames of another. 10 kop., red and blue.

 Engraved white two-headed spread-eagle, &c., on engine-turned circular disk, in circular frame, inscribed with dark letters in upper, and pale fiat ones in lower part, on flap of envelope. Black ink. 10 kop.

## CVIII.-WARSAW. Poczta Miejska Warszawska.

 Like Poland 2, but in blue ink, and inscription, as above, on flap of envelope. 3 kop., blue ink.

#### CIX.—FINLAND.

- Engraved arms (lion) and crown, in white oval in coloured oblong disk, in inscribed oblong erect frame.
   Value above and below. Dentated adhesive stamps.
   Coloured ink. On tinted paper. 5 kop., blue; 10 kop., red.
- 1.\* Like 1. Envelopes. On white paper. 5 kop., blue; 10 kop., red.
- Hand-printed arms and crown, with post-horn on each side, in oval erect frame, with Porto Stempel in upper part of oval disk. 10 or 20 kopek in label under lower edges of frame, for envelopes. 10 kopek, red; 20 kopek, black.
- Hand-printed arms, crown above, and post-horn below, and value on each side, in transverse oval linear frame. 5 kop., blue; 10 kop., red; 20 kop., black.

#### CX.-MOLDAVIA.

1. Wood-block, hand-printed, bull's head, star, posthorn, value, and Porto scrissorei in simple line-like

- oblong erect frame. In coloured ink, on white paper. 40 par., blue; 80 par., red.
- Like 1, but Porto gazettei. Black ink, white paper.
   3 par. For newspapers.

#### CXI.-DANUBIAN PRINCIPALITIES.

- 1. Wood-block, hand-printed, bull's head and star, double-headed spread-eagle, and post-horn, with Franco scrissorei and value in simple linelike oblong erect frame. Coloured ink on white paper. 30 par., blue.
- 2. Like 1, but Franco gazettei. 3 par., yellow; 6 par., red.

#### CXII.-LIBERIA.

1. Engraved Liberty, sitting, with ship, &c., in circle, with two labels, in a large oblong erect frame. 6 cents, red; twelve cents, blue, lilac; 24 cents, green.

#### CXIII.-SANDWICH ISLANDS. Honolulu.

- Engraved portrait, with epaulettes, in inscribed oblong erect frame, with number in upper corner. Hawaiian Is., 5 cents.
- 2. Engraved portrait, with laurels on collar, in inscribed oblong erect frame. Uku leta, above; Elua keneta, below.
- Printed number in oblong erect inscribed simple frame, Inter Island above, Hawaiian Postage and Uku leta on sides. 1 cent, blue ink; 2 cents, black ink.

## CXIV.—SANDWICH ISLANDS AND UNITED STATES.

Engraved portrait, with epaulettes, like Sandwich Islands 1. Hawaiian, 5 cents, United States. 8 cents, 13 cents, red ink. No longer used.

#### CXV.—UNITED STATES OF N. AMERICA.

## A. Engraved Adhesive Stamps, with U.S. Postage above.

- 1. Profile of Franklin to right, in oval, with curved label.

  One cent, blue.
- 2. Profile of Washington to left, in oval. Three cents, red.
- 3. Portrait of Washington to right. Five cents, brown.
- 4. Portrait of Washington to left, with thirteen stars above, X in upper corner. Ten cents, green.
- 5. Portrait of Washington to left. Twelve cents, black.
- 6. Portrait of Washington to right. Twenty-four cents, brown.
- 7. Profile of Washington to left, in oval frame, a shield of Washington's arms at each corner. Thirty cents, red.
- 8. Portrait of Jackson, in oblong frame. Ninety cents, blue.

## B. Engraved Adhesive Stamps, with Number in upper and U.S. in lower corner.

- 9. Profile of Franklin to right, in oval frame, with U.S. Postage above. One cent, blue.
- 10. Profile of Washington to left, in oblong frame. Three cents, red.
- Portrait of Washington to left, in oval frame. Five cents, brown.
- 12. Portrait of Washington to left, in oval frame, with three groups of stars on margin. Ten cents, green.
- Portrait of Washington to left, in oval frame. Twelve cents, black.
- Portrait of Washington to right, in six-sided frame. Twenty-four cents, brown.
- 15. Profile of Franklin to left, in circle. Thirty cents, orange.
- 16. Portrait of Jackson in oval inscribed frame. Ninety cents, blue.

- C. Engraved Adhesive Stamps, with U.S. in upper and Number in lower corner.
- Portrait of Franklin to left, in oval frame. Post Office.
   Five cents, brown.
- 18. Portrait of Washington to right, in oval frame. Ten cents, green.
  - D. Engraved Oblong Transverse Adhesive Stamps.
- 19. Eagle at bay, in oval frame, inscribed U.S.P.O. Despatch on upper part, surrounded by a wreath, in oblong transverse frame. Prepaid One cent, blue.

## E. Embossed Envelope or Cover Stamps.

- 20. Profile of Franklin to left, in oval frame, inscribed U.S. Postage below, and a star on side. 1 cent, blue, on yellow or white paper.
- 21. Like 20, profile of Washington to left. One cent, red, on white or yellow paper.
- 22. Profile of Washington to left, in broad oval frame, with flat printed white-edged letters and an embossed number on side, *United States* above, and *Six Cents* below, red; *Three Cents* below, red.
- 23. Profile of Washington to left, in inscribed erect oval frame, with U.S. Postage below, large number on side, inclosed in oval transverse frame. One coloured ink. 3 cents, red; 6 cents, blue and red; 10 cents, green.
- 24. Like 23. Two coloured inks. 12 cents, brown and red; 20 cents, blue and red; 24 cents, green and red; 40 cents, red and black.

#### CXVI.-NEW YORK.

Engraved profile to left, in frame, with New York Post
Office above, in large oblong erect frame. 5 cents.

### CXVII.-CONFEDERATE STATES OF AMERICA.

 Engraved portrait of Jefferson Davis to right, in oval disk, with Confederate States on its upper part, with florid ornament at angles. Postage above, and five cents below, in large oblong erect frame. 5 cents, green.

1.\* Like 1, oval disk, with transverse lines. Five cents, green, blue.

2. Engraved portrait of Colquboun to right, in circle, in oblong erect frame, with Confederate States in its upper margin. One cent, red.

3. Like 2, but portrait of Jefferson Davis. Five cents, blue.

4. Engraved portrait of General Beauregard to right, in oval, with Confederate States in upper, and of America in lower edge, with number (10) in angles and Postage ten cents, in upper and lower margin. Red or blue ink.

There are some stamps in circulation among the French dealers which they profess to belong to the Confederate States, but the imitators seem never to have seen the original stamps.

The army of the Confederate States are said to issue stamps as they occupy the towns, &c.

## CXVIII.-BRAZILS. (Value in Millries.)

- 1. Roman number of large size, with curls, in transverse oval frame, ornamented on upper and lower edges; in linear oblong transverse frame, 30, 60, 90, black ink.
- 2. Italian number, in oblong transverse frame, with angle arched out. 10, 30, 60, 90, 180, 300, 600, black ink.
- Narrow high Roman number, of small size, in a nearly uniform netted ground, in oblong transverse frame. 100, 300, black.
- 4. Like 3, but numbers shorter and broader, and the ground

of the stamp is shaded with darker concentrically waved lines, the corner paler. Black ink, 10, 30, 60, 90, 180, 300, 600.

- 4.\* Like 4, blue ink, 10, 30. For newspapers.
- 5. Roman number of small size, in engine-turned sinuated oval disk, with sinuated oval frame in transverse oblong frame, with horizontal lines at angles. 280, red; 430, yellow.

The stamps are used as seals over the flap of the envelopes; they are, therefore, often overlooked by our Post Offices.

#### CXIX.-CHILI. Chile.

1. Engraved profile of Columbus and Colon Chile on circular disk, with Correos Porte Franco above, and value below, in oblong erect frame. 1 centavo, yellow; 5 centavos, red, brown, black; 10 centavos, blue; 20 centavos, green.

## CXX.-MEXICO. Mejico.

- Engraved portrait in oval frame, with Correos Mejico above, in scroll frame, in oblong erect frame, Printed in coloured ink, on white paper. ½ reale, blue; I un real, yellow; 2 dos reales, green; 4 reales, 8 ocho reales, violet.
- 2. Like 1, printed in black ink, on coloured paper. \(\frac{1}{2}\), 1, 2, 4, 8, reales.
- Like 1, printed in coloured ink, on coloured paper.
   blue, 1, yellow, 2, , 4, green, 8 reales, violet.
   N.B. Each State stamp is marked on the edge of the

stamps, Mexico, Mazetlan, &c.

#### CXXI.-PERU. Correos Porte Franco.

1. Engraved arms in shield, with wreath above laurels on sides, in circle, in square white disk, with

- inscribed frame formed of double lines, value on lower edge, letters large. Un Dinero, blue.
- 2. Like 1, letter smaller, disk shaded, frame of double lines. Un Dinero, blue.
- 3. Like 2, disk shaded, frame of single lines. Un Dinero, blue.
- Like 1, arms with two flags on each side, value below, disk white, frame of two lines, letters large. Una Peseta, red.
- Like 4, disk shaded, letter small, frame two lines. Una Peseta, red.
- Like 1, disk shaded, letters small, frame of single line. Una Peseta, red.
- 7. Like 1, but with Correos in lower, and value on right side of square frame. Medio Peso, or 50 centavos.
- 8. Embossed arms, with laurels in white circular disk, with four arched inscribed printed labels, in square frame, value on lower edge. Un Dinero, black; una Peseta blue. (?)

## CXXII.-GRANADA CONFEDERATION. Confed. Granadina.

- Arms on shield, inclosed in circle in an octagonal oblong erect broad frame, inscribed Confed. Granadina, Corress nacionales above and sides, and value below, with small number of value in disk above and below the circle. 2½ cents 2½; 5 cents 5; 10 cents 10; 20 cents 20.
- 2. Similar to 1, but with larger number of value above and below the circular disk, and frame narrower. 2½ cent. 2½; 5 cent. 5; 10 cent. 10; 20 cent. 20.
- 3. Similar to 2, but without any number above or below the circular disk. 1 Peso 1, red.

### CXXIII.—NEW GRANADA. Estados Unidos de Nueva Granada.

Engraved arms, with nine stars in oval frame, inscribed Estados Unidos de Nueva Granada, in large oblong erect frame, inscribed Correos Nacionales. In coloured ink. 2½ centavos, black; 5 centavos, yellow; 10 centavos, blue; 20 centavos, red; 1 peso, rose.

## CXXIV.—COLUMBIA. Estados Unidos de Colombia,

- 1. Engraved arms in shield, with oak leaves on each side, and 9 stars above, on white ground, in eight-sided frame, inscribed E. U. de Colombia, correos Nacionales. 10 cent., blue ink.
- 2. Engraved arms in circle, on wavy ground, frame inscribed E. U. de Colombia, correos Nacionales. 10 cent., blue; 20 cent., rose; 50 cent., green.

#### CXXV.-VENEZUELA.

- Engraved arms with cornucopiæ above and plants on sides. Correo de Venezuela in two lines above and three labels below, on a lined ground, in small oblong erect frame. On white paper. Medio real, yellow; un real, blue; dos reales, red.
- 1.\* Like 1. On bluish paper. Medio real, yellow; un real, blue; dos reales, blue.
- 2. Like 1, but Correo de Venezuela in one line, and the ground not shaded, in larger frame. Cuarto centavo, green; medio centavo, lilac; un centavo, purple.

#### CXXVI.-PARAGUAY.

1. Engraved lion and cap of liberty, in dark erect oval, with oval frame, inscribed: Re del Paraguay, Correo, in white letters below, in oblong erect frame, with stars in angles. Blue, green, red, black, yellow, and violet ink.

#### CXXVII.-NICARAGUA.

1. Engraved view of mountains, with cap of liberty and a tree, in oblong transverse frame, inscribed Correo Nicaragua, Porte, with a number in each corner. 5 cinco centavos 5, black ink.

## CXXVIII.—ARGENTINE CONFEDERATION. Confe. Argentina.

- 1. Engraved head surrounded by a glory, and arms holding a cap of liberty, with Confe<sup>an</sup> Argentina above in a rather large oblong white disk, in machicolated frame. 5 centav., red; 10 centav., green; 15 centav., blue.
- Like 1. Border, narrower, and figure of value larger.
   5 centav., red.
- 2. Engraved head to left Corrientes above. 1 reale m. c., blue paper.

## CXXIX.—ARGENTINE REPUBLIC. Republica Argentina.

 Engraved arms in oval, with man's head in glory above and wreath below, surrounded by a circular frame, inscribed Republica Argentina, in an oblong erect frame. 5 centavos, rose; 10 centavos, green; 15 centavos, blue.

#### CXXX.-BUENOS AYRES. Buenos Aires.

- 1. Coarsely engraved profile of Liberty, in a circle with scroll corners, in an oblong transverse frame, inscribed Correos Franco Buenos Aires. 4 reales, green; 1 peso red, blue; 2 pesos, scarlet.
- Coarsely engraved steam ship in oval, in transverse oblong frame, inscribed Correos above, Buenos Aires below, and value and franco, on sides. 1 peso, brown, blue; 2 pesos, blue; 3 pesos, green; 4 pesos, red brown; 5 pesos, yellow, blue, brown.

#### CXXXI.-MONTE-VIDEO.

- 1. Engraved head, surrounded by rays in pale circle, in oblong transverse frame, inscribed Correo Montevideo in small letters, value once in large figures, and a star at angles. 60 centesimos, pink, brown; 80 centesimos, orange; 100 centesimos, brown, rose, red; 120 centesimos, blue; 180 centesimos, green; 240 centesimos, red.
- 2. Like 1, inscription in large letters, value twice in figures, and four dots at each angle. 120 centavos, blue; 180 centavos, green.

Hand Catalogue
Postage Stamps.



# DONE SHILLINGG

BY JOHN EDWARD GRAY. Ph.D.

F.R.S. 1115. F.Z.S. &c.

LONDON: ROBERT HARDWICKE, PICCADILLY.